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cONNECT

OPPORTUNITIES

CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED
(THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate
small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment risk
may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision
to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and
mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM
may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities
traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will
be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take
no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no representation
as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability
whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the
whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of In Technical
Productions Holdings Limited (the “Company”) collectively and individually
accept full responsibilities, includes particulars given in compliance with
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information
with regard to the Company and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”).
The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to the
best of their knowledge and belief, the information contained in this
report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading
or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would
make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRES

To the Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company, | am
pleased to present the first audited consolidated annual financial
statements of In Technical Productions Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 May 2018 since the listing of the shares of the Company (the
“Shares”) (the “Listing”) on the GEM of the Stock Exchange by way of
placing and public offer (collectively, the “Share Offer”) on 14 June 2017.
The Listing is an important milestone of the Group’s business
development.

Leveraging on years of experience and competitive strengths of the
Group, including leading visual display solution provider for pop concerts
in Hong Kong, strong capabilities for providing customised visual display
solutions and in-house repair and technical support, large quantity and
wide range of visual display equipment; and experienced management
and technical staff with strong knowhow and expertise, the management
team of the Group effectively expand the Group’s customer base and
maintained a rapid growth in terms of overall sales. The Group recorded
a record high revenue of approximately HK$83.6 million for the year
ended 31 May 2018, representing an increase of approximately HK$16.8
million or 25.1% as compared with the year ended 31 May 2017. The
gross profit of the Group for the year ended 31 May 2018 increased by
approximately 24.2% to approximately HK$42.1 million from HK$33.9
million for the year ended 31 May 2017. The Group's profit was
approximately HK$17.9 million for the year ended 31 May 2018, as
compared with a loss of approximately HK$0.7 million for the year ended
31 May 2017. Expenses of approximately HK$17.6 million (2018: Nil) in
connection with the Listing were recognised for the year ended 31 May
2017. Taking no account of the one-off Listing expenses, the Group’s
adjusted profit for the year ended 31 May 2017 would have been
approximately HK$16.9 million.

The net proceeds raised from the Share Offer amounting to approximately
HK$34.5 million have helped the Group to implement its business
strategies, which include (i) expanding the Group’s business in Shanghai; (ii)
enhancing the Group’s business presence for providing visual display
solutions for corporate events and exhibitions and (iii) developing a
tracking system to enhance the Group’s equipment management and
utilisation.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

The above business strategies laid a solid foundation for the achievement
of the profit target of the Group.

The Board will also proactively seek potential business opportunities in
other segment of the value chain of the live events industry including
content distributors and production specialists (other than visual display
solutions) and explore the possibility to expand the application of the
Group’s visual display solutions to industries other than live events
industry and widen the geographical coverage of the Group so as to
broaden the sources of income of the Group and enhance value to the
shareholders.

Looking forward, the Group will make steady progress in accordance with
the plans formulated before its Listing and its actual operational
conditions, so as to facilitate effective implementation of the business
strategies of the Group and bring benefits from it.

The Board would like to extend its sincere thanks to the shareholders of
the Company and the Group, business partners and customers for their
utmost support to the Group. The Group would also like to take this
opportunity to thank all management members and staff for their hard
work and dedication throughout the year.

Yeung Ho Ting Dennis
Chairman
Hong Kong, 22 August 2018
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEENWE D

Business Review

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of visual display solution
service.

During the year ended 31 May 2018, the Group was engaged in 365 pop
concert shows for Hong Kong and non-Hong Kong artists/bands (2017:
343).

The Group derived approximately 88.7% of its total revenue during the
year ended 31 May 2018 from pop concerts (2017: 85.2%), the majority
of which took place in Hong Kong, the PRC, Taiwan and Macau. The
remainder of the Group's revenue was attributable to other live events,
including corporate events, exhibitions, sports and recreational events and
other live performances, as well as equipment rental.

The Shares have been listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange by way of
the Share Offer since 14 June 2017 (the “Listing Date”). The proceeds
from the Share Offer have strengthened the Group’s cash flow position
and enabled the Group to implement its future plans and business
strategies as set out in the section headed “Statement of Business
Objectives and Use of Proceeds” in the prospectus of the Company dated
31 May 2017 in relation to the Share Offer (the “Prospectus”).

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

During the year ended 31 May 2018, the Group faced the following risks
and uncertainties that might have affected the Group’s financial
condition, results of operations, business and prospects:

Financial risk

The Group's operations are exposed to various types of financial risks
such as cash flow and fair value interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. Details of the aforesaid risk factors and the
respective risk management measures are shown in note 3.1 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Operational risk

The success of the Group’s business is largely attributable to the Group's
ability to keep pace with the latest development of visual display
technology in the market in order to provide feasible and cost-effective
visual display solutions to the Group’s customers. The Group's executive
directors and senior management are responsible for assessing the
change in market trends and making decisions to invest in suitable visual
display equipment to cope with the latest customer demands and
specifications in a timely and cost-effective manner.

Cyber risk and security

The Group’s computer equipment and website are exposed to attack,
damage or unauthorized access in this cyber era. Failure to protect the
Group's computer equipment and website from any unauthorized access
can result in reputational damage, financial loss and disruptions in
operations.

The Group has installed appropriate anti-virus software and internet fire
walls to protect the Group’s computer equipment and website from any
cyber-attacks. Trainings have been provided to the Group’s staff to follow
a security code setting procedures to minimize the likelihood of any
unauthorized access to the Group’s computer equipment.

Data fraud or theft

The Group's critical information is kept and managed by the Group’s
executive directors and key management. Failure to protect the Group’s
critical information from any data fraud or theft can result in financial loss
and disruptions in operations.

Trainings have been provided to the Group’s executive directors and key
management for keeping and managing the Group’s critical information
to minimize the likelihood of any data fraud or theft.

Environment and social risks

For details of how the Group addresses to its environment and social
risks, where applicable, please refer to the Environment, Social and
Governance Report on pages 38 to 47 of this annual report.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BHEE Lo (8)

Market risk

The Group’s business performance and financial conditions may be
affected by the state of economy in Hong Kong. As an international
financial centre, the economy of Hong Kong is susceptible to material
fluctuations, volatility, disruptions or downturn of broader global
economic and financial environment, particularly to the developments in
the PRC. The Group's executive directors are responsible for determining
an overall market risk control framework, monitoring and assessing
market conditions and devising refined policies in light of any adverse
factors affecting the Group’s performance and market position.

Financial Review

Revenue

The Group generates revenue from providing (i) visual display solutions to
its customers in relation to pop concert shows and various other live
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events; and (i) equipment rental. FER: REHEHEEE W -
The following table sets out a breakdown of the Group's revenue by TXR&EHIIREFEZ-_ZE—N\FHRAE=+—H
source of income during the year ended 31 May 2018 with comparative | F & AN &£ B &9 W A K8 2 W %5 B8 40 & &
figures for the year ended 31 May 2017. E-_ZTZ—+HFAA=+T—"HIEFEZLE
Bz -
Year ended 31 May 2018 Year ended 31 May 2017
BE-Z-N\#HF HE_ZT—tF
AR=+—-BHLFE AA=+—HIEFE
% of total % of total
HK$'000 revenue HK$'000 revenue
fhuk = 42 8 (e \Z@gﬁ
FET HWEZL FTHT ONERS
Visual display solutions BRI TRBR T 83,249 99.6 66,687 99.8
Equipment rental REHEE 358 0.4 133 0.2
Total et 83,607 100.0 66,820 100.0

During the year ended 31 May 2018, the Group principally derived its
revenue from the provision of visual display solutions, which accounted
for approximately 99.6% of the Group’s total revenue (2017: 99.8%).
The Group’s revenue increased from approximately HK$66.8 million for
the year ended 31 May 2017 to approximately HK$83.6 million for the
year ended 31 May 2018, representing an increase of approximately
25.1%.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Visual display solutions

The following table sets out a breakdown of the Group’s revenue from
visual display solutions during the year ended 31 May 2018 with
comparative figures for the year ended 31 May 2017. For the purpose of
revenue breakdown presentation, other live events include corporate
events, sports and recreation events, exhibitions and other live
performances.

Year ended 31 May 2018

BE-Z-N\FHEA=+—-HLFE

BEE W Lo (8)

BEBETRBRAIR
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Year ended 31 May 2017
BE_Z—+tHERA=1T—-BLLEE

% of total % of total

revenue Average revenue  Average

from visual revenue from visual revenue

No.of Revenue display pershow No.of  Revenue display  per show

shows (HK$'000) solutions (HK$'000) shows (HK$'000) solutions  (HK$'000)

HREER 55 HEGEER 515

BRAER EHEMN RARRE  EHK

B E  AWEHN FHKE EL s BlkEs FHlks

B (TA&R) Bakk (F&xm) B (F4A1L) Batk (F&T)

Pop concerts mTE%EEe 365 74,186 89.1 203 343 56,831 85.2 166

Other live events H 138 35 55 B 300 9,063 10.9 30 292 9,856 14.8 34

Total revenue from 18 (& B R i R

visual display Ltk

solutions 665 83,249 100.0 125 635 66,687 100.0 105

The increase in revenue from pop concerts was mainly attributable to (i)
the increase in the number of pop concerts undertaken by the Group
from 343 for the year ended 31 May 2017 to 365 for the year ended 31
May 2018 and (ii) the increase in the average revenue per show for pop
concerts from approximately HK$166,000 for the year ended 31 May
2017 to approximately HK$203,000 for the year ended 31 May 2018 as a
result of increase in the demand for higher quality and more complex
visual display effect by the Group’s customers.

The slight decrease in revenue from other live events was mainly
attributable to the decrease in average revenue per show for other live
events from approximately HK$34,000 for the year ended 31 May 2017
to HK$30,000 for the year ended 31 May 2018 because the Group
undertook fewer large-scale corporate events for the year ended 31 May
2018.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BHEE Lo (8)

Revenue analysis by geographical location

The following table sets out a breakdown of the revenue of the Group
from pop concerts by geographical location during the year ended 31
May 2018 with comparative figures for the year ended 31 May 2017:

Year ended 31 May 2018

BE-ZE-)\FHEA=T—-HLEE

BEMES T WS DT

TRBJIBE-_FE-N\FREA=+—HL
FEASEERWBUEIONRITEES
WA BE_T—+tFAA=+—H
LFEEZEBREE :

Year ended 31 May 2017
BE-_Z—+tHRA=+—BLLFE

% of total Average % of total ~ Average
revenue revenue revenue  revenue
No.of Revenue frompop pershow No.of Revenue  frompop per show
shows (HK$'000) concerts (HK$'000) shows (HK$'000) concerts  (HK$'000)
BRT BHEH BRiT BHEL
ERRER  HFY THEEE  HTY
EH hE HABEH Wz AW W BhEs Yz
#E (FBR) Balkk (F&x) B (F&T) Btk (FET)
Pop concerts RITESEES
Hong Kong S 175 16,393 22.1 94 165 19,482 343 118
PRC H B 119 36,800 49.6 309 150 32,092 56.5 214
Macau BP9 28 5,392 7.3 193 9 745 1.3 83
Taiwan aH 26 9,306 12.5 358 15 3,275 5.7 218
Other Hip 17 6,295 8.5 370 4 1,237 2.2 309
Total revenue from KRB R1TS %
pop concerts ERE R A
W 365 74,186 100.0 203 343 56,831 100.0 166

During the year ended 31 May 2018, the Group provided services for a
well-known Hong Kong artist for 57 shows (2017: 48) of concert tour in
the PRC; nil show (2017: 23) in Hong Kong; 6 shows (2017: nil) in Macau;
6 shows (2017: 6) in Taiwan and 15 shows (2017: 3) in other locations.
Due to the significant amount of equipment (including some custom-
made LED panels) used in that concert tour, the Group charged that
customer with relatively higher service charges for each show in the PRC,
Macau and other locations. Therefore, the Group had a higher average
revenue per show in the PRC, Macau and other locations for the year
ended 31 May 2018 as compared with the year ended 31 May 2017.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

The following table sets out a breakdown of the revenue of the Group
from other live events by the geographical location during the years
ended 31 May 2018 with comparative figures for the year ended 31 May
2017:

Year ended 31 May 2018

BE-Z-\ERB=1+—HLEE

BEE @ &LDT (8)

TRBINEBE-_FE-—NFHEHA=+—HL
FEASEERWBUES 2B EMBABE
PRSHREAMERBE_T—tFA
A=+—HLEFEZHLRHE:

Year ended 31 May 2017
BE-_ZT—tFRA=+—BHLEE

% of total Average % of total ~ Average
revenue revenue revenue  revenue
No.of Revenue from other pershow No.of Revenue from other per show
shows (HK$'000) live events (HK$'000) shows (HK$'000) live events (HK$'000)
HEM SHEH HEM SHEL
BRigES ¥ 155 B 85
Bl s HEREN bz B s Blam U &
B (T#&n) Bok (F#&x) #HE (F&En Bok (FAT)
Other live events H IR 5 55
Hong Kong BB 269 6,467 714 24 282 7,952 80.7 28
PRC M — — — — 4 914 9.3 228
Macau SR P 30 2,221 24.5 74 6 990 10.0 165
Other EHih 1 375 41 375 — — — —
Total revenue from B E {385
other live events A B B 300 9,063 100.0 30 292 9,856 100.0 34
Cost of services BR 7 5K 2~
The following table sets out the components of the cost of services of the T["X&FH 3 EHEEZ-_ZT—-—N\NERA=+—H 1t

Group during the year ended 31 May 2018 with comparative figures for
the year ended 31 May 2017:

Year ended 31 May 2018

FEAEERBRANERT D REBEEZ
B—t+tHAA=THLEFEZHREE:

Year ended 31 May 2017

BE-Z-N\HF  E-F—LF
EAZ+—-BLEFE FRA=+—BLFE

% of total % of total
cost of cost of
HK$’'000 services HK$'000 services
15 BR 7% 1 AR 75
FET MRELHE FHET KABHE
Depreciation e 14,791 35.7 10,778 32.8
Direct labour costs BEEEIKAR 14,279 34.4 9,642 293
Subcontracting charges DB 5,455 13.2 6,770 20.5
Freight and logistics expenses BENORE 3,795 9.1 3,318 10.1
Cost of equipment and spare parts &% & & B {4 5 &< 1,312 3.2 1,028 3.1
Equipment rental charges REHEBH 1,831 4.4 1,372 4.2
Total et 41,463 100.0 32,908 100.0
In Technical Productions Holdings Limited =& — )\ F &

1



12

Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

B2 3 3R R T ()

Depreciation

Depreciation recognised under the cost of services of the Group is related
to the depreciation expenses for the visual display equipment of the
Group for the provision of its services. For the year ended 31 May 2018,
depreciation of visual display equipment represented approximately
35.7% of total cost of services (2017: 32.8%).

Direct labour costs

Direct labour costs of the Group represent compensation and benefits
provided to the Group’s project managers, visual technicians, equipment
development and maintenance staff and warehouse keepers employed by
the Group. For the year ended 31 May 2018, direct labour costs
represented approximately 34.4% of total cost of services (2017: 29.3%).

Subcontracting charges

Subcontracting charges of the Group primarily represent fees paid and
payable to the human resource company which provided us with workers
for installing and dismantling visual display equipment at pop concerts or
other live events in Hong Kong, the PRC and Macau. For the year ended
31 May 2018, subcontracting charges represented approximately 13.2%
of total cost of services (2017: 20.5%).

Freight and logistics expenses

Freight and logistics expenses of the Group primarily represent
transportation expenses for delivering the Group’s visual display
equipment to or from its warehouses to the designated venues of pop
concerts and other live events or between different sites of pop concerts
and other live events. For the year ended 31 May 2018, freight and
logistics expenses represented approximately 9.1% of total cost of
services (2017: 10.1%).

Cost of equipment and spare parts

Cost of equipment and spare parts of the Group represents the expenses
in relation to tools and consumables used for on-site installation and
maintenance, or cost relating to the equipment that the customer opt to
keep. For the year ended 31 May 2018, the cost of equipment and spare
parts represented approximately 3.2% of total cost of services (2017:
3.1%).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Equipment rental charges

Equipment rental charges of the Group primarily represent rental charges
for visual display equipment such as LED panels, projectors, video control
units, and other equipment that was required for the pop concerts or
other live events in Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC (i) where the Group’s
own relevant equipment was fully occupied at the particular time or (ii)
for cost effectiveness reason in view of the logistics expenses. For the year
ended 31 May 2018, equipment rental charges represented approximately
4.4% of total cost of services (2017: 4.2%).

Gross profit and gross profit margin

Gross profit of the Group for the year ended 31 May 2018 amounted to
approximately HK$42.1 million (2017: HK$33.9 million), representing a
gross profit margin of approximately 50.4% (2017: 50.8%). The gross
profit margin remained stable for the two years ended 31 May 2017 and
2018.

Administrative expenses

The administrative expenses of the Group mainly include administrative
staff costs, rent and rate, Listing expenses and others. The Group’s total
administrative expenses decreased from approximately HK$29.7 million
for the year ended 31 May 2017 to approximately HK$18.1 million for
the year ended 31 May 2018, primarily due to the recognition of the
Listing expenses approximately HK$17.6 million incurred for the
preparation of the Listing during the year ended 31 May 2017 (2018: Nil).
The increase in other administrative expenses was mainly attributable to
increase of directors’ emoluments to HK$3.1 million for the year ended
31 May 2018 (2017: HK$1.5 million) and increase of legal and
professional expenses to HK$2.2 million for the year ended 31 May 2018
(2017: HK$0.2 million). The increase of these expenses was in connection
to additional costs incurred for the appointment of a non-executive
director and 3 independent non-executive directors and the engagement
of other professional parties for provision of various services to the Group
after the Listing.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BHEE Lo (8)

Finance costs, net

The finance costs of the Group mainly consist of interests on bank
borrowings which were wholly repayable within five years, interest
expenses on bank overdrafts, interest expenses on obligations under
finance leases, imputed interest on payables for equipment and imputed
interest on shareholder’s loan. The Group’s finance costs remained stable
at approximately HK$1.8 million for the two years ended 31 May 2017
and 2018.

Income tax expense

The Group is subject to income tax on an enterprise basis on profits
arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which members of the Group
are domiciled and operate. During the years ended 31 May 2018 and
2017, all PRC subsidiaries of the Company were subject to an Enterprise
Income Tax rate of 25.0%. The Hong Kong subsidiary of the Company
was subject to Hong Kong profit tax at the rate of 16.5% on the
estimated assessable profits during the years ended 31 May 2018 and
2017.

The effective income tax rate of the Group was 20.3% in the year ended
31 May 2018 (2017: 122.6%). The higher effective income tax rate for
the year ended 31 May 2017 was primarily due to the one-off Listing
expenses of HK$17.6 million, which were not deductible for tax purposes.

Profit/(loss) for the year

As a result of the foregoing, the Group’s profit was approximately
HK$17.9 million for the year ended 31 May 2018, as compared with a
loss of approximately HK$0.7 million for the year ended 31 May 2017.
Listing expenses of approximately HK$17.6 million (2018: Nil) in
connection with the Listing was recognised for the year ended 31 May
2017. Taking no account of the one-off Listing expenses, the Group’s
adjusted profit for the year ended 31 May 2017 would have been
approximately HK$16.9 million.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Financial Resources, Liquidity and Capital Structure

The Group finances its operations primarily through cash generated from
operating activities and interest-bearing bank borrowing, overdrafts and
finance leases. The Group recorded net current assets of approximately
HK$33.5 million as at 31 May 2018 (2017: Net current liabilities of
approximately HK$11.3 million).

As at 31 May 2018, the Group’s current ratio was approximately 2.0 (2017:
0.8) and the Group’s gearing ratio calculated based on the total debt at
the end of the year divided by total equity at the end of the year was
approximately 10.4% (2017: 136.9%). The decrease of the Group’s
gearing ratio in the year ended 31 May 2018 was mainly due to the
receipt of listing proceeds, the capitalization and repayment of shareholder’s
loan of HK$12.0 million and HK$2.7 million, respectively and repayment
of bank loans of approximately HK$7.9 million.

As at 31 May 2018, the maximum limit of the banking facilities available
to the Group was amounted to HK$11.8 million. The bank borrowings
were denominated in Hong Kong dollars, repayable within one year or on
demand and interest-bearing from 5.5% to 5.8% per annum (2017: 4.0%
to 7.0% per annum).

The Group’s financial position was enhanced by the proceeds from the
Share Offer in June 2017.

As at 31 May 2018, the capital structure of the Group consisted of equity
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately HK$107.4
million, comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The Shares were listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange on the Listing
Date. There has been no change in the capital structure of the Group
since then.

Foreign Currency Exposure Risks

The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong and is exposed to foreign
exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with
respect to certain purchases with United States dollars (“US$”) and
Macau Patacas (“MOP”) and certain sales with Renminbi (“RMB").
Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions,
recognised assets and liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not
the group entities’ functional currency. The Group however did not
engage in any derivatives agreements and did not commit to any financial
instrument to hedge its foreign exchange exposure during the year ended
31 May 2018.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BHEE Lo (8)

Treasury Policies

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity
position throughout the year ended 31 May 2018. The Group strives to
reduce exposure to credit risk by performing ongoing credit assessments
and evaluations of the financial status of its customers. To manage
liquidity risk, the Board closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position to
ensure that the liquidity structure of the Group's assets, liabilities and
other commitments can meet its funding requirements from time to time.

Significant Investments, Material Acquisitions and
Disposals of Subsidiaries

During the year ended 31 May 2018, the Group did not have any
significant investments, material acquisitions nor disposals of subsidiaries
and affiliated companies.

Capital Commitments and Contingent Liabilities
Save as disclosed in this annual report, as at 31 May 2018, the Group did
not have any material capital commitments or any material contingent
liabilities.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 May 2018, the Group’s pledged short-term bank deposits in the

amount of HK$3.0 million was pledged as security for the Group’s
banking facilities.

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Comparison of Implementation Plans for Business
Strategies with Actual Implementation Progress

The following is a comparison of the Group’s implementation plans for its
business strategies up to 31 May 2018 as set out in the section headed
“Statement of Business Objectives and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus
with the Group’s actual implementation progress:

Business strategies

E3

Implementation plans up to 31 May 2018
as stated on the Prospectus
BREERMBEZE-Z—N\F
ERA=+—BMETTE

BEE W Lo (8)

ATAAEEMARERIZBEREZHAR
FERERE| -MBEE_F—\FH
A=+ HOEBRBETHEEARH
EREBITEENLR:

Actual implementation progress
up to 31 May 2018
BEEZ-Z-N\FHZA=+—H
NERETEE

Expand the Group’s
business in Shanghai

RN EBBERRASEN
E

Enhance the Group’s
business presence for
providing visual display
solutions for corporate
events and exhibitions

EoRREBIEM AR
EBRERERGBER
FRORT R EREE

Develop a tracking system
to enhance the Group'’s
equipment management
and utilisation

P B M R AT A N9
AEENRBERER
A A

e Acquire additional LED panels and video
control units

o WEBINEDE TR LREZESET

e Recruit creative director

o HIBAIfFAE

e Conduct trial-runs and testings of the
tracking system

o ETEMARFAET A

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited

e The Group has acquired additional LED
panels and video units. For details, please
refer to note 2 under the section “Use of
Proceeds” in this report

o AEEDWEEEINEDR T F KR KRIE
HET(FEBLHAREAERER
w]—EMEE2)

e For details, please refer to note 4 under the
section headed “Use of Proceeds” in this

report
s FHFER2HAREIMEHIERE]
—Enff 4

e Trial-runs and testings of the tracking
system has already been started in August
2018. The management of the Group
expects that the tracking system will be
implemented around end of 2018 after
rectification of any deficiency revealed
during the testings

s BRESGHAETRAAERZ-ZZ—N
NAFRE ANEEEIEERERLBEAR
APTERNEARRERE  BRESKBR
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BHEE Lo (8)

Use of Proceeds FMEMEAE

As disclosed in the 2017 Annual Report of the Company, the actual net WA AT —FE—+EERMATE - IBH
proceeds (the “Net Proceeds”) from the Share Offer (after deduction of Zt& S H BT FE ([FFEZE S5 )
the underwriting commission and Listing related expenses) were (HIBKBEAES LK FTHEBEEYXE)LN A
approximately HK$34.5 million, which was less than the estimated Net 345FH &AL PREBREE L AN T HEHA
Proceeds of approximately HK$35.5 million as set out in the Prospectus A —-ZE—+F A T+=HB 2R EERE N %
and the allotment results announcement of the Company dated 13 June P& Z At E R IB E 543558 &5 7T -
2017, and the amount of Net Proceeds allocated for use as general [t A IE—KRLSELZ S 2 EHIE
working capital has been adjusted from HK$1.7 million to HK$0.7 million EfEm17EEB THEZ07TEESB T
accordingly. Set out below is the actual use of the Net Proceeds upto 31 &I EE_ZE—N\NEFRFA=+—HZFH
May 2018: SREFEERAR

Planned use of
Approximate Net Proceeds up  Actual use of Unused total
Planned use percentage to31May 2018 Net Proceeds Net Proceeds

of total Net of total Net as stated in the up to up to
Proceeds Proceeds Prospectus 31 May 2018 31 May 2018
BRER HE
BREZE EEZ Z=ZB-N\§¥
he —E-N\F —Z2-N\¥ EA=t+-H
HBER fi8%®E EA=t+—-H EA=t+-H ZHK&EA
RIEFE FEEAN 2B RE ZBRE mmE
Use of Net Proceeds FEREFERR sHE Balkk REGERAE SHEERAZ REFE
(HK$'000) % (HK$'000) (HK$'000) (HK$'000)
(F#%x) (F#&T) (FHI) (F#7T)
Repayment of bank loans (Note 1) BEBITER
(BfF5E1) 9,847 28.6 9,847 7,657 2,190
Acquisition of visual display equipment W B AR & B R AR S
for the Group's business expansion in NIERAEER
Shanghai (Note 2) B ER
(Pt 3E2) 11,602 337 8,379 8,379 3,223
Settlement of payables for new visual HEEAGERIEEA
display equipment for Concert Tour A RFTREE R &E
(Note 3) J& 5 R 3E (B £ 3) 10,656 30.9 5,541 10,656 —
Recruitment of creative director for BEETELRE
corporate events and exhibitions BEBIIERE
(Note 4) (Pff £ 4) 1,652 4.8 715 — 1,652
Working capital EEES 693 2.0 693 693 —
Total i 34,450 100.0 25,175 27,385 7,065
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BB Mo (E)

Notes: B

1. The repayment of bank loans has been executed according to the maturity dates as set

-

RITERERBEIRITIHENOE RGP ZE

out in the loan agreements agreed with banks. HBE®K-

2, The procurement budget of additional LED panels and video control units is designed 2. FINEDEE TSR RREIEH ETHRBEEE IR
based on the progress of the Group'’s business expansion in Shanghai. BAREBR EEHESERERE R

3. The Group has fully settled the payables for new visual display equipment for Concert 3. AEEBBERELENKEEESEANTREERR
Tour A as to strengthen its business relationship with the supplier. HEREMZE UEEREGAEREEOESRER-

4. The Group has been actively involved in the recruitment and selection of suitable 4. BE-ZT—tFN AR AEEEBBTRFERE

candidates for the post of creative director since August 2017 through various means BITELRERAEAERCIMNAEAE B8R
including job advertisements in major newspapers. FEREFHEBEES -

The unutilized Net Proceeds of approximately HK$7.1 million are MAFEHEAEREBEFBLI N BEBTE R
deposited in licensed banks in Hong Kong. ABBIFERIT -

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited —Z— N\E&£3% 19
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Corporate Governance Report
TERERB®RSE

The Board is committed to establish and ensuring high standards of
corporate governance and adopt sound corporate governance practices.
The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the
Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report (the "CG
Code”) as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules. The Directors
strongly believe that reasonable and sound corporate governance
practices are essential for the growth of the Group and for safeguarding
and enhancing shareholders’ interests.

The Directors consider that since the Listing Date and up to the date of
this report, except for the deviation from code provision A.2.1 of the CG
Code, the Company has complied with all the applicable code provisions
set out in the CG Code. Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates
that the roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Yeung Ho Ting
Dennis is the chairman and the chief executive officer of the Company. In
view of Mr. Yeung’s role in day-to-day operations and management of
the Group since April 2009, the Board believes that it is in the best
interest of the Group to have Mr. Yeung taking up both roles for effective
management and business development. Therefore, the Directors
consider that the deviation from the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code
is appropriate in such circumstance and the Board is of the view that this
management structure is effective for the Group’s operations and
sufficient checks and balances are in place.

Board of Directors

The key responsibilities of the Board include formulation of the Group’s
overall strategies, the setting of management targets and supervision of
management performance. The management is delegated with the
authority and responsibility by the Board for the management and
administration of the Group. In addition, the Board has also delegated
various responsibilities to the Board committees of the Company. Further
details of the Board committees are set out below in this report.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

The Board is entrusted with the overall responsibility for promoting the
success of the Company by the direction and supervision of the
Company'’s business and affairs and the ultimate responsibility for day to
day management of the Company which is delegated to the
management. To this end, monthly financial and operational information
is provided to the Board for assessing the performance of the Company
and its subsidiaries. For significant matters that are specifically delegated
by the Board, the management must report back to and obtain prior
approval from the Board before making decisions or entering into any
commitments on behalf of the Company. The management is responsible
for the day-to-day management and operation of the Group and to
provide the Board with updates in a timely manner, giving an assessment
of the Company’s performance and position to enable the Board to
discharge its duties.

The Board is responsible for, among others, performing the corporate
governance duties as set out in the code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code,
which include:

(@) to develop and review the Group's policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management;

() to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to the Directors and
employees; and

(e)  to review the Group's compliance with the CG Code and disclosure
in the corporate governance report.
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Board Composition

The Board comprises six Directors, two of whom are executive Directors,
one is a non-executive Director and the other three are independent non-
executive Directors. Details of their composition by category are as
follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis (Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Tam Chun Yu

Non-executive Director
Mr. Law Wang Chak Waltery

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Li Kai Sing

Mr. Ma Tsz Chun

Ms. Loh Lai Ping Phillis

All Directors have appropriate professional qualification or substantive
experience and industry knowledge. The Board as a whole has achieved
an appropriate balance of skills and experience. The composition of the
Board satisfies the requirements of Rules 5.05 and 5.05A of the GEM
Listing Rules. There are three independent non-executive Directors and at
least one of them has accounting professional qualification. With more
than one-third of the members of the Board are independent non-
executive Directors, the Board has a fairly strong independence element
in terms of its composition.

The participation of independent non-executive Directors in the Board
brings a diverse range of expertise, skills and independent judgment on
issues relating to the Group’s strategies, performance, conflicts of
interests and management process to ensure that the interests of all
shareholders of the Company have been duly considered.

The details of Directors are set out in the section headed “Biographies of
Board of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 67 to 73 of this
annual report. There are no family or other material relationships among
members of the Board.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

The Board has established three committees, namely, the audit committee
(the “Audit Committee”), the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”) and the nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”), with delegated powers for overseeing particular aspects of
the Company'’s affairs. Each of the committees of the Company has been
established with written terms of reference.

The Board will conduct at least four regular meetings a year. The Directors
can attend meetings in person or through other means of electronic
communication in accordance with the Company’s articles of association
(the "Articles”). The chairman of the Board also meets with the
independent non-executive Directors at least once a year without the
presence of the executive Directors. Notices and agendas of regular Board
meetings are served to all Directors at least 14 days before convening the
Board meeting. For all other Board and committee meetings, reasonable
notice is generally given. All other schedules and the relevant information
of each Board and committee meeting are generally made available to
Directors or committee members at least three days in advance. The
Board and each Director also have separate and independent access to
the management whenever necessary.
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During the year ended 31 May 2018, the Company held five Board
meetings, four Audit Committee meetings, two Remuneration Committee
meetings and one Nomination Committee meeting. All minutes of the
Board meetings and meetings of Board committees were recorded in
sufficient details for the matters considered by the Board and the
decisions reached. Details of the attendance of Directors are as follows:
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Attendance/Number of meetings

HERY SBRBTRE
Board Audit Remuneration Nomination General

Meeting  Committee Committee ~ Committee meeting
Name of Directors ExEns Exees EnZE® WHZzEE8 REZEEE BRRAE®
Executive Directors: BITES:
Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis BiEE s 5/5 — — 11 il
Mr. Tam Chun Yu EEFEE 4/5 — — — 11
Non-executive Director: FHTES:
Mr. Law Wang Chak Waltery BRERE 4/5 — — — 11
Independent Non-executive BIKHTES:

Directors:

Mr. Li Kai Sing TRUR K E 5/5 4/4 212 17 11
Mr. Ma Tsz Chun ER&EEE 4/5 4/4 212 11 1”7
Ms. Loh Lai Ping Phillis BEYRL 4/5 4/4 2/2 — 1N

The company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”)
attended all the scheduled Board meetings to report matters arising from
corporate governance, risk management, statutory compliance,
accounting and finance.

Practice and Conduct of Meetings

Schedules and draft agenda of each meeting are normally made available
to Directors in advance. At least 14 days' notice should be given for a
regular Board meeting. For other Board and committee meetings,
reasonable notices are generally given.

Minutes of all Board meetings recording sufficient details of matters
considered and decisions reached are duly kept by the Company Secretary
at the meetings and open for inspection by the Directors.

The Articles contain provisions requiring Directors to abstain from voting
and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving
transactions in which such Directors or any of their associates have a
material interest.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all Directors at least 3 days before each Board
meeting or Audit Committee meeting to keep the Directors apprised of
the latest developments and financial position of the Company and to
enable them to make informed decisions.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The Articles provide that at each annual general meeting, one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3),
the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office
by rotation and that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an
annual general meeting at least once every three years.

The non-executive Directors should be appointed for a specific term and
subject to re-election. Each of the non-executive Director and
independent non-executive Directors has entered into an appointment
letter with the Company. The appointment letter of each of the non-
executive Director and independent non-executive Directors is for a term
of three years commencing from the Listing Date, which may be
terminated by not less than one month’s notice in writing served by either
party on the other. The aforesaid appointment letters are subject to
termination provisions therein and the retirement and re-election
provisions in the Articles. Details of the appointment letters are
summarised in the Report of the Board of Directors on page 48 of this
annual report.

Directors’ Continuous Training and Professional
Development

To assist Directors’ continuing professional development, the Company
recommends Directors to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. Up to the date of this report, all Directors have participated in
continuous professional development by attending training courses or
reading relevant materials on the topics related to corporate governance
and regulations. Records of the training received by the respective
Directors are kept and updated by the Company Secretary.
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Non-executive Director and Independent Non-
executive Directors

The non-executive Director and independent non-executive Directors are
experienced professionals with expertise in respective areas of accounting,
finance, industry knowledge and expertise. With their professional
knowledge and experience, the independent non-executive Directors
serve an important function of advising the senior management on
strategy development and ensure that the Board maintains high standards
in financial and other mandatory reporting as well as providing adequate
checks and balances for safeguarding the interests of the shareholders
and the Company as a whole; and independent non-executive Directors
will participate in the Company’s various committees including the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee.

The Company has received from each of its independent non-executive
Directors the written confirmation of his/her independence. The Company
considers the independent non-executive Directors to be independent in
accordance with Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Chairman and Executive Directors

The chairman of the Board provides leadership to the Board and is also
responsible for the effective functioning of the Board in accordance with
good corporate governance practice and is responsible for the overall
corporate management of the business development strategies of the
Group, The executive Directors are responsible for the implementation of
the business strategies, policies and objectives set out by the Board and is
accountable to the Board for the overall operations of the Group. These
functions and responsibilities are currently being shared by the
management team.
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Board Committee

Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee with written terms of
reference in compliance with Rules 5.28 and 5.29 of the GEM Listing
Rules. The full terms of reference setting out details of the authority,
duties and responsibilities of the Audit Committee is available on both the
GEM website and the Company’s website.

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Li Kai Sing, Mr. Ma Tsz Chun and Ms. Loh Lai Ping
Phillis. Mr. Li Kai Sing is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board by
providing an independent view of the effectiveness of the financial
reporting process, risk management and internal control systems of the
Group, to oversee the audit process, to develop and review the policies of
the Group and to perform other duties and responsibilities as assigned by
the Board. The full terms of reference setting out details of duties of the
Audit Committee is available on both the GEM website and the
Company'’s website.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with their review of the auditors’
remuneration, the independence of the auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers
("PwC"), and recommended the Board to re-appoint PwC as the
Company'’s auditors in the financial year ending 31 May 2019, which is
subject to the approval of shareholders at the forthcoming AGM. The
Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s audited consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 May 2018.

According to the current terms of reference, meetings of the Audit
Committee shall be held at least four times a year and the external
auditor may request a meeting if they consider that one is necessary.

Details of the number of Audit Committee meetings held and Directors’
attendance are set out in the section headed “Number of Meetings and
Directors’ Attendance” on page 23 of this annual report.

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee in compliance
with Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules, which comprises three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Ma Tsz Chun, Mr. Li Kai
Sing and Ms. Loh Lai Ping Phillis. Mr. Ma Tsz Chun is the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee.
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The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include (but without
limitation): (a) making recommendations to the Directors regarding the
policy and structure for the remuneration of all the Directors and senior
management of the Group and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policies; (b) making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of the
Directors and senior management of the Group; (c) reviewing and
approving the management’s remuneration proposals with reference to
the Board’'s corporate goals and objectives; and (d) considering and
approving the grant of share options to eligible participants pursuant to
the share option scheme conditionally adopted by the sole shareholder of
the Company on 19 May 2017 (the “Share Option Scheme”). The full
terms of reference setting out details of duties of the Remuneration
Committee is available on both the GEM website and the Company’s
website.

The Remuneration Committee determines Directors’ remuneration by
reference to the benchmarking of the market. The Company also looks
into individual Director’s competence, duties, responsibilities, performance
and the results of the Group in determining the exact level of
remuneration for each Director.

Pursuant to the terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee,
meeting shall be held at least once a year.

Details of the number of Remuneration Committee meeting held and
Directors attendance are set out in the section headed “Number of
Meetings and Directors’ Attendance” on page 23 of this annual report.

Senior Management’s remuneration

Senior Management's remuneration payment of the Group for the year
ended 31 May 2018 falls within the following bands:
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Number of
individuals
HK$ 7B T AE
Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 0% 1,000,000/ 7T 4

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals are set out in notes 9(a) to the audited consolidated financial
statements.
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Remuneration policy

The remuneration policy of the Group for the Directors and senior
management was based on their experience, level of responsibility and
general market conditions. Any discretionary bonus and other merit
payments are linked to the performance of the Group and the individual
performance of the Directors and senior management.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises one executive Director, namely Mr.
Yeung Ho Ting Dennis, and two independent non-executive Directors,
Mr. Li Kai Sing and Mr. Ma Tsz Chun. Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis is the
chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The primary function of the Nomination Committee is to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board on regular basis; identify
individuals suitably qualified to become Board members; assess the
independence of independent non-executive Directors; and make
recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors. The full terms of reference
setting out details of the authority, duties and responsibilities of the
Nomination Committee is available on both the GEM website and the
Company’s website.

Pursuant to the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee,
meeting can be called by the member of the Nomination Committee any
time when it is necessary.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board and the Board diversity policy as well as
discussing matters regarding the retirement and re-election of Directors.

Details of the number of Nomination Committee meeting held and
Directors’ attendance are set out in the section headed “Number of
Meetings and Directors’ Attendance” on page 23 of this annual report.
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Accountability and Audit

Directors’ and auditor’s responsibilities for the
consolidated financial statements

All Directors understand and acknowledge their responsibility for ensuring
that the Group’s consolidated financial statements for each financial year
are prepared to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs, the
financial results and cash flows of the Group in accordance with the
disclosure requirements of the Companies Ordinance and the applicable
accounting standards. In preparing the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 May 2018, the Board has adopted appropriate and
consistent accounting policies and made prudent, fair and reasonable
judgments and estimates. The Directors are responsible for maintaining
proper accounting records which reflect with reasonable accuracy the
state of affairs, operating results, cash flows and equity movement of the
Group at any time. The Directors confirm that the preparation of the
financial statements of the Group is in accordance with statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards.

The Directors also confirm that, to the best of their knowledge,
information and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, they are not
aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern.

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary steps
to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and
other irregularities. The statement of auditor about their reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s auditor, are set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 74 to 80 of this annual report.
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Auditor’'s Remuneration

During the year ended 31 May 2018, the remuneration for the audit
service provided by the Company’s auditor to the Group was
HK$1,250,000.

During the year ended 31 May 2018, the Company’s auditor did not
provide any non-audit service to the Group.

Corporate Governance Functions

No corporate governance committee has been established and the Board
is responsible for performing the corporate governance functions such as
developing and reviewing the Company'’s policies, practices on corporate
governance, training and continuous professional development of the
directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, etc.

The Directors review the Group’s corporate governance policies and
compliance with the CG Code each financial year and comply with the
“comply or explain” principle in the corporate governance report which is
or will be included in the annual reports of the Company.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a Board diversity policy in accordance with the
requirement as set out in the CG Code, which is summarised as below:

The Board diversity policy of the Company specifies that in designing the
composition the Board, Board diversity shall be considered from a number
of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills and knowledge.
All Board members’ appointment will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against appropriate criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board. Selection of candidates
for the Board will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including
but not limited to gender, age, culture, ethnicity and educational
background, professional experience, knowledge and skills.
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The Company discloses the composition of the Board in corporate
governance report every year and the Nomination Committee oversees
the implementation of the Board diversity policy. The Nomination
Committee will discuss any revisions that may be required, and
recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration and
approval.

Securities Transactions by Directors

The Company has adopted Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as
its own code of conduct (“Code of Conduct”) regarding securities
transactions by the Directors. The Company has confirmed, having made
specific enquiry of the Directors, that all the Directors have complied with
the Code of Conduct throughout the year ended 31 May 2018 and up to
the date of this annual report.

Communication with Shareholders

The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with the
shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings or other
general meetings to communicate with the shareholders and encourage
their participation.

The Company will ensure that there are separate resolutions for separate
issues proposed at the general meetings. All resolutions put forward at
shareholder meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to the GEM
Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange in a timely manner after each
shareholder meeting.

The Company will continue to maintain an open and effective investor
communication policy and to update investors on relevant information on
the Group’s business in a timely manner, subject to relevant regulatory
requirements.

General Meetings with Shareholders

The Company'’s forthcoming annual general meeting will be held on 6
November 2018.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Shareholders’ Rights

(a)

(b)

(9]

Convening of an extraordinary general meeting
on requisition by shareholders

Pursuant to Articles, extraordinary general meetings shall be
convened on the requisition of one or more Shareholders holding,
at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of
the paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting at
general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the
Board or the Company Secretary for the purpose of requiring an
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition. Such
meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company. Shareholders also have the right to propose a person for
election as a Director, the procedures are available on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at
shareholders’ meetings

Shareholders are welcomed to put forward proposals relating to the
operations and management of the Group to be discussed at
shareholders’ meetings. The proposals shall be sent to the Company
Secretary by a written requisition. Shareholders who wish to put
forward a proposal should convene an extraordinary general
meeting by following the procedures set out in “Convening of an
extraordinary general meeting on requisition by shareholders”
above.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may put forward enquiries to the Board to the extent
such information is publicly available to the Company Secretary
who is responsible for forwarding communications relating to
matters within the Board's purview to the executive Directors of the
Company, communications relating to matters within a Board
committee’s area of responsibility to the chairman of the
appropriate committee, and communication relating to ordinary
business matters, such as suggestions, inquiries and consumer
complaints, to the appropriate management of the Company, in
writing to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong
Kong.

rEER®RE (E)

R R A

(a)

(b)

(o)
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Investor Relations

The Company believes that maintaining a high level of transparency is a
key to enhancing investor relations. It is committed to a policy of open
and timely disclosure of corporate information to its shareholders and
investment public. The Company updates its shareholders on its latest
business developments and financial performance through its annual,
interim and quarterly reports. The corporate website of the Company
(http://www.intechproductions.com) has provided an effective
communication platform to the public and the shareholders. The
Company’s constitutional documents are made available on the
Company's website and on the Stock Exchange's website. A constitutional
document was uploaded on 13 June 2017 in connection with the Listing
and there was no significant change in it subsequently during the year.

Company Secretary

Ms. Leung Yin Fai, the Company Secretary, is responsible for advising the
Board on corporate governance matters and ensuring that the Board
policy and procedures, and the applicable laws, rules and regulations are
followed. All Directors have access to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary to ensure that the Board procedures and all applicable
laws are followed. Moreover, the Company Secretary is responsible for
facilitating communications among Directors as well as with management.

The Company engages an external service provider, Ms. Leung Yin Fai, as
its Company Secretary. Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis, chairman of the
Board, executive director and chief executive officer of the Company, is
the primary contact person whom Ms. Leung Yin Fai can contact.

During the year ended 31 May 2018, the Company Secretary has
undertaken more than 15 hours of relevant professional training in
compliance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board has overall responsibilities for establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems
of the Group. The Group’s systems of risk management and internal
control include a defined management structure with limits of authority,
which is designed to help achieve business objectives, safeguard assets
against unauthorised use or disposition, ensure the maintenance of
proper accounting records for the provision of reliable financial
information for internal use or for publication, and ensure compliance
with relevant legislation and regulations. The systems are designed to
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss and to manage rather than eliminate risks of failure
in operational systems and achievement of the Group's objectives.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

An organisational structure with operating policies and procedures, lines
of responsibility and delegated authority has been established. The
division/department head of each core operating division/department is
accountable for the conduct and performance of such division/
department within the agreed strategies, which are set by themselves and
the Board together, and reports directly to the Board.

In the course of conducting the business, the Group is exposed to various
types of risks. During the year ended 31 May 2018, the following
principal risks of the Group were identified and classified into strategic
risks, operational risks, financial risks and compliance risks.

Risk Areas Principal Risks
[ e 9B 35 TERRE

TCEERRSE (B)

AEEDRY —E@BREE  THERN
BERERER  BERER 5 ROBE
D/ BPIND M,/ BIIEERERSRE
FERAHENBERE BRI
MBFRARAE THEAEFERE -

ERRASEXGBEY HEERSER

B-RBE_FE-NFRA=T—HLHF
B AEEZNEETINEIERARDER
BRER - £ERR MBERREERR

Tol)
ZN

Strategic Risks
competition risk, reputation risk

B S [

Operational Risks

2ER R EBOfE TR ITH EMNMRERTE

Financial Risks

#%5 R & nBEERAR  ERER  FEERR

Compliance Risks

BB BRROGRM  REFARMETP @K - mI5EFRR -

Sensitivity to government policies; keeping up with new technologies and customers’ taste; market

BERAR

Insufficient labour supply; workplace injury; disruption of IT system

Liquidity risk, credit risk, interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk, inflation risk

SN R B - B AR R R

Risk related to occupation safety and health; risk of non-compliance with ordinances related to

employment; change of listing rules and relevant company regulations and ordinances

BHRRR HEBEZE2MEREABENRER

R AR B E B&

The Board is ultimately responsible for the risk management of the Group
and it has delegated to executive management to carry out the risk
identification and monitoring procedures. The objectives of the risk
management are to enhance the governance and corporate management
processes as well as to safeguard the Group against unacceptable levels
of risks and losses.

The risk management process of the Group will involve, among others, (i)
an annual risk identification and analysis exercise which involves
assessment of the consequence and likelihood of risks and the
development of risk management plans for mitigating such risks; and (ii)
an annual review of the implementation of the risk management plans
and fine tuning of the implementation plan when necessary.

EBTHEBEFBAEMNRE
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During the year ended 31 May 2018, the Board, through the Audit
Committee, has conducted review of both design and implementation
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group, covering all material controls, including financial, operational and
compliance controls, with a view to ensuring that resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions are
adequate. In this respect, the Audit Committee communicates any
material issues to the Board.

The Company has hired an internal audit manager to review the Group's
system of internal controls and risk management annually and further
enhance the Group’s internal control and risk management systems as
appropriate.

Code of Conduct and Handling of Inside
Information

The Group places utmost importance on the ethical, personal and
professional standards of the Directors and employees of the Group. In
addition to the various policies adopted and implemented by the Group
imposing certain conduct requirements on Directors and employees, every
employee is required to undertake to adhere to the Group’s Code of
Conduct, and is expected to achieve the highest standards of behavior
including avoiding conflict of interest, discrimination or harassment and
bribery and corruption. Employees are required to report any non-
compliance with the Code of Conduct to management.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Guidelines on Disclosure of
Inside Information published by the Securities and Futures Commission
and the GEM Listing Rules, the Group has an obligation to disclose any
inside information as soon as practicable after such information has come
to the knowledge of the Board. The Company has developed its
disclosure policy which provides a general guide to the Company’s
directors, officers, senior management and relevant employees in
handling confidential information, monitoring information disclosure and
responding to enquiries. Control procedures have been implemented to
ensure that unauthorised access and use of inside information are strictly
prohibited.
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In addition, if there occurs any significant risk events, the Group will — [tho) + (MEBE AR EAR R EE  AEE
report such risk events to the relevant authorities so that appropriate R EME RE®REMEERSZHEH NEARE
decisions and measures can be made by the Group in a timely manner to  E g2 %9 X BB @ & AR & N 75 1 DA JB 3

deal with such risk events. BHRREIE-
Looking Forward RBERR

The Group will keep on reviewing its corporate governance standardson ZAEEFEERBEEFNEDEERZE

a timely basis and the Board endeavours to take the necessary actionsto MEZEZ @ I8 NI M N EE i UBRER
ensure compliance with the required practices and standards including & EEHELIZE  BELES A
the provisions of the CG Code. &3 »
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RE HEREBERSE

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together
with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is pleased to present its environmental,
social and governance report in accordance with the environmental, social
and reporting guidelines as set out in Appendix 20 to the GEM Listing
Rules. The principal businesses of the Group is to provide visual display
solutions with visual display hardware and related services. The reporting
period for this report is from 1 June 2017 to 31 May 2018.

The Group is committed to improving business performance to enhance
stakeholders’ value without compromising the environmental and social
aspect, so that positive impact can be achieved on both the Group and
the community. The Group always thrive to meet the expectation of the
Group's stakeholders as well as to achieve the following objectives:

o To protect the environment

o To nurture and empower the Group’s employees

o To support the local community

This ESG report, which has been reviewed and approved by the Board,
include data on environmental key performance indicators (“KPI”),
focuses on the principal activities of the Group — the provision of visual
display solutions with visual display hardware and related services, and
include the following key subsidiaries:

° ITP (HK)

° Shiji Tiansheng Cultural Communication (Shenzhen) Limited

o Shenzhen Shiji Tiansheng Technology Limited

o Shanghai Yingtegao Stage Arts Limited

o InTechPro Macau Limited

Below are the Group’s commitments to each of the focus area under its
corporate social responsibility framework:

Environmental Protection

The Group attaches great importance to environmental protection and
also implements sustainable initiatives in areas such as energy saving,
water saving, waste management, air quality management into its daily
operations so as to minimise the use of resources and reduce various

emissions. The Group has adopted the following policies to protect the
environment.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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Emissions

Discharge into water and land

As the Group is principally engaged in providing visual display solutions,
the Group does not have significant wastes or emissions discharged into
water and land. In addition, the Group does not produce a significant
volume of hazardous waste from the Group’s business process. The major
wastes are solid non-hazardous wastes such as office paper generated
from the Group’s operations.

Greenhouse gas emissions

The Group has implemented a number of measures to reduce greenhouse
gases emissions in order to alleviate the impacts to the environment. The
Group also encourages employees to maximize the use of electronic
communication and carry out general discussions and communication
through long-distance telephone calls or other online communication
tools in order to reduce non-essential business trips so that the pollutants
emitted by the use of transportation can be minimized.

The major sources of greenhouse gases (GHG) emission that the Group
associated are energy consumptions in relation to the purchased
electricity used in the Group’s offices and daily operation.

The following table sets out the total GHG generated by the Group (ESG
Indicator: A1.2) during the year ended 31 May 2018:

230 &Y

Mk R+ HE5

MR AREEZZRERUERBRERT

EOMASESEFRAEEDLEERY

BRI W AEBEYEEREEE

BRARETELEREEEEY AKEXR

E%%‘EHFB&%E?E%%%%E&%&%Q$
BREZRERBERY -

mER e PR

AEBEERZ EARERDAREREENR
Y VRIEERENFE - XEE T SEE
BEMAEEFBM BBREEFHAHM
REBAM T HETH ST ARM AR
DEMNENFBHE MBASERARBE
THAHERE )52 -

AEEBEENAERBHERNEIERRR
FHBEARAEERAZEREFEESN
%E%mﬁb/ﬁ/ﬁ%%"

TR AEERBE_T-N\FHA
= 1 = EllEEE s aakltbnleat ’E‘%(ia #t

BEREE AL2):
Emission
Scope of GHG Emission Emission Source (in Kg CO,-eq)
2354
(F=Co, B
BEREHREE BE B OB — &)
Scope 1
EIE
Direct emission Company vehicle 4,692
BHEHN AERE
Scope 2
gE2
Indirect emission Purchased electricity 25,487
il 2 HF B FBEES
Scope 3
E3
Other indirect emission Fresh water usage 451
H fth i 52 HE PR B 2RoK 5 A
Total 30,630
#Et
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
B L' R R RS (R)

Company vehicles with less exhaust emission AERERBERAE

i. Company vehicles are checked and repaired regularly in order to . AR MERBIESERER
enhance the fuel efficiency and to reduce reasonable exhaust W EHEANAEWMETRE RE
emission. & -

i.  Company has purchased an electric vehicle with zero emissions in  ji. XA FAEREBEE_ZT—NFEH A
the year ended 31 May 2018 for transportation of staffs and = —ElE ¢ ERE-—WZHRESD
customers. FMERAREXEIRERF -

ii. Staffs are encouraged to use public transport for office duty i BB L EAaEFERALTBITA
whenever possible to save fuel and minimise emission. TR A B 29 KR KL BE TR B 25 SRR HE AR

Indoor air quality policy ERAEREEWER

i.  No smoking is allowed in office area. i HREFAEE I RE -

ii.  Air conditioners are cleaned regularly. i THBERZEFARE-

ii.  Housekeeping of office is conducted on a weekly basis. i. SEETHAENBEIE-

iv.  Windows in the office are opened during office hours to induce iv. WA AZTEAEEITHE P UF
fresh air into the office area whenever possible. BN EEmE e

There was no non-compliance noted in relation to environmental laws REZ-_ZE—NERA=+—HILEE -
r—‘—|

and regulations for the year ended 31 May 2018. METEFRBEABIER L -

Use of Resources BREH

The Group is committed to conserving resources for the purposes of ZNEBE S HRENLEIR - IR EIBIE LIE
protecting the environment and enhancing operation efficiency. To S&EZEWER - AETAEBHIREREDN

= o= —NPATN

pursue the Group’s commitment of environmental protection, the Group 7¥<a CAEBEETZIERENK  NIESER
has implemented multiple measures in enhancing energy efficiency, X=X g D& RER - & L A K KGR B
minimizing the use of paper, reducing water and energy consumption - {E# B T{TANE - ZBREHRERLE
and driving behavioral changes of employees. Through active monitoring EZERBER  KEEHR AR A EBH K Z
and managing the use of resources, the Group aims to reduce the K7 R ZN&EE RPN E ©

Group's operating costs as well as the Group’s carbon footprint.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE -2 kERmE (&

Energy BER
The following table sets out the energy consumption of the Group (ESG T X &EH W A EBHZEZ _Z— \F 1 A
Indicator: A2.1) during the year ended 31 May 2018: ST+ —HIEFEZEES (ia BHEERE
Z:A2.1) ¢
Year ended
31 May 2018
HZE
—E-N\F
EFRA=+—H
Indicators =Y - FERE
Total electricity consumption (kWh) WEEE (TER) 47,198
Average electricity consumption per employee #ZEE FHEES(TRE EE)
(kWh/employee) 530
Gasoline consumption (Litre) FURHEFEE (R ) 1,793
i. Room lights and air conditioners must be switched off when they . TEAEBE=ANREREHE
are not in use.
ii.  Use of natural light is maximized as far as practical. i. HBEENEABAK-
ii.  Use of separate light switches for different light zones. i. TRRARERAE ZRARE -
iv.  Air-conditioner filter and fan coil are cleaned regularly. v. THBEATEHABEEAMEBREEE -
Water 7K
The following table sets out the water consumption of the Group (ESG T H&H A A EBREHE - — }\ FHH
Indicator: A2.2) during the year ended 31 May 2018: =t+t—HBIEFERNFEKE (I& eERE
R
Year ended
31 May 2018
BE
—E-N\F
FA=+—H
Indicators EE LEFE
Total water consumption (m?) BREKE (3L FHK) 1,062
Average water consumption per employee BEZREEBFHEKECZLH K EER)
(m*/employees) 12
i. Water tap are constantly checked to avoid the water dripping. i KERBEKEBNRRERKER -
ii. Leakage tests on concealing piping and checking for overflowing . THYERESBEETR2RIZLESE
tanks are regularly carried out. 7K = B o

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited —Z— N\&E&3#k 41



42

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

B EREARE ()

Other Office Consumables
i. Stationaries are distributed on a needed basis and reusable
stationaries are employed.

ii. Other than formal documents, paperless working environment is
promoted in the Group.

ii. Recycled papers are encouraged to be used whenever possible
when photocopying internal documentation.

iv.  Used ink cartridges are either recycled through public recycle bin or
collected by suppliers.

The Environmental and Natural Resources

The nature of the Group’s business does not involve in any significant
impacts on the environmental and natural resources. The relevant
principles and policies on managing emission and use of resources are
already disclosed above.

Social

The Group recognizes the Group's success and market leadership are
closely linked to the support from our dedicated, hard-working and task-
oriented employees. The Groups recognizes that employees are the
Group’s most valuable assets and vital to achieving the Group’s
sustainability and long-term growth.

Therefore the Group is committed to safeguarding the legitimate rights
and interests of employees, maintaining their physical and mental health
and providing various benefit, in addition to providing vast opportunities
of career development for every employee, striving to match employee’s
personal and business development goals of the Group through a
comprehensive training system, effective incentive mechanism and fair
competition platform, so that the mutual benefits for employees and the
enterprise can be achieved.

Employment Practice

The Group is committed to build a harmonious working atmosphere for
employees through encouraging mutual respect which ultimately
promotes work creativity, flexibility and commitment.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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As at 31 May 2018, the Group had 89 (2017: 82) employees. In order to
cope with the continuous growth of business scale, the Group acquires
talents from different aspects and backgrounds to join the Group’s
globalized team. The Group strictly complies with the relevant laws and
regulations in the Group’s employment process such as recruitment,
dismissal, promotion and setting of remuneration package of employees
regardless of where the Group operates. The legitimate rights and
interests of employees are protected in accordance with relevant laws and
regulations.

Employment

i. The Group attaches great importance to the basic rights and
interests of the employees, the entering into of employment
contracts with all employees, and the provision of relevant social
insurances, employees compensation insurance and medical
insurance to all employees.

i. The Group is an equal opportunities employer, committed to
eliminating gender, age, race, disability and religious discrimination
in employment and emphasising on the performance and
experience of the staffs in promotion or recruitment. A fair and
structural staff performance assessment is set for making promotion
and salary increment decisions. Staff appraisal will be conducted
annually to assess work performance.

There was no non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations relating
to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and
other benefits and welfare noted for the year ended 31 May 2018.

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited

%:%—A¢£H2+—H RAEEALY
F(CE—EF RB)EE - BmEHEE
Mm%%ﬁﬁ AEBERATRATEER
MATMAREBHNZIREKA - iR
SEENREERY A5BERRERERE
o REE - BE - B RRILIE S & M
B BT HBRAN FOER - BEMAIA
R XM RAD BOA R TR E

1=

. AKREREEREENEA#R &
MMARBRIVERMAR hRMAR
ERHEAHELERR BEMERR
REFERR -

i. AKEERETHREFZFRANEE

BARBEREUETHER  Fik- &
E-BEERRHEE REARBE

FRABIXRANKER - AKED
HEARMFARARSERF REBL
MEBTHEMEZ -BFHETETE
ATLART R TAEE R

BE_F-N\FRA=T—HLEEFEE " #
BETETEBBENER BEREA T
TERRE  KERHE #BEFE. yﬁﬁ &
A8 R A R 25 R A& FER RORBR 2 B »

—E-\FEHR 43



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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The following table sets out the workforce by gender, employment type, TXR&EHIR_ZE—N\NFRA=+—B&KMKE
age group and geographical region (KPI Indicator: B1.1) and as at 31 May Bl - {2 {8 5l - F #% 78 5l M ib 32 = 15 &) o5
2018 and the employee turnover rate by gender, age group and (KPIFEHZ :B11) WM& E NI EREEZE T — N\
geographical region (KPI Indicator: B1.2) for the year ended 31 May 2018: R A=+ —H It FE X MWR| - F# 487
K32 [ 15 (KPIHE1Z - B1.2) Bl H WY (B B Rt
B
Employee
Workforce turnover rate
Headcount %
BEHBEAE EERBEASL
Gender 15 Al
Male B4 79 18
Female e 10 10
Employment type 1 1B 48 B
Administrative staff THES 12 N/A i A
Operation staff LERSE 77 N/A i A
Age group F R 48 Al
30 and below 305 A T 49 10
31-40 315540 5% 27 5
41-50 41 3% -50 5% 11 —
Above 50 507% A £ 2 o
Geographical region I [ 15
Hong Kong BB 12 5
PRC Y 70 10
Macau B P 7 i
Health and Safety BEREZZ

AEEFNREEERE—ERER
ENTIESHR BEIESAEER
XRFREASSAREXHENEEN
EZRMH - ERLEBEMCSRAE

i. The Group is dedicated to provide a healthy and safe workplace to i
its employees. The promotion of occupational and health measures
at workplace are regarded as essential to the businesses and
operations of the Group. Appropriate occupational and health
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manuals relevant to the Group’s businesses are adopted by the core
business units. Risk assessments of workstations are conducted
constantly to identify and assess the risks to the safety and health
of the employees, and to decide whether existing measures are
adequate.

First aid kits are located at convenient locations and are properly
maintained in the office, workshop(s) and warehouse(s).

Workplace safety posters are displayed at prominent location in
warehouse(s) of the Group to remind the staff of safety.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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There was no non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations relating
to providing a safe working environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards noted for the year ended 31 May 2018.

The following table sets out the number and rate of work-related fatalities
of the Group (KPI Indicator: B2.1) for the year ended 31 May 2018:

BE_Z-—NFRA=+T—RALFE" #
BEREMREAZEZTIHFERERREER
REBERETNMEBERES

FaEadlEE=2= A=Ak =r—FE I
FEAEBRETEBEMLT A AR KL
% (KPIFE1Z : B2.1) :

Rate
Lt &

Headcount

AR

Work-related fatalities TIEEEMmIL T

For the year ended 31 May 2018, the Group has not incurred any lost
days due to work injury (KPI Indicator: B2.2).

Development and Training

i. The Group believes that training is an important path to improve
the overall work quality and offer comprehensive development to
the employees. The Group encourages its employees to attend
external or internal training courses to enhance their competence
and job related knowledge.

ii. Experienced/Senior employees will provide supervision for the
newcomers/subordinates in order to enhance communication and
team spirits within the Group, and to improve their technical skills
and managerial capability.

The following table sets out the percentage of employees trained by
gender and employment type (KPI Indicator: B3.1) and the average
training hours completed per employee by gender and employment type (KPI
Indicator: B3.2) of the Group for the year ended 31 May 2018:

BE_ZTZ-—\EHAA=T—HILFE" &
SEYEELFEMEAITBERXRTERKP

512 1 B2.2) °
BRI
. AEEREBEIRREAREBIEDS

LReEREEZEERNEERT - K
SEZBERERE2 MBI ABBEII
RIZAMNR R EFRRE N R TEEREA
%0

i. RBREEN/DENESBHIAR
BT /TEREHEEEEE UMRERA
SEANMHBEBLERES YRS
HiE o R EBEES -

TRBINEE-_F-N\FREA=T—HL
FEASERMER RERERE DB ZI

EE B D (KPIFERE : B3.1) MR MBI & (B
BHEANEAS>PNETZEETAIINFHE
L (KPI¥E1Z : B3.2) ¢

Percentage of
employees trained

Average training hours
completed per employee

ZiES BEEERENK
Bokt ZIWFEHIREE
% Hour
Bk B2
Gender 4 3B

Male S 27 16
Female i 1.1 16

Employment type 1= 1% 45 5
Administrative staff THIEE o A
Operation staff ZiBER 33 16
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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Labour Standard

The Group respects human rights and has a zero-tolerance policy
towards the employment of forced labour and child labour. Upon
joining the Group, each staff is required to fill in a recruitment
form. Should the staff provide false identity or false personal
particulars, he/she would be considered to have committed serious
breach of the Group’s rules and regulations and his/her employment
would be terminated immediately.

There was no non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations relating
to preventing child and forced labour noted for the year ended 31 May
2018.

Operating Practices

Supply Chain Management

iv.

The goods from the suppliers must be checked by the Group's
qualified engineer for product quality and safety before they can be
stored in warehouse.

All parts suppliers of electronic equipment must comply with
national or international safety standard.

If the suppliers fail to maintain the safety standard of their products,
the Group will eliminate the aforesaid suppliers from the approved

supplier list.

Annual supplier evaluation will be conducted by management.

Prod uct Responsibility

The Group poses a fair marketing concept that commits not making
dishonest allegation of its competitors in order to mislead the
customers during their decision-making. Moreover, the Group
would not acquire confidential information of a competitor via
espionage, the subordination of the competitor's employees or
through any other improper means.

The Group has committed to supply the goods and services that
meet the reasonable expectations of the Group’s customers. The
Group provides customers with effective mechanism to lodge
complaints and manage such complaints with due care. Besides,
the Group respects the confidentiality of the Group’s customers and
their commercial information. The Group does not disclose such
information to protect their privacy.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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There was no non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations relating
to health, safety, advertising, bid-rigging and privacy matters relating to
products and services provided and methods of redress noted for the year
ended 31 May 2018.

Antl -corruption

The Group refuses bribery, corruption, extortion and money
laundering activities. Employees shall report any misconduct to their
manager.

The Shares are listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange and the
Company has strict guidelines for directors and senior management
for any disclosure of conflict of interest. Besides, directors or senior
management are required to take certain hours of training each
year.

There was no non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations relating
to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering against the Group or
its employees noted for the year ended 31 May 2018.

Community

Communlty Investment

Social responsibility is one of the Group’s cultures. The Group is
committed to striving for the betterment of society and hold
strongly the belief that a business organisation should not detach
itself from its social responsibility.

The Group has made in kind sponsorship to a show held by non-
governmental and charitable organization LoveXpress Foundation
Limited which focuses on provision of social caring services.
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Report of the Board of Directors

EEEHRE

The Directors are pleased to present their report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 May 2018.

Corporate Reorganisation and Share Offer

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the
Companies Law as an exempted company with limited liability on 4
November 2016.

The Shares have been listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange by way of
the Share Offer since 14 June 2017.

In connection with the Listing, the companies comprising the Group
underwent a reorganisation (the “Reorganisation”). Pursuant to the
Reorganisation, the Company became the holding company of the other
members of the Group on 24 November 2016. Further details of the
Reorganisation are set out in the section headed “History, Reorganisation
and Corporate Structure” of the Prospectus.

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 26 to the audited consolidated
financial statements. The Group is principally engaged in the provision of
visual display solution services for concerts and events in Hong Kong,
Macau, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") and Taiwan.

Results and Dividends

The financial performance of the Group for the year ended 31 May 2018
and the financial position of the Group as at that date are set out in the
audited consolidated financial statements on pages 81 to 84 of this
annual report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect
of the year ended 31 May 2018.

Financial Summary

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last four years is set out on page 160 of this annual report.

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018

EEMAZERBE_T-N\FRAA=T—
BLtEEZEZTERETERAARRALES
REMBHE -

TEEARROBRE

ARAR_F-—AFTT - HAEOBRELQA
FERESEHEEIMRIABERRERAF -

BROR_Z—tFNATHEEBRMNHE
EREE X FTGEM £ ©

REHELT AKREETARCETESR
TE/D-BREBEEE ARAR_ZE—KF
T—A-tTHEXRAASEETEMKE
RENERAR - EANE-—THFBIR
BRERBPIESL BHERABRE] -

FEXR®

ARARIZEBXBRREER -EWEAR
ANERZXEBHENECERS M BHERRM
H26 - AEBEERFE R PEAR
KMB(HEDEEERRESG RADHIR
HR &R BUREIR T RRF

RERERE
AEERE-_F—\FEA=+—HLF
BB R R A R R B B ik
RENRAFEREFESITAE 2 BERR
AMBEE -
EETRARBE T N\FHEA=t—
AL F R RS -

MBERE

AEEREMFZENBEEEUREER
BEMBHERNAFEREF160H -



ReportofﬂuaBoamiofDWecKws(Conﬂnued)

Significant Investments and Future Plans for
Material Investments and Capital Assets

During the year ended 31 May 2018, the Group did not have any
significant investments, material acquisitions nor disposals of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures. Except for those included in the section
headed “Statement of Business Objectives and Use of Proceeds” for
inclusion in the Prospectus, the Group had no definite future plans for
material investments and capital assets.

Use of Proceeds and Comparison of Business
Objectives with Actual Business Progress

Details of the use of proceeds and comparison of business objectives with
actual business progress are set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on page 18 of this annual report.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year ended 31 May 2018 are set out in note 14 to the audited
consolidated financial statements.

Bank Borrowings

Particulars of bank borrowings of the Group at 31 May 2018 are set out
in note 22 to the audited consolidated financial statements.

Interest Capitalised

The Group has not capitalised any interest during the year ended 31 May
2018.

Share Capital and Share Premium

Details of movements in the share capital and share premium of the

Company during the year ended 31 May 2018 are set out in note 17 to
the audited consolidated financial statements.
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Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)

EEgWRE (E)

Reserves

Details of movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year ended 31 May 2018 are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and in note 33(b) to the audited consolidated financial
statements respectively.

Distributable Reserves

As at 31 May 2018, the Company did not have any reserves available for
distribution as calculated in accordance with the relevant provisions of the
Companies Ordinance.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Listed Securities

The Company did not redeem its listed securities, nor did the Company or
any of its subsidiaries purchase, cancel or sell any of such listed securities
for the year ended 31 May 2018.

Directors

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 May 2018 and
up to the date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis (Chairman)

Mr. Tam Chun Yu

Non-executive Director

Mr. Law Wang Chak Waltery

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Li Kai Sing
Mr. Ma Tsz Chun
Ms. Loh Lai Ping Phillis
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Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)

Pursuant to article 108(a) of the Articles, at each annual general meeting,
at least one-third of the Directors shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. A retiring Director Shall be eligible
for re-election.

Confirmation of Independence

Each independent non-executive Director has given the Company an
annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM
Listing Rules. The Company considers that all the independent non-
executive Directors are independent and meet the independent guidelines
set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Directors’ Service Contracts and Letters of
Appointment

(a) Executive Directors

Each of the executive Directors entered into a service contract with
the Company for a term of three years commencing from the
Listing Date, which may be terminated by not less than one month'’s
notice served by either party on the other. The term of service of a
Director is subject to retirement by rotation of Directors as set out
in the Articles.

(b) Non-executive Director and independent non-
executive Directors

Each of the non-executive Director and independent non-executive
Directors signed a letter of appointment with the Company for a
term of three years commencing from the Listing Date, which may
be terminated by not less than one month’s notice served by either
party on the other. The term of service of a Director is subject to
the provisions on retirement by rotation of Directors as set out in
the Articles.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has or is proposed to have
a service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries (other than
contracts expiring or determinable by the Company or its subsidiaries, as
applicable within one year without payment of compensation other than
statutory compensation).
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Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)
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Emoluments of Directors and Five Highest Paid
Individuals

The emolument of the Directors is recommended by the Remuneration
Committee by reference to the benchmarking of the market. The
Company also looks into individual Director’'s competence, duties,
responsibilities, performance.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in notes 9(a) to the audited
consolidated financial statements.

Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Group are set out on pages 67 to 73 of this annual report.

Directors’ and Controlling Shareholders’ Interests
in Contracts

Save as disclosed in this annual report, none of the Directors or an entity
connected with any of them had any material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in
relation to the business of the Group to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, parent company or subsidiaries of the parent company was a
party and subsisting at any time during or at the end of the year ended
31 May 2018.

As at 31 May 2018, no contract of significance had been entered into

between the Company, or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling
shareholders of the Company or any of their subsidiaries.
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Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)

Director’s Rights to Acquire Shares or Debt
Securities

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the year ended
31 May 2018 was the Company or any of its subsidiaries, or any of its
fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors or
chief executive of the Company (including their spouses or children under
18 years of age) to have any right to subscribe for securities of the
Company or any of its specified undertakings as defined in the
Companies (Directors’ Report) Regulation or to acquire benefits by means
of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.

Management Contracts

As at 31 May 2018, the Company did not enter into or have any
management and/or administration contracts in respect of the whole or
any principal business of the Company.

Directors’ and Controlling Shareholders’ Interests
in Competing Business

During the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual report, the
Directors are not aware of any business and interest of the Directors nor
the controlling shareholders of the Company nor any of their respective
close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) that compete or
may compete with the business of the Group and any other conflict of
interests which any such person has or may have with the Group from
the Listing Date to the date of this annual report.
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Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)
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Compliance of Non-Competition Undertakings

Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis, Mr. Chang Yu-shu, UCP Co., Ltd, Ms. Ching
Hsiang-yun and Next Vision (the “Controlling Shareholders”) entered into
a deed of non-competition dated 22 May 2017 (“Deed of Non-
Competition”) in favour of the Company (for itself and each of its
subsidiaries), pursuant to which each of the Controlling Shareholders has,
unconditionally and irrevocably, undertaken to the Company in the Deed
of Non-Competition that he/she/it will not, and will procure his/her/its
close associates (other than members of the Group) not to, for himself/
herself/itself or jointly with or acting for any other person, firm or
company as shareholder(s), director(s), partner(s), agent(s), employee(s) or
otherwise, and whether or not for profit, remuneration or other purpose,
directly or indirectly be involved or engaged in or undertake any business
(other than the business of the Group) that directly or indirectly competes,
or may compete, with the Group'’s business or undertaking (the “Restricted
Activity”), or hold shares or interest in any companies or business that
compete directly or indirectly with the business engaged by the Group
from time to time except where the Controlling Shareholders and/or his/
her/its close associates hold less than 5% of the total issued shares of any
company (whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange or other stock
exchange) which is engaged in any business that is or may be in
competition with any business engaged by any member of the Group and
they do not control 10% or more of the composition of the board of
directors of such company.

Further, each of the Group’s Controlling Shareholders has undertaken
that if any new business investment or other business opportunity relating
to the Restricted Activity (the “Competing Business Opportunity”) is
identified by or made available to him/her/it or any of his/her/its close
associates, he/shef/it shall, and shall procure that his/her/its close associates
shall, refer such Competing Business Opportunity to the Company on a
timely basis.

For further details of the Deed of Non-Competition, please refer to the
section headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders — Non-
Competition Undertakings” in the Prospectus.

Each of the Controlling Shareholders has confirmed to the Company of
his/her/its compliance with the Deed of Non- Competition from the
Listing Date up to the date of this annual report. The independent non-
executive Directors have reviewed the status of compliance and confirmed
that all the undertakings under the Deed of Non-Competition have been
complied by each of the Controlling Shareholders from the Listing Date
to the date of this annual report.
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Disclosure of Directors’ Interests

EEREIRE

(a) Interests and short positions of Directors and chief (a) EERETETHAERAEA AT

executive in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations

As at the date of this annual report, the interests and short
positions of the Directors or the chief executive of the Company in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which were required (i) to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part VV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered into the register required
to be kept therein; or (iii) pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the
GEM Listing Rules relating to securities transactions by directors to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as
follows:

(i) Interests in the Company
Name of Director Capacity/Nature of interest

BEEpuE 8 56 HEEHE

REMEBZENRMD  HEK
NREERTHNEZR AR

RAFHAHY EFHARATRRT
BAEBRARBXEBEEE(EXE
REFLBEHEOIEXVER) BB
R REEETHEENRIERE S
EBERABEVERETRSS BAME
ARBEBMZXAOER AR (B
RIBEZ R BEGRDB R ERXWRE
B RFEBENES FORE) - HMRIE
&7 K BB 5B %352 16 7B 5 A% 1k
REFEZERMOBE AR X
(il) 48 % GEM £ 77 3 Bl 85 5.46 {5 =5.67
GCEREEEFXZHHRNAMGEAR
IR RS ROXR AT -

() ArEER

Number of
Shares Percentage of
(Note 1)  shareholding

KRG 2
(BfFE1) ERESL

Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis
BIEETE

Rt (MRE2)
Notes:

1. The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

2. Next Vision was beneficially owned by Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis as to

75%. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis was deemed to
be interested in the Shares held by Next Vision.
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(ii) Interest in associated corporation of the Company

Name of

(i) RARBEEEEFTER

Number of
shares Percentage of

Name of Director associated corporation Capacity (Note 1) shareholding
BB

EERR HEEEER g4 (BF=E1) ERESX

Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis ~ Next Vision (Note 2) Beneficial owner 7,500 (L) 75%

BEE LA Next Vision (Ff 5£2) EmEA A

Notes: FfEE -

1 The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the Shares. 1. FRLIKXRBEALTRERODSBH
A -

24 Next Vision held 75% of issued Shares and was therefore a holding 2. Next Vision¥; B & 3 1T IR 1D #975% *

company of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this annual report, none
of the Directors or the chief executive of the Company had any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required (i) to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to

EmMRARE - RERAF -

BREXFIEEEIN RAFERBEAH
*EEE4H§$‘JZZIK’A?EE??EM\ETFA$

AKHEEAEZB(TEEREHLH
‘bﬂﬂﬁIJ%XVa‘B)E”JHQT - HBERG R
BEREFREEOVREES XHE GO
BEVIEETNSD ;E\%DQ$’RT&H9P

Divisions 7 and 8 of Part V of the SFO (including interests and/or RETHE RS A A (B IEIRE &
short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under S RHEIEMNEBIEXHE EXR A
such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) pursuant to section 352 of the BANERZESXE) i) B A

SFO, to be entered into the register required to be kept therein; or (iii)
pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating to
securities transactions by directors to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange.
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Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)

(b) Interests and short positions of the substantial

shareholders and other persons in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company

As at the date of this annual report, so far as it is known to the
Directors, the following persons (not being a Director or chief
executive of the Company) had or were deemed to have interests
or short positions in Shares or underlying Shares which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO, or which would fall to be disclosed under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

Name of shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest

e B0 HEEE

E=g%E(E)

b) TEBRRRHEHMALTRALQF

B9 IR 40 K A8 BA IR 40 AP B9 #E & 2
KRB

RAFZRBEM BEEHA THA
T(XRRREFLARRITHABRIN)
RBERDHEEROPEERERERE
BRZIARE MALHERARAR
BESNKBEERMEICHMERTF
EMEH  HREZSF KT KA
EXVEBE2 K30 BRI M AT K
= o

Number of
Shares held/
Interested Percentage of
(Note 1)  shareholding
BE %E
RN
RGHE
(MFzE1) BERES K

Beneficial owner

BEDBEAA

Next Vision (Note 2)
Next Vision (Fff 5£2)

Notes:
1. The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

2. Next Vision was beneficially owned by Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis as to 75%.
By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis was deemed to be interested in
the Shares held by Next Vision.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this annual report, the
Directors have not been notified by any person who had interests or
short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in the
register required to be kept pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, or
which would fall to be disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.
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Share Option Scheme

The then sole shareholder of the Company conditionally adopted on 19
May 2017 the Share Option Scheme. A summary of the principal terms of
the Share Option Scheme is set out as follows:

1.

Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme is a share incentive scheme prepared in
accordance with Chapter 23 of the Listing Rules and is established
to recognise and acknowledge the contributions that the Eligible
Participants (as defined below) had or may have made to the
Group. The Share Option Scheme will provide the Eligible
Participants (as defined below) an opportunity to have a personal
stake in the Company with the view to achieving the following
objectives: (i) motivate the Eligible Participants (as defined below) to
optimise their performance efficiency for the benefit of the Group;
and (i) attract and retain or otherwise maintain an on-going
business relationship with the Eligible Participants (as defined
below) whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the long-
term growth of the Group.

Participants of the Share Option Scheme

The Board may, at its discretion, offer to grant an option to the
following persons (collectively the “Eligible Participants”) to
subscribe for such number of new Shares as the Board may
determine: (i) any full-time or part-time employees, executives or
officers of the Company or any of its subsidiaries; (i) any directors
(including non-executive directors and independent non-executive
directors) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries; and (iii) any
advisers, consultants, suppliers, customers, distributors and such
other persons who, in the sole opinion of the Board, will contribute
or have contributed to the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries.

Total number of Shares available for issue under
the Share Option Scheme and percentage of
issued Shares

As at the Latest Practicable Date, no share option has been granted
under the Share Option Scheme. The maximum number of Shares
in respect of which options may be granted under the Share Option
Scheme and under any other share option schemes of the Company
must not in aggregate exceed 80,000,000 Shares, representing
10% of the total number of Shares in issue as at the Latest
Practicable Date.

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018

BRAERTE

ARBZERE—BRER_FT—LFHA
TABEGRMERABRES S - BRES
HZTEBRRBMEHIINT

1.

BRESENED

BRETEASRELMANF23EM
EHEN-BABRMNERE 5ESTE
REFAERZ2AE(ERRTOY
AEBFLKAREFEHNER - B
BESAEFERNAER2EE(EER
TXORERENAREESE EAR
@m RERTIER: (HBAERS
BEEELTXOAXKENNEM
BIEERBRE: KW LEEAR
ER2EE(ERER T RAEMT
AEZERAERZBERFFEED
MR MaZERER2EENERD
HYBEHAKENREEREM -

BRESESEE

EZ2HBRER NIIAL(HE
[BERSEE)RHBRE  ARE
EEerEEENABNRNOEKE -
OWARBREFEMMKER AN EME
BARBREE TRABXSHRB
B (AR RREEMMNEQRNE
MES(BRIFATESTRBIEHR
TER) MMEFe2RR/BY
HEHARARLEEANER A
EL BRI EREER - FAA - HE
BEFP DHEBEREMAEBAL

REBRESHTHBITOR
HRBREBRTROBSHL

REAERAUTESE BEREER
TET 8 BT BB AR - AR IR BB AR A
A VNI R - e ]
REREMEBRERSEAORMDEE £
R & 1~ 15 &8 48 80,000,000 A% A% 17 -
MR EBERIUITHHEZTRMORL
HZ210% °



Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)

Maximum entitlement of each participant under
the Share Option Scheme

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
(including both exercised and outstanding options) to each Eligible
Participant in any 12-month period up to the date of grant shall not
exceed 1% of the Shares in issue as at the date of grant. Any
further grant of options in excess of this 1% limit shall be subject
to: (i) the issue of a circular by the Company containing the identity
of the Eligible Participant, the numbers of and terms of the options
to be granted (and options previously granted to such participant),
the information as required under Rules 23.02(2)(d) and the
disclaimer required under 23.02(4) of the GEM Listing Rules; and (ii)
the approval of the Shareholders in general meeting and/or other
requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules from time to time
with such Eligible Participant and his close associates (as defined in
the Listing Rules) (or his/her associates if the Eligible Participant is a
core connected person) abstaining from voting.

The period within which an option must be
exercised under the Share Option Scheme and
performance target

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period to be determined
and notified by the Directors to each grantee, but shall not be more
than 10 years from the date upon which the option is deemed to
be granted and accepted. A grantee may be required to achieve
any performance targets as the Board may then specify in the grant
before any options granted under the Share Option Scheme can be
exercised.

The minimum period for which an option must be
held before it can be exercised

There is no minimum period for which an option granted must be
held before it can be exercised except otherwise imposed by the
Directors.
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7. The basis of determining the exercise price

The exercise price of a Share in respect of any particular option
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be such price as the
Board in its absolute discretion shall determine, save that such price
must be at least the higher of: (i) the official closing price of the
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on
the date of grant, which must be a day on which the Stock
Exchange is open for the business of dealing in securities; (i) the
average of the official closing prices of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value
of a Share.

8. The amount payable on application or acceptance
of the option and the period within which
payments or calls must or may be made or loans
for such purposes must be repaid

The grantee shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company by way of
consideration for the grant on or before the relevant acceptance
date of the option.

9. The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme, unless otherwise terminated or
amended, will remain in force for a period of 10 years from the
Adoption Date, i.e. 19 May 2017.

Since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme, no share options were
granted, exercised or cancelled by the Company under the Share Option
Scheme. There were no outstanding share options under the Share
Option Scheme as at the date of this annual report.
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Equity-Linked Agreements

Save for the Share Option Scheme as set out in the sub-section headed
“Share Option Scheme” above, no equity-linked agreements were
entered into by the Group, or existed during the year ended 31 May
2018.

Interests of the Compliance Adviser

In accordance with Rule 6A.19 of the GEM Listing Rules, the Company
has appointed Shenwan Hongyuan Capital (H.K.) Limited (“SWHY") to be
the compliance adviser. As informed by SWHY, neither SWHY nor any of
its directors or employees or close associates had any interest in the share
capital of the Company or any member of the Group (including options
or rights to subscribe for such securities, if any) or otherwise in relation to
the Company which is required to be notified to the Company pursuant
to Rule 6A.32 of the GEM Listing Rules (except for the compliance adviser
agreement dated 26 May 2017 entered into between the Company and
SWHY (the “Compliance Adviser Agreement”)) as at 31 May 2018.

Pursuant to the Compliance Adviser Agreement, SWHY has received and
will receive fees for acting as the Company’s compliance adviser.

Compliance with the Relevant Laws and
Regulations

As far as the Directors are aware, the Group has complied in material
respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the business and operation of the Group. During the year
ended 31 May 2018, there was no material breach of or non-compliance
with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group.
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Major Customers and Suppliers

For the year ended 31 May 2018, the aggregate amount of turnover
attributed to the Group'’s largest and the five largest customers accounted
for approximately 44.2% and 82.3% (2017: 40.6% and 74.8%) of the
total revenue of the Group, respectively. For the year ended 31 May
2018, the Group's purchase from the largest and the five largest suppliers
of equipment accounted for approximately 45.5% and 83.3% (2017:
64.1% and 87.6%) of the total purchases of the Group, respectively. At
no time during the year ended 31 May 2018 did the Directors, their
associates or any shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge
of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) have any interest in the Group’s major customers or suppliers as
disclosed above.

Connected Transactions and Continuing
Connected Transactions

During the year ended 31 May 2018, the Group did not enter into any
transactions which constituted as connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions pursuant to Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules
that were required to be disclosed under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

Details of the material related party transactions are set out in note 29 to
the audited consolidated financial statements of this annual report. These
related party transactions did not constitute connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions pursuant to Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

Remuneration to key management personnel of the Group, including
Directors described in note 9(a) to the Group’s audited consolidated
financial statements are continuing connected transactions exempt from
the connected transaction requirements under Rule 20.93 of the GEM
Listing Rules.
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Corporate Governance

The Company is firmly committed to maintaining and ensuring a high
level of corporate governance standards and will review and improve the
corporate governance practices and standards constantly. Except for the
deviation from code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the Company has
complied with the code provisions set out in the CG Code contained in
Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules from the Listing Date up to the
date of this annual report. Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code
stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive should be
separate and should not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Yeung
Ho Ting Dennis is the chairman and the chief executive officer of the
Company. In view of Mr. Yeung's role in day-to-day operations and
management of the Group since April 2009, the Board believes that it is
in the best interest of the Group to have Mr. Yeung taking up both roles
for effective management and business development. Therefore, the
Directors consider that the deviation from the code provision A.2.1 of the
CG Code is appropriate in such circumstance and the Board is of the view
that this management structure is effective for the Group’s operations
and sufficient checks and balances are in place.

Details of the corporate governance practices adopted by the Company
are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 20 to 37 of this
annual report.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this annual
report, the Company has maintained a sufficient public float as required
under the GEM Listing Rules.

Pre-Emptive Rights

There are no provision for pre-emptive or similar rights under the laws of
Cayman Islands or the Articles which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing shareholders.
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Permitted Indemnity Provision

Subject to the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), every Director is entitled under the Company’s Articles of
Association to be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets of
the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses may incur or sustain by reason of any act done,
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty or
supposed duty in their respective offices or trusts, except such (if any) as
he or she shall incur or sustain through their own fraud or dishonesty.

The Company has maintained a directors and officers liability insurance
during the year ended 31 May 2018. To the extent as permitted by the
Companies Ordinance, a directors’ liability insurance is currently in place
to protect the Directors against potential costs and liabilities arising from
claims brought against the Directors.

Employees and Remuneration Policies

As at 31 May 2018, the Group had 89 employees in Hong Kong (2017:
82 employees in Hong Kong). The remuneration package the Group
offered to the Group’s employees includes salary, bonuses and other cash
subsidies. In general, the Group determines employees’ salaries based on
each employee’s qualifications, position and seniority. The Group has
designed an annual review system to assess the performance of the
Group’s employees, which forms the basis of the Group’s decisions with
respect to salary raises, bonuses and promotions.

Relationship with Stakeholders

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its key stakeholders, including its employees, customers
and suppliers, to meet its immediate and long-term business goals.
During the year ended 31 May 2018, there were no material and
significant disputes between the Group and its employees, customers and
suppliers.

The Group recognises employees as one of its valuable assets and strictly
complies with the labour laws and regulations and reviews regularly the
existing staff benefits for improvement. Apart from the reasonable
remuneration packages, the Group also offers other employee benefits,
such as medical insurance. The Group provides good quality services to its
customers and keeps a database for direct communications with recurring
customers for developing a long-term trusted relationship. The Group
also maintains effective communication and develops a long-term
business relationship with the suppliers.

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018

BEFNRERKRX

REQRGO(BELIF6RE) BRE
ENARBEATAEBMERMA - ATRA
RAZEEESRE T ZBBHE
ARTHREBREIREBRERFBMIEL
BEZEREATEAMBRARZIZMA
R BR WE BX BERFEX A
EHRELUITAES HEZF(WH)
MERBMARIRFLTBRERI

( ZE_ZE-N\FRA=FT—BILEE" &K
AEIEBEEERTBRAEBREERR - &
ARGPAFFZBERT BRCHEEEE
MEFRETRBRAREESEHHESR
EREENEEXRAREET-

1B 8 & % B BUX

R-ZZBE-N\FHEA=+—R AEERE
BEBEOEEE(CZE—LF REEESR
R%HEE) AEEREBREHNFHES
BREFL AREMRES MM —KM
FOAKEREEREREMNERE BUKFE
BEHS AKBECHEFERT SN
HEEENRE EEFTEAKERES
¥e o EARFBIREMEE -

B2 R 5 A8 B & AV BE &

AEBTHREFSEETIENSAEE (BR
BT FPERHUER)RFREBENER
HABEERANEBEENERE -2
—E-N\FRA=+-BLFE F&EE
HHEBT FRPEHEB EBHEERF

=
-~
e

AEERRAETIREEENEEZ — X
BREBTEDEAEEIR TEHRTEBR
TR AKBER BT EENFHGE
Sh o AEBERRHEME TEAN - mBEFERK
R AKBREFPRERHEBENRY  YWIRHE
HEEUEEFEBRERRERBR L%
REAGERR AEETRHEARE
BRHER WETRHAEBEE-



ReportofﬂuaBoamiofDWecKws(Conﬂnued)

Business Review

A fair review of the business of the Company as well as a discussion and
analysis of the Group’s performance during the year ended 31 May 2018
and the material factors underlying its results and financial position can
be found in the management discussion and analysis set out on pages 6
to 19 of this annual report. These discussions form part of this report.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

The environmental, social and governance report, which forms part of
this report, is set out on pages 38 to 47 of this annual report.

Annual General Meeting

The forthcoming annual general meeting (“AGM") of the Company will
be held on 6 November 2018, the notice of which shall be sent to the
shareholders of the Company in accordance with the Articles, the GEM
Listing Rules and other applicable laws and regulations.

Closure of Register of Members

In order to ascertain entitlements to attend and vote at the forthcoming
AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed from
Thursday, 1 November 2018 to Tuesday, 6 November 2018, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of Shares will be registered.

Shareholders are reminded to ensure that all completed share transfer
forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor
Services Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 31 October 2018.
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EEgWRE (&

Events After the Reporting Period

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Directors are not aware of any
important event requiring disclosure that has taken place subsequent to
31 May 2018 and up to the date of approval of this report.

Auditor

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 May 2018
have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers, who shall retire at the
forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, offered
themselves for re-appointment.

There was no changes in the Company’s auditor during the past three
years.

By order of the Board
In Technical Productions Holdings Limited
Yeung Ho Ting Dennis

Chairman

22 August 2018
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Biographies of Board of Directors and

EER

Executive Directors

Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis (#5&#), aged 45, an executive Director,
chief executive officer and chairman of the Board. Mr. Yeung is also the
founder, chief executive officer of the Group and a director of each of ITP
(BVI), ITP (HK), and the executive director, general manager and legal
representative of each of Shiji Tiansheng Cultural Communication
(Shenzhen) Limited (42 KB LEHECRYINEFR A7) and Shanghai
Yingtegao Stage Arts Limited (L8 & F S8 ZMI AR A F). Mr. Yeung
founded the Group in April 2009 and is primarily responsible for devising
strategies to develop the Group and overseeing the business and financial
performance of the Group. Throughout the years of serving the Group,
Mr. Yeung led the Group to adopt a number of latest LED and projection
technologies for creative applications for pop concerts, such as Mesh LED
and transparent LED panels. Mr. Yeung has nearly 10 years of experience
in video equipment rental and services. Prior to founding the Group, Mr.
Yeung worked as a senior manager of I-MAG International Limited, a
company which is principally engaged in video equipment rental business
where he was responsible for customer accounts handling from April
2007 to May 2009. During the course of his promotion of video
equipment rental service for I-MAG International Limited to its customers,
Mr. Yeung acquired the relevant knowledge of the video equipment and
visual display industry. From July 1999 to March 2007, Mr. Yeung worked
in various companies and was responsible for sales of products and
customer services.

Mr. Yeung obtained a Bachelor of Civil Engineering degree from Monash
University, Clayton Campus in Australia in May 1998.

Mr. Tam Chun Yu (FEZF), aged 41, an executive Director. Mr. Tam
joined the Group as an operation manager in June 2009 and is primarily
responsible for planning, organising, coordinating and implementing
visual display solutions of the Group. Mr. Tam has over 14 years of
experience in video equipment rental and visual display solutions. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Tam worked as a technician of I-MAG International
Limited from April 2007 to June 2009 and Cosmo Pro AV Co. from
February 2002 to February 2006. Mr. Tam attended his secondary school
education in Hong Kong from September 1990 to August 1993.

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited
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Non-executive Directors

Mr. Law Wang Chak, Waltery (#%7£), aged 55, a non-executive
director. Since February 2018, Mr. Law has acted as the senior vice
president of the finance and corporate development of Gold Peak
Industries (Holdings) Limited, a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange (“HKEX") (stock code: 0040). He has over 30 years of
experience in financial audit, financial due diligence reviews, mergers and
acquisitions, corporate restructuring, accounting and corporate finance
advisory.

Since April 2015, Mr. Law has been an independent non-executive
director, chairman of the audit Committee, and a member of the
remuneration committee of D&G Technology Holding Company Limited,
a company listed on the HKEX (stock code: 1301). Since November 2017,
Mr. Law has been an independent non-executive director, chairman of
the audit committee, and a member of the nomination committee of
Vicon Holdings Limited, a company listed on the HKEX (stock code:
3878). Since November 2017, Mr. Law has been an independent non-
executive director, chairman of the audit committee, and a member for
each of the remuneration committee and nomination committee of Solis
Holdings Limited, a company listed on the HKEX (stock code: 2227).

Mr. Law was an executive partner of Profundas Capital Limited, a private
equity and investment advisory firm from December 2010 to January
2018. He also served as an independent non-executive director, chairman
of the audit committee, and a member both of the remuneration
committee and the nomination committee of Orient Victory China
Holdings Limited, a company listed on the HKEX (stock code:0265), from
September 2014 to June 2018. Mr. Law served as the chief financial
officer and non-executive director of Nine Dragons Paper (Holdings)
Limited , a company listed on the HKEX (stock code: 2689), from June
2004 to July 2008 and from August 2008 to October 2008, respectively.
Mr. Law also served in different key roles such as chief financial officer
and vice president of the finance department in four other companies
between December 1992 and May 2004, all of which were listed on Main
Board of the Stock Exchange at the relevant time. Mr. Law worked in the
audit division of Coopers & Lybrand (now known as PricewaterhouseCoopers)
between August 1987 and November 1992.
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Mr. Law was admitted as a fellow of both the Chartered Certified
Accountants (formerly known as Chartered Association of Certified
Accountants) in the United Kingdom in October 1995 and the Hong
Kong Society of Accountants (currently known as Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants) in February 1998. Mr. Law is currently
registered as a Certified Public Accountant (Practising) with the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"). Mr. Law was
also admitted as a fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales in July 2017.

Mr. Law graduated from the London School of Economics and Political
Science, the University of London with a bachelor’s degree in economics
in August 1991 and a master’s degree in financial economics in December
1995.

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Li Kai Sing (ZRUK), aged 56, an independent non-executive
Director, the chairperson of the audit committee and a member of the
remuneration committee and nomination committee of the Company.
Mr. Li has over 16 years of experience in accounting and finance matters.
Mr. Li has been an executive director of Focus Films Limited since
September 2003. Mr. Li was the Chief Financial Officer of Team Work
Corporation Limited from August 2000 to September 2003, the financial
controller of China Star Entertainment Limited (stock code: 0326) from
June 1999 to July 2000, an executive director of Interform Ceramics
Technologies Limited (now known as Alibaba Pictures Group Limited) (stock
code: 1060) from October 1995 to March 1999, and a vice president,
finance of Leading Spirit (Holdings) Company Limited (subsequently
known as Leading Spirit High-Tech (Holdings) Company Limited) (Hong
Kong stock code: 0606) from July 1992 to December 1993, the shares of
which are listed on the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Li was admitted as an associate of HKICPA in September 1988 and is
currently a member of HKICPA. He was also admitted as an associate of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (formerly known as
Chartered Association of Certified Accountants) in September 1988. Mr.
Li was also a certified financial planner as recognised by the Institute of
Financial Planners of Hong Kong in July 2004. Mr. Li obtained an
Executive Master of Business Administration from The Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology in November 2007 and a Bachelor
of Social Science degree from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in
December 1985.
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Mr. Ma Tsz Chun (58f&), aged 53, an independent non-executive
Director and the chairperson of the remuneration committee and a
member of the audit committee and nomination committee of the
Company. Mr. Ma has over 30 years of experience in accounting and
finance matters. Mr. Ma has been a director of Andrew & Associates CPA
Limited since November 2014, a director of Sino-Bridge China Consulting
Ltd since October 2004 and an independent non-executive director of
Chinese Estates Holdings Limited (stock code: 0127), the shares of which
are listed on the HKEX, since November 2008.

Mr. Ma was admitted as an associate of HKICPA in September 1990 and
a certified public accountant (practicing) of that organisation in January
2001. He was also admitted initially as an associate in October 1990 and
subsequently as a fellow in November 1995 of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants (formerly known as Chartered
Associations of Certified Accountants).

Mr. Ma obtained a master's degree of science in China business studies
from Hong Kong Polytechnic University in October 2009, a master’s
degree of science and a master’s degree of business administration both
from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in December 2003 and
December 1997 respectively, and a professional diploma in accountancy
in Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as Hong Kong Polytechnic
University) in November 1987.

Ms. Loh Lai Ping, Phillis (BEE), aged 53, an independent non-
executive Director and a member of the audit committee and
remuneration committee of the Company. Ms. Loh has accumulated
extensive experience in the legal field since 1988. From September 1988
to July 1993, Ms. Loh served as a trainee solicitor initially and then a
solicitor in Johnson Stokes & Master, a law firm, where she was
responsible for various legal matters including litigation. Since January
1998, she has been a barrister responsible for litigation work. Ms. Loh has
been an independent non-executive director of Chinese Estates Holdings
Limited (stock code: 0127), the shares of which are listed on the HKEX,
since January 2006 and was an independent non-executive director of
The Kwong Sang Hong International Limited (Former stock code: 0189),
the shares of which were listed on the HKEX for the period from April
2003 to February 2005.
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Ms. Loh was admitted as a solicitor of the Supreme Court of Hong Kong
in September 1990 and a barrister of the High Court of Hong Kong in
January 1998. She was also admitted as a solicitor of the Supreme Court
of England and Wales in August 1991. She has also been a solicitor and a
barrister of the Supreme Court of Australian Capital Territory in Australia
since October 1991.

Ms. Loh was appointed as a member of the Board of Review (Inland
Revenue Ordinance) for a term of 3 years commencing 1 January 2018
and temporary deputy registrar in the High Court of Hong Kong in July
2018.

Ms. Loh obtained a bachelor’s degree of laws and a postgraduate
certificate in laws from The University of Hong Kong in November 1987
and June 1988 respectively.

Senior Management

Ms. Ng Tsz Ning Loretta (:242#%), aged 46, is an accountant of the
Group. Ms. Ng joined the Group in June 2015 and is primarily responsible
for overseeing the day-to-day operation of financial activities of the
Group. Ms. Ng has over 23 years of experience in accounting and finance.
Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Ng was an accounting supervisor of ASB
Biodiesel (HK) Limited from March 2014 to June 2015, an accountant of
Team Success (Pacific) Limited from February 2012 to November 2013, an
accounting manager of Jiawei Solarchina Company Limited from April
2011 to September 2011, an assistant accounting manager of Saraya
Hong Kong Co. Ltd. from March 2010 to February 2011, an accounting
manager of New Ocean Technology Limited from March 2003 to
December 2009 and an accounting and administration manager of VK
Holdings (HK) Limited from February 2000 to February 2003.

Ms. Ng obtained a bachelor degree in accountancy from University of
South Australia by distance learning in April 2003.
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Mr. Lau Kai Chu Kevin (2I{£4F), aged 45, is the internal audit manager
of the Group. Mr. Lau joined the Group in October 2016 and is primarily
responsible for company policy setting, performing internal audit, and
monitoring internal control of operation. Mr. Lau has over 20 years of
experience in accounting and internal audit. Prior to joining the Group,
Mr. Lau was a director of JR Corporate Services Limited from July 2013 to
September 2016. He also worked in CCT Telecom (HK) Limited from April
2012 to December 2012, last served as an internal audit manager. He
was also a regional manager, control and compliance of J.V. Fitness
Limited from October 2008 to October 2010 and an internal auditor of
Michel of HK from December 2006 to October 2008.

Mr. Lau was admitted as a certified internal auditor of the Institute of
Internal Auditors in May 2006. Mr. Lau obtained his bachelor’s degree of
commerce from University of Manitoba in Canada in May 1996.

Mr. Xu Minghuan (fREA™), aged 34, is the project supervisor of Shiji
Tiansheng Cultural Commination (Shenzhen) Limited (140 K A% /b {58
CEYINEPRAT). Mr. Xu joined the Group in February 2009 and is
primarily responsible for organising, coordinating and implementing visual
display solutions in PRC. Mr. Xu has over 10 years of experience in visual
display solutions and operating of visual equipment. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Xu served as a technical engineer at I-MAG International
Limited, a company which was principally engaged in the business of
video equipment rental, from May 2007 to June 2009, where he was
primarily responsible for coordinating and implementing visual display
solutions. From February 2004 to May 2007, Mr. Xu served as the
technical director at Black Leopard Performance Equipment Limited (%
REREAMR AT, a company which was principally engaged in the
business of production of lighting and LED and rental of equipment,
where he was primarily responsible for repair and installation of
equipment.

Mr. Xu received his vocational secondary education regarding electrical

and mechanical integration in Guangdong Mechanical & Electrical
Polytechnic (3R & E E4%) in July 2003.
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Mr. Pei Mingzhong (%83 8), aged 35, is the deputy general manager
of Shenzhen Shiji Tiansheng Technology Limited (23t 42 KB RES A
fR/2A]). Mr. Pei joined the Group in June 2013 and is primarily
responsible for equipment development and maintenance. Mr. Pei has
over eight years of experience in visual equipment development. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Pei was a technical director of research and
development department of Shenzhen Zhongxiang Innovation
Optoelectronics Limited (ERIIFHFEIFTHEBRAFT]) from December
2012 to June 2013 and a manager of research and development
department of Shenzhen Broad Horizon Optoelectronics Limited (&R
BRSO EREA R AR from August 2008 to December 2012.

Mr. Pei received his tertiary education in mechatronics from Jiangxi
Yuzhou Electronic Industrial College (TFE&IMNE T H#EET) in July
2003.

Company Secretary

Ms. Leung Yin Fai (R#), aged 53, was appointed as the Group's
company secretary on 10 November 2016. Ms. Leung has been a director
of K E Corporate Services Limited (a company secretarial services provider)
since April 2016, the managing director of K E Management &
Consultancy (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. since August 2015 and an independent
non-executive director of Green Leader Holdings Group Limited (formerly
known as: North Asia Resources Holdings Limited) (Hong Kong Stock
Code: 0061) since April 2014. Ms. Leung was a director of KCS Hong
Kong Limited from August 2008 to October 2014.

Ms. Leung was admitted as a fellow of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants (currently known as Chartered Association of
Certified Accountants) in the United Kingdom in July 1995. Ms. Leung
was also admitted as a fellow member of the CPA Australia in May 2004
and is currently a member of HKICPA. Ms. Leung obtained a master’s
degree in commerce from the University of New South Wales, Australia in
November 2002.

Some English names of Chinese laws and regulations, government
authorities, departments, entities, institutions, natural persons, facilities,
certificates, titles and the like for which no official English translation
exists have been unofficially translated for identification purposes only. In
the event of any inconsistency, the Chinese name will prevail.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
3 % B A R

_n
pwc Rk E

To the Shareholders of In Technical Productions Holdings Limited #In Technical Productions Holdings Limited
IR =R

(incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability) (RESHSEMA T cBRLA)

Opinion =

What we have audited BMEETHREA

The consolidated financial statements of In Technical Productions  In Technical Productions Holdings Limited (A T~ f&

Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set TBIE QAR LEMB AR (LA THABIEE

out on pages 81 to 159, which comprise: D3 HRENE19B N MBHRE
BIE

e the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 May 2018; o W _-_ZT— \FHRA=+—"HWEHEAE
Bk

e the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year o HEZHILFENGAE 2HEWER
then ended:;

e the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then o HEZBIFFENGAEREE K
ended;

e the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; o HEZHIIFENKGAESRER
and &

e the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which includea o ‘A BKREMT  BF FTE &K

summary of significant accounting policies. BHE -
Our opinion EMHHER
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair H iR A ZEGAVBREACREETSH

view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 May €&t A SBEMEONCE BT HHELEL)E
2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated EmMA ST EE£BER -_ZT—N\F
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong R A=+ —HHGEAU BRI L EEZ=Z
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong B IFFEMGAB KRB EEAR &R
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been & @ W2 BREB(AGIEHINIFEERT
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the ¥ & #i 5 ©

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers FER R K A8 B R B P

22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong BB TR

T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888 M : +852 2289 8888 » fHE : +852 2810 9888
www.pwchk.com www.pwchk.com
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs"”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

B AZ AR E (B8)

Key audit matter identified in our audit is related to estimated useful lives

of visual display equipment:

Key Audit Matter
HRESER

ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ¢%ﬂmﬁﬂ%ﬁ$ﬁﬁﬁ@
BRRENEFAIERFHER:

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EPNBEANAEEBRETSR

Estimated useful lives of visual display equipment:

BEBRREOGEAAIERFH

Refer to Note 2.5 in the summary of significant accounting
policies, Note 4(a) in the critical accounting estimates and
judgements and Note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements for related disclosure.

F2HEES BRI BN 2.5 RS G RH

M i d(a) R AR & IS SRR M SE 140 MERA 4R 35 -
As at 31 May 2018, the Group held visual display

equipment of approximately HK$80.3 million. For the year
ended 31 May 2018, depreciation expense of
approximately HK$14.8 million for these visual display
equipment was recognised under “cost of services” in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

RZZE-—NFRA=+—H' EXEHEBEGREET
REHGIEEBETL - BE_ZE-—N\FHLH=1+—H
IFFE BEERRKBRES2EKERIREKAR]
EPEﬁEu/uﬁ%FflﬁiZ/]}lélSE%;En"

Depreciation of visual display equipment is calculated using
a straight-line method to allocate the cost over their
estimated useful lives of 8 years, except for those
equipment which are custom made for a particular project
or event, their cost is depreciated over the duration of the
project or event.

BERETRETERRERETE  EEEAF RS
FHRSFMNBERATHEKA  BERERBEHEDE
IR BRI - WERBAUAIRER SR B FHEHRE
e -

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018

Our procedures in relation to management’s estimated
useful lives of the non-custom made visual display
equipment included:
PR ERERAFEEHNREBETIREN LR FH
FTITEV IR Fr 845 -

—  We assessed the reasonableness of the useful lives
adopted by the Group by reviewing the historical
usage of the equipment, discussing with management
and making reference to, where available,
independent research report on durability, expected
repairs and maintenance and future demand of visual
display equipment;

— ZREHNRBEEMASE HERAEBETIRAR
2BR(EHB)EBEREBRTREMA L BHEE
LEERRRBRNBIMERS  FE EE
BRI ERFERNGEN

—  We tested on a sample basis, whether additions to
visual display equipment have been recorded in proper
categories for the calculation of depreciation; and

— HMHERAA =
R BN R

—  We observed the Group’s physical count procedures
on visual display equipment and the physical condition
of the relevant assets to identify whether there is any
damaged or obsolete visual display equipment.

— Hfixz ESERGETIRENERAERF
REBAEENERMRR UBANBREFEEMT

BRBRNRERTRE -



Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
HRESTER

8 1% SR A ()

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMMEANNEERRETSE

Management estimates useful lives of the non-custom
made visual display equipment with reference to the
durability, expected repairs and maintenance and future
demand of the equipment.

EREENE2ERGBTIRENTAE  BHgE R
MENMKRBR  EEFEHREBRTRENATER
FH o

Management also takes into account the industry practice
and expectation on technical or commercial obsolescence
arising from changes or improvements in the market
relevant to their business.

EEENREETEEMNIALBBEBNTSE LK
HEEYRMAEET MBRKNTAY -

We focused on this area because the carrying amount of
visual display equipment is significant to the consolidated
financial statements and the determination of estimated
useful lives of visual display equipment, which has a direct
impact on the calculation of depreciation expense, requires
the use of significant judgements and estimates.

ZMAEEHARRASGEBARIRENEAEHES
MBRREZEXN BEETHFERINFEBKE
ERENARBENRBENAFIERFHIAERE
A FI R fh 5t e

Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in the
annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our

auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.

Based on the procedures described, we found the estimated
useful lives of the non-custom made visual display
equipment were supportable by the available evidence.

ERNLEARF BMAERFEFNRERTEBEBHOMGE
AERFMANGZRBIEASXF -

Hinfs 2

BERREFAHHEMERAR - K5 8
BRFRANFAEGES  BETEREAH
TR & 3 M R A B S &

BMEEAMBERENERL TRERM
ER RN IAHZEEMESEREM
RANERES -

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our A B FIEEGES BRI KA

responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider

AEERMEEMER  EUHBREP ZEH

whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the f{i{Z B2 BEGAE M IERRAFKMESET

consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit

or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

BERATHROBEAFEENEBREU
FHEEER#ERRANER -
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
&8 B ()

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Those Charged
with Governance for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
J& 3 1% BB (4R)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional TERIBE(E B EFER)YHETET 0B R
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. /- FRIER T HEHE - R¥F 7T HE (28
We also: BETE o BN :

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group'’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group'’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
&8 B ()

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the
public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chu Wang Hay.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 22 August 2018
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

LeEHEBRERKR

For the year ended 31 May 2018 BZE_Z—-N\FAA=1T—HIFE

Year ended 31 May
BEIAZ=+-HLFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F ==k
Note HK$ HK$
Bt & BT T
Revenue WA 6(i) 83,607,289 66,819,774
Cost of services PR 75 X 2N 8 (41,462,687) (32,907,420)
Gross profit E F 42,144,602 33,912,354
Other income H Ath Y A 6(ii) 125,657 371,291
Other gains, net H A = ¥ 58 7 173,071 146,625
Administrative expenses THRAX 8
— Professional service fees in respect of — R LETMERNEE
listing preparation Ak 7% & — (17,597,478)
— Others —HAf (18,141,201)  (12,107,410)
Operating profit 45 i A 24,302,129 4,725,382
Finance income B 75 U A 10 375,879 3,966
Finance costs B 75 B AR 10 (2,176,541) (1,794,076)
Finance costs, net B 75 B AN B 10 (1,800,662) (1,790,110)
Profit before income tax FIT 15 5% Al g 7 22,501,467 2,935,272
Income tax expense FriS#i M X 11 (4,573,845) (3,597,815)
Profit/(loss) for the year EREHEM(EE) 17,927,622 (662,543)
Attributable to: AT AL RS :
— Owners of the Company —RXRAREAA 17,919,344 (443,192)
— Non-controlling interests —EERER 8,278 (219,351)
17,927,622 (662,543)
Other comprehensive income: Ha2mEUEA -
Item that may be subsequently reclassified to A {& A fE 8 37 7 48 = 18 725 9
profit or loss IH H
— Exchange difference on translation of —HEBINEBEHER
foreign operations =% 109,137 88,559
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year FE 2 EW A (EE) 4% 18,036,759 (573,984)

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited —Z— N\E&%{% 81



82

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (Continued)

resmRaR (B

For the year ended 31 May 2018 BZEZE_ZT—N\FAA=+—HILFE

Year ended 31 May
BEEA=+—BLFE

2018 2017/
—E-N\F —ET—+tF
Note HK$ HK$
M3t BT 7 TT
Attributable to: AR AL REfL -
— Owners of the Company —ARRAHEA A 18,024,017 (349,803)
— Non-controlling interests — IEFE AR RS 13 12,742 (224,181)
18,036,759 (573,984)
Earnings/(loss) per share for profit/(loss) FARARDAER AN
attributable to owners of the Company wmH (BB B
during the year BH,(E8)
— Basic and diluted (HK cents) — EAR R ESE CGBL) 12 2.26 (0.07)

The notes on pages 89 to 159 are an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.

— Hilline
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e 8RR &

As at 31 May 2018

RZE-—NFRAA=+—H

As at As at
31 May 2018 31 May 2017
RZE-—NF RZT—tF
HFA=+—-H HA=+—H
Note HK$ HK$
B 2 BT BT
Assets BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE k&G 14 81,818,109 64,707,391
Deposits Be 15 184,004 233,246
82,002,113 64,940,637
Current assets REBEE
Trade receivables B 5 ek IE 15 8,630,466 5,790,537
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables ~ FEfFUIE ~ £ & K& H Uk
1B 15 11,819,498 12,003,712
Amount due from the immediate holding FEU B B i R A Rl 5RIE
company 23 300,940 45,440
Term deposits with initial terms of over three R 2| Hi B % = {& A &
months EHTFE 16(a) 20,700,000 =
Pledged short-term bank deposits BRI EEBIETER 16(a) 3,009,963 2,994,836
Cash and cash equivalents REe RIREEH 16(b) 23,137,022 17,008,419
67,597,889 37,842,944
Total assets EEHAE 149,600,002 102,783,581
Equity =
Capital and reserves attributable to EANTEBEANEERE R
the owners of the Company E 1B
Share capital % 2 17 8,000,000 —
Share premium g apinki=| 17 56,496,624 -
Other reserves E b 1,042,602 937,929
Retained earnings 1R BB B F 41,897,980 23,978,636
107,437,206 24,916,565
Non-controlling interests FERERS 13 (290,751) (303,493)
Total equity ERAHE 107,146,455 24,613,072

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

e BRI R ()

Asat 31 May 2018 M=-ZT—/\FRA=1+—H

As at As at
31 May 2018 31 May 2017
RZZE—NE RZZ—tF
EA=+—-8B HA=+—H
Note HK$ HK$
B 5 BT AT
Liabilities =R
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFIEAE 24 8,143,827 6,231,810
Obligations under finance leases &M S A E 19 — 290,000
Other payables At & IR 20 195,000 8,220,053
Shareholder’s loan BRER 21 — 14,268,128
8,338,827 29,009,991
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables and accrued liabilities HiENZBELREASEE 20 20,283,245 27,975,134
Bank borrowings RITE 22 10,997,772 18,886,885
Obligations under finance leases BB E R IE 19 109,048 240,225
Taxation payable FE B IR 2,724,655 2,058,274
34,114,720 49,160,518
Total liabilities EEAE 42,453,547 78,170,509
Total equity and liabilities EERAEEHEE 149,600,002 102,783,581

The consolidated financial statements on page 81 to 159 were approved
by the Board of Director on 22 August 2018 and were signed on its

behalf.

FIEI9B 2 AV BHRER_-Z—/\F
NAZt+t-—HEEESHERRE -

Yeung Ho Ting Dennis Law Wang Chak Waltery

BEE BRE
Director Director
- BE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
MERZBHR

For the year ended 31 May 2018 BZE_Z—-N\FAA=1T—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

RAREEAEMN
Share Share  Capital Non-
capital premium  reserve Exchange Retained controlling Total
(Note17) (Note17) (Note18)  reserve  earnings Total interests equity
BA ROBE EXFEE FER
(M=E17)  (MsE17) (ME18) EHRE RKRERA @t R REZAR
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HKS$ HK$ HK$
Balance at 1 June 2017 NZZE—+45
NA—BRER — — 773744 164,185 23,978,636 24,916,565  (303,493) 24,613,072
Profit for the year F R Al — — — — 17,919,344 17,919,344 8278 17,927,622
Other comprehensive Hin 2 H
income: YA
— Exchange difference on —BREBINEBH
translation of foreign ERER
operations — — — 104,673 — 104,673 4,464 109,137
Total comprehensive income 2 E A 258 — — — 104,673 17919344 18,024,017 12,742 18,036,759
Transaction with owners: BEBANRS :
— Capitalisation Issue — BT
(Note 21) (Bfzx21) 6,000,000 6,000,000 — — — 12,000,000 — 12,000,000
— Issue of new share upon —RERMHEE
share offer (Note 17) BATHRG
(H5E17) 2,000,000 58,000,000 — - — 60,000,000 — 60,000,000
— Share issuance costs —BRHBITRA
(Note 17) (fEE17) — (7,503,376) — — —  (7.503,376) —  (7,503,376)
Balance at 31 May 2018 R-ZZE—N\ER8A
=+ —HNEH 8,000,000 56,496,624 773,744 268,858 41,897,980 107,437,206  (290,751) 107,146,455

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited

—Z=-\FE£H% 85



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)
FEEm TR (E

For the year ended 31 May 2018 BZEZE_ZT—N\FAA=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARREE NS
Share Share  (Capital Non-
capital  premium reserve  Exchange  Retained controlling Total
(Note 17)  (Note 17)  (Note 18) reserve  earnings Total interests equity
BA BiEE BAREHE FEZRR
(aE17)  (fE17)  (EE18) EREE REEF st Bm EmeR
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$

BT BT BT BT BT BT BT BT

Balance at 1 June 2016 RZZ—REF
NA—BRMER — — 10,000 70,796 24,421,828 24,502,624 (79,312) 24,423,312
Loss for the year FRERE — — — —  (443192) (443192) (219351)  (662,543)
Other comprehensive Hit 2N/
income(loss): (B18)
— Exchange difference on —HREBINEER
translation of foreign ERESE
operations — — — 93,389 — 93,389 (4,830) 88,559

Total comprehensive income/(loss) 2B A,/

(BB 88 — — — 93389 (443192) (349,803) (224,181) (573,984)
Transaction with owners: HEBEANRS
— Difference between —BREERHNDF
the fair value of B FTUER
the shareholder’s loan kW] o)
and the amount =8 (HaE21)
received (Note 21) — — 763,744 — — 763744 — 763744
Balance at 31 May 2017 R-_ZE—+&5A
=t+—HOEH — — 773,744 164,185 23,978,636 24,916,565  (303,493) 24,613,072

The notes on pages 89 to 159 are an integral part of these consolidated 289Z159B 2 M= AZ SR M IEHRE 2
financial statements. — &5 -
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERTRER

For the year ended 31 May 2018 BZE_Z—-N\FAA=1T—HIFE

Year ended 31 May
BEIAZ=+-HLFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —FeET
Note HK$ HK$
k=2 BT T
Cash flows from operating activities RETHAERERE
Operating profit 48 i 5 K| 24,302,129 4,725,382
Adjustments for: MTIFIBIEL AL -
Depreciation e 15,316,596 11,484,774
Operating profit before working capital changes LIBEE S EB K E G A 39,618,725 16,210,156
Changes in working capital: LEESED
Trade receivables # 5 e W RIE (2,814,953) 925,584
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables JEWFRIE e &
H i & W kIR (4,706,322) (6,198,162)
Other payables and accrued liabilities EMEMNRBERESEE (16,223,576) 18,302,621
Cash generated from operations TSI 4 15,873,874 29,240,199
Hong Kong profits tax paid ENEBFEM (1,995,447) =
Net cash generated from operating activities KEEEATSIE & F 5 13,878,427 29,240,199
Cash flows from investing activities RETHMEBESRE
Interest received 2 YT B 375,879 3,966
Repayment from a director RE—BEZREN — 5,688,046
Increase in term deposits with initial terms of over R E| i B % = 1@ A &
three months 7 HA 17 5L a0 (20,700,000) =
Payment for acquisition of property, WEME  BE R
plant and equipment (Note) BN (33,193,401) (28,543,689)
Advance to the immediate holding company MEFZER A RBHK (255,500) (45,440)
Net cash used in investing activities KEEBMARSEE (53,773,022) (22,897,117)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)
melRenER (B
For the year ended 31 May 2018 BZEZE_ZT—N\FAA=+—HILFE

Year ended 31 May
BEIAZ=t-HLEE

88

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
Note HK$ HK$
Bt 5 BT T
Cash flows from financing activities METBMEBRERE
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITEFATERIE — 10,000,000
Repayment of bank borrowings EERITER (7,889,113) (6,335,427)
Repayment to a director M—BEFEX — {,119,287)
(Repayment of)/proceeds from shareholder’s loan (BEB)  KkaRENER
(Note) (Bt =) 21 (2,650,000) 14,650,000
Repayments of capital element of the finance leases 1&i& gt & T & &~ & 25 (486,457) (185,578)
Bank loan interest paid BRRITERFE (751,196) (1,001,367)
Increase in pledged short-term bank deposits IMIREEAER TR & 18 N (15,127) (2,994,836)
Gross proceeds from issuance of new shares BITHROB MG RIERE 17 60,000,000 —
Payment of listing expenses Y EMAX (2,598,000) (4,905,376)
Finance charges on obligations under finance leases R & E A ER G E B H (50,333) (24,842)
Net cash generated from financing activities BMEDBAMBREFH 45,559,774 8,087,177
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents HeERESZEEY
¥ InEER 5,665,179 14,430,259
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes YINEE [E R BB r) 7 & 463,424 (7,195)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year F ¥R & KB EEED 17,008,419 2,585,355
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year ERRELBELSEEY 16(b) 23,137,022 17,008,419
Major non-cash transactions include: FEFRERHBIE:

(a

During the year ended 31 May 2017, the Group acquired certain
property, plant and equipment amounting to HK$23,310,000 and
partially settled HK$9,561,569 in cash. During the year ended 31
May 2018, the Group settled HK$6,889,895 in cash. The remaining
balance of HK$6,858,536 was settled with deposit received from a
customer which represented a non-cash transaction. For details,
please refer to Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

On 14 June 2017, the Group capitalised a shareholder’s loan
amounting to HK$12,000,000 by issuing 599,999,999 new shares
of the Company, credited as fully paid, to the then shareholders of
the Company. For details, please refer to Note 21 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The notes on pages 89 to 159 are an integral part of these consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

General information

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 4 November 2016 as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law (as
revised) of the Cayman Islands, as amended, supplemented or
otherwise modified from time to time. The address of its registered
office is Clifton House, 75 Fort Street, P.O. Box 1350, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1008 Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) are principally engaged
in the provision of visual display solution services for concerts and
events primarily in Hong Kong, Macau, the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC") and Taiwan (the “Business”).

The Company’s shares were listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing”) on 14
June 2017.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$"), unless otherwise stated, and have been approved
for issue by 22 August 2018.
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Notes to the Conso
AWM RERNEE(E)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
the Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap 622). The consolidated financial statements
have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements are disclosed in Note 4.

(i) New amendments to existing standards adopted
by the Group
The following amendments to standards have been
adopted by the Group for the first time for the financial
year beginning on or after 1 June 2017:

Amendment to HKAS 7 Disclosure initiative

Amendment to HKAS 12 Recognition of deferred tax
assets for unrealised losses

Amendment to HKFRS 12 Disclosure of interests in
other Entities

The adoption of these amendments did not have any
impact on the financial statements for the current year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A ISR (E)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2

(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(i) New standards, amendments to existing standards and (ii)
interpretations that have been issued but are not yet
effective and have not been early adopted.

FESHTHREME @)

2.1 RREE @
B8 1Mk £ %A # &
RERMOFT LR  BAE
EANERT AR B2 -

Effective for annual
periods beginning
on or after

RT5 A= Z2%
HENFEEHBER

HKFRS 9
BAEMBREEREIR
HKFRS 15

& B R S R 1557

HKFRS 16
BT R EERF 1657
HKFRS 17

BAMBREEREI75H
HK(IFRIC)-Int 22

BE (BB BEmEEE
ZE8Eg)-REBENR

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23

BE (BB BRERE
ZEE)-REFE23I%R

Amendments to HKAS 28

BB E 285
({&ET7)
Amendments to HKAS 40
A G LRI FE 405
({&ET )
Amendments to HKFRS 2

BB RS 22
F25 (BETA)
Amendments to HKFRS 4

FEM B ®EER
F A5 (BRI A)

Financial instruments

SR T A

Revenue from contracts with customers and
the related amendments

B &AM KBS

Leases

HE

Insurance contracts

RiEE A

Foreign currency transactions and advance
consideration

SNER 5 RFEMKE

Uncertainty over income tax treatments

ST B T T T

Long-term interests in associates and joint
ventures
REERaERAIZRPER

Transfers of investment property

BREREYE

Classification and measurement of share-based
payment transactions

AN RERN RO SN BERFE

Applying HKFRS 9 financial instruments with
HKFRS 4 Insurance contracts

EREEMBHRELENFIORECMITAR
ERVBREENFIRRBRAL

1 January 2018
=2 e — Bl =18
1 January 2018

—E-N\¥—HA—H
1 January 2019
—E-h&F—H—H
1 January 2021
—F e

1 January 2018

—E-NF—H—H

1 January 2019
— TP

1 January 2019

—E oy % B

1 January 2018
— TS5 g =

1 January 2018

—E-NF-AF B

1 January 2018

== =N\ —J5 =8
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A SRR (8

2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2 FEGHBESME@W
(Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 B EE @)
(i) New standards, amendments to existing standards and (i) EEMEBEAREKXBEHE
interpretations that have been issued but are not yet IBEHMAREETER  IBA
effective and have not been early adopted. (Continued) ERBFTARZRE - (8)

Effective for annual
periods beginning

on or after
RTSAHzsRz2%
HMENFEFEHBER
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment features with negative 1 January 2019
compensation
BB IRE LR REEFFEREHE =23=un=== =
F R (IBET &)
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or contribution of assets between an To be determined
and HKAS 28 investor and its associate or joint venture
BB B IRE LR REEHEBEIEE AR ZEANEED €
FI0REB B B TE
R 2858 (B AT A)
Amendments to HKFRS 1 and As part of the annual improvements to HKFRSs 1 January 2018
HKAS 28 2014-2016 cycle
BEAUBRE LR ERBARMBRERN —_ZE—MFE —E-NF—H—H
F1RRB B AR —E-RFREBZFEBGE
S 285% ({51 A)
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017 1 January 2019
cycle
BEAYBREER ERAMBRELEN —_E—RHFE_FT—+t —E-NAFE—H—H
(fBaT &) FREPFERE
Management have already commenced the assessment EIBE O YR 4R ot g
of the impact of the adoption of the above new B - I AEREET AR ZE
standards, amendments and interpretations to existing e BT A YA
standards and set out below the expected impact on EEBBEXIELRKRRHNE
the Group'’s financial performance and position: HAEZ 2w -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(ii)

New standards, amendments to existing standards and

interpretations that have been issued but are not yet
effective and have not been early adopted. (Continued)

(@)

HKFRS 9 “Financial instruments”

HKFRS 9 addresses the classification, measurement
and derecognition of financial assets and financial
liabilities, introduces new rules for hedge
accounting and a new impairment model for
financial assets.

The Group has reviewed its financial assets and
liabilities and does not expect the new standard
will affect the classification and measurement of
the Group’s financial assets. There will be no
impact on the accounting for the Group's
financial liabilities as the new requirements only
affect the accounting for financial liabilities that
are designated at fair value through profit or loss
and the Group does not have any such liabilities.
The derecognition rules have been transferred
from HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement and have not been changed.

The new impairment model requires the
recognition of impairment provisions based on
expected credit losses (ECL) rather than only
incurred credit losses as is the case under HKAS
39. It applies to financial assets classified at
amortised cost, debt instruments measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income,
contract assets under HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers, lease receivables, loan
commitments and certain financial guarantee
contracts.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(i)

New standards, amendments to existing standards and
interpretations that have been issued but are not yet
effective and have not been early adopted. (Continued)

(a)

HKFRS 9 “Financial instruments” (Continued)

The new standard also introduces expanded
disclosure requirements and changes in
presentation. These are expected to change the
nature and extent of the Group’s disclosures
about its financial instruments particularly in the
year of the adoption of the new standard.

The new standard must be applied for financial
years commencing on or after 1 January 2018.
The Group will apply the new rules retrospectively
from 1 June 2018, with the practical expedients
permitted under the standard. Comparatives for
the year ended 31 May 2018 will not be restated
in the Group’s financial statements for the year
ending 31 May 2019.

For the years ended 31 May 2018 and 2017, all of
the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities
were carried at amortised cost without significant
impairment on the former. Hence, the
implementation of HKFRS 9 is not expected to
result in any significant impact on the Group’s
financial position and results of operations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(ii)

New standards, amendments to existing standards and
interpretations that have been issued but are not yet
effective and have not been early adopted. (Continued)

(®)

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with
Customers”

The HKICPA has issued a new standard for the
recognition of revenue. This will replace HKAS 18
which covers contracts for goods and services and
HKAS 11 which covers construction contracts and
the related literature.

The new standard is based on the principle that
revenue is recognised when control of a good or
service is transferred to a customer.

The standard permits either a full retrospective or
a modified retrospective approach for the
adoption.

Management is assessing the effects of applying
the new standard to the Group’s consolidated
financial statements, as the application may affect
the timing of revenue recognition as a result of
identification of separate performance obligations
and contract modifications. Certain costs incurred
in fulfilling a contract (which are currently
expensed) may need to be recognised as an asset
under HKFRS 15.

More detailed assessment will be carried out by
the Group to estimate the impact of the new
standard on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(i) New standards, amendments to existing standards and
interpretations that have been issued but are not yet
effective and have not been early adopted. (Continued)

(b)

©

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with
Customers” (Continued)

The new standard is mandatory for financial years
commencing on or after 1 January 2018. The
Group intends to adopt the standard using the
modified retrospective approach and the
cumulative impact of the adoption will be
recognised in retained earnings as at 1 June 2018
and that comparatives will not be restated.

HKFRS 16 “Leases”

HKFRS 16 was issued in January 2016. It will result
in almost all leases being recognised on the
statement of financial position, as the distinction
between operating and finance leases is removed.
Under the new standard, an asset (the right to
use the leased item) and a financial liability to pay
rentals are recognised. The only exceptions are
short-term and low-value leases.

The accounting for lessors will not significantly
change.

The standard will affect primarily the accounting
for the Group’s operating leases. As at
31 May 2018, the Group has non-cancellable
operating lease commitments of HK$6,992,047
(2017: HK$3,360,499) as set out in Note 28(b).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(i)

New standards, amendments to existing standards and
interpretations that have been issued but are not yet
effective and have not been early adopted. (Continued)

©

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

The Group has not yet assessed what other
adjustments, if any, are necessary for example
because of the change in the definition of the
lease term and the different treatment of variable
lease payments and of extension and termination
options. It is therefore not yet possible to estimate
the amount of right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities that will have to be recognised on
adoption of the new standard and how this may
affect the Group’s profit or loss and classification
of cash flows going forward.

The new standard is mandatory for financial years
commencing on or after 1 January 2019. At this
stage, the Group does not intend to adopt the
standard before its effective date. The Group
intends to apply the simplified transition approach
and will not restate comparative amounts for the
year prior to first adoption. The new standard is
not expected to apply until the financial year
ending 31 May 2020.

Other than those analysed above, management
does not anticipate any significant impact on the
Group’s financial position and results of
operations upon adopting the above standards,
amendments and interpretations to existing
standards that are not yet effective.

N
w3

B % R B w ()

2 FESTHBREEMEm@m

2.1 RBEXE @)

(i) CEMEERERBEAKR
RERMOMIER RE
HAERT AR RE - (B)

© BEBHBEHREZERZE
1652 [FHE | (&)
AEBEATHERS
EEMMNEELDSA
B(wmg) WwABEE
MR ESZNE AR
HogHENK B
HERKIEENTE
BEFASMEEN
AE- B AEH
KEE At R P H
AE Bl 1% 78 FE SR B {5 FB
EEENMHEEAEN
S8 ARARKRMMA
TEAEENIEBERM
HEeEREMDHE -

ZHEABR=F
—h&E—-—A—HB=%zZ
% B 16 ) B B S oA
Bl A BRI A&
R S = ==
HMBBER - A&
BN A AR E
EWAETSENE R
KM —@EEE/L
Re®e xMERTE
B reEEE=_Z
=T S Fl
LE BT JE AT R4 o

Lo EN E
B EE MRS Lt
AREREN - HEE
Al 2 & kB &/ A
SHAKEMBAN
K& & R EE KA
EARE-

—E-N\EFR

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited

97



98

N

2

ire BRI A ()

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.2 Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the

date that control ceases.

Inter-company transactions, balances, income and expenses
on transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Profits and losses resulting from inter-company transactions
that are recognised in assets are also eliminated. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result
in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transaction-
that is, as transactions with the owners of the subsidiary in
their capacity as owners. The difference between fair value of
any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the
carrying amount of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in
equity. Gains or losses on disposal to non-controlling interests
are also recorded in equity. Non-controlling interests in the
results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, statement

of changes in equity respectively.

In the Company'’s statement of financial position, investments
in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost
also includes direct attributable costs of investment. The
results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on

the basis of dividends received and receivable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A ISR (E)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.3 Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

(0

Functional and presentation currency

[tems included in the consolidated financial statements
are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (“the
functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in HK$, which is the
Company’s functional currency and the Group’s
presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions or valuation where
items are re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions
and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in profit or loss.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group
entities (none of which has the currency of a hyper-
inflationary economy) that have a functional currency
different from the presentation currency are translated
into the presentation currency as follows:

— assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at the
closing rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;

— income and expenses for each income statement
are translated at average exchange rates (unless
this average is not a reasonable approximation of
the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of
the transactions); and

— all resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.4 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in @ manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is
responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been identified
as the executive directors of the Company who make strategic

decisions.

2.5 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly

attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are
expensed in profit or loss during the financial period in which

they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate cost over their

estimated useful lives, as follows:

Visual display equipment
event, where appropriate

Furniture and other 4 years
equipment
Motor vehicles 3-5 years

Leasehold improvements Over the lease term

Visual display equipment is depreciated over a useful life of
eight years, except for those which are custom made for a
particular project/event. Such equipment is depreciated over

the duration of the project/event.

The assets’ useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if

appropriate, at each reporting date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.5

2.6

2.7

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.6).

Gains and losses on disposal are determined by comparing
proceeds with the carrying amount. These are included in
other gains, net in the statement of comprehensive income.

Impairment of non-financial assets

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value
less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels
for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-
generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill
that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal
of the impairment at each year end date.

Financial assets

(i) Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets as loans and
receivables. The classification depends on the purpose
for which the financial assets were acquired.
Management determines the classification of its
financial assets at initial recognition.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. They are included in current
assets, except for the amounts that are settled or
expected to be settled more than twelve months after
the end of the reporting period. These are classified as
non-current assets. The Group's loans and receivables
comprise trade receivables, deposits and other
receivables, amount due from the immediate holding
company, term deposits with initial terms of over three
months, pledged short-term bank deposits and cash
and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement of
financial position.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.7 Financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Recognition and measurement

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade-date — the date on which the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus
transaction costs for all financial assets not carried at
fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows
from the investments have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially
all risks and rewards of ownership. Loans and
receivables are subsequently carried at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

2.8 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the statement of financial position when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally
enforceable right must not be contingent on future events
and must be enforceable in the normal course of business
and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the
Group or the counterparty.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A ISR (E)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2 FEESHBEHSE@
(Continued)

29 SREERE —RBHEMX

2.9 Impairment of financial assets — assets

carried at amortised cost

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or
group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a
group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses
are incurred only if there is objective evidence of impairment
as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or
events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of
the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be
reliably estimated.

Evidence of impairment may include indications that the
debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing significant
financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or
principal payments, the probability that they will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation, and where
observable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease
in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears
or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

For loans and receivables category, the amount of the loss is
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows
(excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred)
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest
rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced and the
amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss. If a loan has
a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any
impairment loss is the current effective interest rate
determined under the contract. As a practical expedient, the
Group may measure impairment on the basis of an
instrument’s fair value using an observable market price.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
reversal of the previously recognised impairment loss is
recognised in profit or loss.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.10Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
services performed in the ordinary course of business. If
collection of trade and other receivables is expected in one
year or less, they are classified as current assets. If not, they

are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the

effective interest method, less allowance for impairment.

2.11Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents include cash at banks, time deposits held at call
with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with

original maturities of three months or less.

2.12Payables

Payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. Payables are classified as current liabilities if payment
is due within one year or less. If not, they are presented as

non-current liabilities.

2.13Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably
estimated. Restructuring provisions comprise lease termination
penalties and employee termination payments. Provisions are

not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is
determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole.
A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow
with respect to any one item included in the same class of

obligations may be small.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.13 Provisions (Continued)

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation
using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of
time is recognised as interest expense.

2.14Leases

(i) Operating leases
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and
rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under
operating leases (net of any incentives received from the
lessor) are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the period of the lease.

(ii) Finance leases

The Group leases certain property, plant and equipment.
Leases of property, plant and equipment where the
Group has substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance leases
are capitalised at the lease’s commencement at the
lower of the fair value of the leased property and the
present value of the minimum lease payment.

Each lease payment is allocated between the liability
and finance charges. The corresponding rental
obligations, net of finance charges, are included in
other long-term payables. The interest element of the
finance cost is recognised in profit or loss over the lease
period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the liability for
each period. The property, plant and equipment
acquired under finance leases is depreciated over the
shorter of the useful life of the asset and the lease term.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.15Borrowings and borrowing costs

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
carried at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value
is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the

borrowings using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised
as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is
probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down.
In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw-down occurs.
To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that
some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is
capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity services and
amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability

for at least twelve months after the year end date.

Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the year in

which they are incurred.

2.16 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the year comprises current and deferred
income tax. Tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the
extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case the
tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or

directly in equity, respectively.

(@) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
year end date in the countries where the Group
operates and generates taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with
respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation
is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions
where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to

be paid to the tax authorities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A ISR (E)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.16 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b)

(9

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, the deferred income tax is not accounted for
if it arises from initial recognition of goodwill or from
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
other than a business combination that at the time of
the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable
profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using
tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the year end date and are
expected to apply when the related deferred income tax
asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is
settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will
be available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except
for deferred income tax liability where the timing of the
reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the
Group and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when
the deferred income taxes assets and liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the taxable entity or different taxable entities
where there is an intention to settle the balances on a
net basis.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.17 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

2.18 Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable for the sale of services in the ordinary course of
the Group's activities. Revenue is shown net of discounts.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue
can be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the entity and specific criteria have been
met for each of the Group's activities as described below. The
amount of revenue is not considered to be reliably measurable
until all contingencies relating to the sale have been resolved.
The Group bases its estimates on historical results, taking into
consideration the type of customer, the type of transaction
and the specifics of each arrangement.

(i) Revenue from visual display solution services

Revenue from visual display solution services is
recognised after each show or event of a project is
performed.

(i) Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis
using the effective interest method.

(iii) Handling income
Handling income is recognised when the services are
performed.

(iv) Equipment rental income

Equipment rental income is recognised on a straight-line
basis over the term of the lease.

108 In Technical Productions Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018

idated Financial Statements (Continued)

FEEHBREREBE @

217 B A

BRD B DD HERBMH
%ﬁi%%%? TH) IR B AR AR
AR R RS RESR MK
(FERHEA) -

218 =R

WaBEAEE - REHBEF
HERBHERIBBEREND
FE - WERHRITINEIR -

EWEERERAESE RK
REMmA AR AZE B RA
SENSREHENE T X
B TE R - AR B R RE SR et o
EXERLENMARINFEXY
ERE WESBETERBERRE
WA EFFE - AEEENEER
BOEEEPRRN RZBER
BRBEREEL A o

() RERGETRERLDZER
I H W
KB GBERERTER
Bk EREREL XA
BIASHMITRRER -

@iy FEHA
MBWAKBERM XX
12 B ) L ) FE BB

(i) FEEWA
FEE W AR MH® RS
EE%\°

(iv) *”1%7@%14&)&
REHAERAREHRAR
B ARRTER °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A ISR (E)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.19Employee benefits

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for
the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of
services rendered by the employees up to the year end
date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.

Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for
bonuses, based on performance and taking into
consideration the profit or loss attributable to the
Company'’s shareholders after certain adjustments. The
Group recognises a provision where contractually
obliged or where there is a past practice that has
created a constructive obligation.

Pension obligation

The Group participates in various defined contribution
retirement benefit plans which are available to all
relevant employees. These plans are generally funded
through payments to schemes established by
governments or trustee administered funds. A defined
contribution plan is a pension plan under which the
Group pays contributions on mandatory, contractual or
voluntary basis into a separate entity. The Group has no
legal or constructive obligations to pay further
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets
to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee
services in the current and prior periods. The Group’s
contributions to the defined contribution plans are
expensed as incurred.

2 IES
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(i)

(i)

(iii)
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Financial risk management

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
cash flow and fair value interest rate risk, foreign exchange
risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk
management programme focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse
effects on the Group's financial performance.

Management regularly manages the financial risks of the
Group. Because of the simplicity of the financial structure and
the current operations of the Group, no hedging activities are
undertaken by management.

(a)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

Other than term deposits with initial terms of over three
months, pledged short-term bank deposits and cash
and cash equivalents, the Group has no other interest-
bearing assets. The Group’s bank balances earn
interests at low interest rates which are not significant.
Certain bank borrowings at floating rates expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk.

At 31 May 2018 and 2017, if the interest rates on these
loans had been 50 basis points higher/lower with all
other variables held constant, the Group's finance costs
would have been approximately HK$54,989 and
HK$94,434, respectively, higher/lower.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

(9

Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong and is
exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various
currency exposures, primarily with respect to United
states dollars (“US$"”), Macau Patacas (“MOP”) and
Renminbi (“RMB"). Foreign exchange risk arises when
future commercial transactions, recognised assets and
liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the
group entities’ functional currency.

In the opinion of the directors, US$ is reasonably stable
with HK$ under the Linked Exchange Rate System, and
accordingly, the Group considers the foreign exchange
risk is low and no sensitivity analysis is performed
relative to the US$.

At 31 May 2018 and 2017, if RMB had weakened/
strengthened by 5% against HK$ with all other variables
held constant, profit/loss for the years ended 31 May
2018 and 2017 would have been approximately
HK$548,746 higher/lower and HK$291,012 lower/
higher, respectively, mainly as a result of foreign
exchange gains/losses on translation of payables
denominated in RMB.

Credit risk

Credit risk mainly arises from cash and cash equivalents,
pledged short term bank deposits, term deposits with
initial terms of over three months, trade receivables,
prepayments, deposits and other receivables and
amount due from the immediate holding company. The
carrying amounts of these balances in the consolidated
statements of financial position represent the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its
financial assets.

Management has a credit policy in place and the
exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an
ongoing basis.

N
%/T\/\

15 R R M A ()

3 %mﬁﬂﬁfﬁafi(,ﬁ
31 ¢RAMEZE @

(b)

(©)

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited

SMNEE L B
AEEFTEZEEFEEE
TEHZEEEMELN
%EHA TEHEXT(=E
i) B (CRM%E]) R
/\E%(U\EMJ)EE@ i
RERRREERS
BREENRB BN
%ﬁ#%l%%%%%%
REL -

EXZRA EMBEXGE
T ETHETEERE
At AEERBEEXTH
7 # S BE L B B B 3
EITHRE DN

R—-EBE—NFE=_F—+
ERA=+—"H WARE
HABTRE FE5%:

FIBHEMBEESRFTE &
E_EFE-NFER_F—+
EH A=+ FTHIEEER
R SEi=F =z b
L #)548,7463%8 7T R R 4
EN291,0128 0 EEX &
REHRARNBEUARKE
B 8 1< 7K TE M SN BE Uk 25 TS
BRTE -

A_,(_\:
l:l,\

=5

B Ik/ﬁﬁ/\iﬁ,/ﬂé&
ﬁ@vﬁ% BK IR AR
TEX REBEBE=1EH
NESHER B 5 KKK
B EMNRIE - REARE
@EW%EM&EWEﬁ
% I TIE o LR
ﬁé%%#ﬁ%mﬁﬁﬁﬁ
RASEH S /LB ZE P&
EHHEREERR -

EEECHEFERE X

EREERERSTEERR

—2-NFFEHR 111



112

4R A

N

3

B 75 R 3R BT = (A8)

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(0

(d)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group maintains a credit policy for its customers
and the credit terms given vary according to the
business activities. The financial strength of and the
length of business relationship with the customers, on
an individual basis, are considered in arriving at the
respective credit terms. Overdue balances are reviewed
regularly by management.

The credit quality of the debtors is assessed based on
the financial position of the debtors as well as past
experience of the Group in dealing with respective
debtors. The Group’s historical experience in collection
of deposits and receivables falls within recorded
allowance and the directors are of the opinion that
adequate provision for uncollectible receivable has been
made.

As at 31 May 2018 and 2017, majority of the Group’s
bank balances are placed in those banks and financial
institutions which are independently rated with a high
credit rating. Management does not expect any losses
from non-performance by these banks and financial
institutions as they have no default history in the past.
There is no concentration of credit risk as the Group's
bank balances and deposits were mainly deposited in
financial institutions with good credit ratings, and the
Group has a large number of counterparties for
receivables. Management does not expect any losses
from non-performance by these financial institutions
and counterparties.

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining
sufficient cash and cash equivalents and the availability
of funding through an adequate amount of committed
credit facilities. The Group’s primary cash requirements
have been for additions of machinery and equipment,
and payment for purchases and operating expenses.
The Group mainly finances its working capital
requirements through internal resources and bank
borrowings.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(d)

re M mR N

(%)

3 eREARERE @
31 ¢RAMEZE @

Liquidity risk (Continued) (d) RBELRR (E)
The Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and NEFERLHEIFESFR
cash equivalents considered adequate by the directors EMAAREBELERMESE
to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the S RBRERESRER =
effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The directors EmE=BRENBRSEE
monitor the utilisation of bank borrowings to ensure SEEBYKE - EHERR
adequate unutilised banking facilities and compliance TEREBABR  AERA
with loan covenants. }_& F AR AEITEHE R
BEREH -
The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities TREBEELHFEREZS
into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining #FEE A% TEME B
period at the year end date to the contractual maturity EENERABES T A
date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the FAE|EIAHR - TRETBE
contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due MEBEREHRMERS
within twelve months equal their carrying balances as e ARERIRFETRTK W
the impact of discounting is not significant. R12ME B NEEIM &2
REREE -
Within
1 year/
repayable Between 1 Between 2
ondemand and2years and5 years Total
15 R,1&
EREE 1226 2855 et
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
T BT BT BT
At 31 May 2018 R=ZZ—N\F
HFA=+—H
Other payables and 1 & {5 5 18 &
accrued liabilities EitaE 20,283,245 195,000 — 20,478,245
Bank borrowings (Note) R 77 &z (Mf#£) 10,997,772 — — 10,997,772
Obligations under Bh A& T ERE
finance leases (Note)  (Fff &%) 117,250 — — 117,250
31,398,267 195,000 — 31,593,267
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3  Financial risk management (Continued) 3 REARERE@®
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 31 €@t EEEZE @)
(d) Liquidity risk (Continued) (d) R"EBELE(E)
Within
1 year/
repayable on Between 1 Between 2

demand and 2 years and 5 years Total
1R/ 1R

ERER 1524 2FES4 et

HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$

BT & TT BT T

At 31 May 2017 R=-ZE—+tF

EFA=+—H
Other payables and 4 & 5 718 K&
accrued liabilities EEtRE 28,791,568 5,128,200 3,496,500 37,416,268
Bank borrowings (Note) R 17 f& 3 (M9 5F) 18,886,885 — — 18,886,885
Obligations under Bh & T &R e
finance leases (Note) (B &%) 273,270 135,000 191,250 599,520
Shareholder's loan AR ER &%
(Note 21) (BF5E21) — 14,650,000 — 14,650,000
47,951,723 19,913,200 3,687,750 71,552,673
Note: The maturity analysis of the bank borrowings and obligations Mzt : BT EZIRBEHEREN
under finance leases is disclosed with reference to the agreed DA TR E RS
repayment schedules as set out in the relevant agreements, B 1 00 17 8 8 2R st &I 3 e =t
taking into account the clause of repayable on demand. BB KB RIESCE T AR

= o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(d) Liquidity risk (Continued)
Without taking into account the clause of repayment
on demand, the maturity analysis of the bank
borrowings and obligations under finance leases are
analysed as follows:

re M mR N

3 eREARERE @

(%)

31 e EREZR @

RBEE R (&)

i I Bt Be iR B SR FRIK
X RITEREBEHE A
ERRMAM oM MT

(d)

Within 1
year/
repayable  Between 1 Between 2
ondemand and2years and 5 years Total
158,/ RE
REE 122F 2E5F # 5t
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
B TT BT BT BTT
At 31 May 2018 R_ZE—N\&F
ARA=+—H 4,248,005 4,130,929 3,745,507 12,124,441
At 31 May 2017 R=F—+t&F
AA=+—H 7,683,864 5,358,365 8,350,264 21,392,493
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.2 Capital Management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for
other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets
to reduce debt.

The capital structure of the Group consists of shareholders’
equity and total borrowings. Capital is managed so as to
maximise the return to shareholders while maintaining a
capital base to allow the Group to operate effectively in the
marketplace and sustain future development of the business.
The Group monitors capital on the basis of gearing ratio. This
ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net
debt is calculated as total borrowings (including “obligations
under finance leases”, “shareholder’s loan” and “current and
non-current borrowings” as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position) less cash and bank balances
(including “term deposits with initial terms of over three
months”, “pledged short-term bank deposits” and “cash and
cash equivalents”). Total capital is calculated as “equity” as
shown in the consolidated statement of financial position plus
net debt.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.2

3.3

Capital Management (Continued)

The gearing ratios as at 31 May 2018 and 2017 are as
follows:

4T A

N

B 755 i 2% T R (48

3 eREARERE @

3.2

BEXREE (®)

R-F-—NER_F—+FHH
=t BEMEERBLENT

As at As at

31 May 2018 31 May 2017

RZBE-NE R-ZZE—LF

EA=+—-H HA=+—H

HK$ HKS

BT BT

Total borrowings (Note 19, 21 and 22) ez (BT sE19 ~ 21 % 22) 11,106,820 33,685,238

Less: cash and bank balances (Note 16) o IRE NIRRT

(FFzE16) (46,846,985) (20,003,255)

Net debt FEE N/A &R 13,681,983
Total equity ey k) 107,146,455 24,613,072
Total capital BEARBER 107,146,455 38,295,055
Gearing ratio BEABLE N/A T3 A 36%

As at 31 May 2018, the gearing ratio decrease was mainly
resulted from the listing proceeds received, capitalisation of
the shareholder’s loan, cash inflow generated from operating
activities, and the repayment of bank borrowings during the
year.

Fair value estimation

The carrying values less impairment provision of trade and
other receivables and payables are a reasonable approximation
of their fair values. The fair value of financial liabilities for
disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future
contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that
is available to the Group for similar financial instruments.

3.3
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4 Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below:

(a) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Management determines the estimated useful lives, and
related depreciation charge for its property, plant and
equipment. The estimates are based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives of property, plant and
equipment of similar nature and functions, the durability, the
expected repairs and maintenance and the future demand of
equipment. Management will increase the depreciation
charge where useful lives are less than previously estimated
useful lives. It will write off or write-down technically obsolete
or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.
Actual economic lives may differ from estimated useful lives.
Periodic review could result in a change in depreciable lives
and therefore affect the depreciation charge in future periods.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4 Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(Continued)

(b) Impairment of non-financial assets

(c)

Non-financial assets including property, plant and equipment
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. The recoverable amounts have been determined
based on value-in-use calculations or fair value less costs to
sell. These calculations require the use of judgements and
estimates.

Management judgement is required in the area of asset
impairment particularly in assessing: (i) whether an event has
occurred that may indicate that the related asset values may
not be recoverable; (ii) whether the carrying value of asset can
be supported by the recoverable amount, being the higher of
fair value less costs to sell and net present value of future
cash flows which are estimated based upon the continued
use of the asset in the business; and (iii) the appropriate key
assumptions to be applied in preparing cash flow projections
including whether these cash flow projections are discounted
using an appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions selected
by management in assessing impairment, including the
discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in the cash
flow projections, could materially affect the net present value
used in the impairment test and as a result affect the Group’s
financial condition and results of operations.

If there is a significant adverse change in the projected
performance and the resulting future cash flow projections, it
may be necessary to take an impairment charge to profit or
loss.

Impairment of receivables

The Group’s management determines the provision for
impairment of receivables based on an assessment of the
recoverability of the receivables. The assessment is based on
the credit history of its debtors and the current market
condition, and requires the use of judgements and estimates.
Management reassesses the provision at each reporting date.
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4 Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(Continued)

(d) Current and deferred taxation

The Group is subject to income taxes in various jurisdictions.
Significant judgement is required in determining the provision
for income taxes. The Group recognises liabilities or
anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether
additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of
these matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and
deferred tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised when management
considers it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the temporary differences or tax losses
can be utilised. When the expectation is different from the
original estimate, such differences will impact the recognition
of deferred income tax assets and taxation charges in the
period in which such estimate is changed.

5 Segment information

Management has determined the operating segments based on the
reports reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker that are
used to make strategic decisions. These reports are prepared on the
same basis as these consolidated financial statements.

The chief operating decision-maker is identified as the executive
directors of the Company. The executive directors review the
Group’s consolidated financial statements mainly from a single
business perspective as the Group is mainly engaged in the
provision of visual display solution services.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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5 Segment information (Continued) 5

The Group’s revenue is attributable to the following geographical

markets:
Year ended 31 May

BERA=t-HLEEE
2018 2017
—E-N\F T—+F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Hong Kong a5 23,217,926 27,567,750
PRC R 36,800,011 33,005,078
Taiwan =91 9,306,215 3,274,805
Macau el 7,613,294 1,735,000
Others H A 6,669,843 1,237,141
83,607,289 66,819,774
The Group’s total non-current assets were located in the following RNREBII R EERTEEEANE FHE

regions based on the countries/place of domicile of the companies
comprising the Group:

TRAMEBRR ML EMR TR :

As at As at
31 May 2018 31 May 2017
RZBE-NE R_ZFT—t&F
EA=+—H ®#E=+—H
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Total assets: BERE:

Hong Kong E B 140,880,422 93,175,206
PRC A [ 7,940,539 9,608,375
Macau Y PY 779,041 —
149,600,002 102,783,581

Non-current assets: EMEBEE :
Hong Kong EB 79,016,065 63,291,440
PRC =8 2,562,023 1,649,197
Macau YR PY 424,025 —
82,002,113 64,940,637
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(Continued)
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5 Segment information (Continued) 5 2%EH @
For the year ended 31 May 2018, there were 3 customers (2017: 3 A =22 — \E=5m )51 = o — [Bl e &2
customers) who individually contributed over 10% of the Group’s B A=ZZRBE(ZE—+LtF: =%
total revenue. Revenue contributed from each of these customers is ZEE)VSRIEBT $ E 4 U A &%
as follows: 10% - ZERF DAl ZERMBABT :
Year ended 31 May
BEZA=+t—HLEE
2018 2017
—E-N\F — T
HK$ HK$
BT I
Customer | ZAI 36,966,384 27,159,455
Customer |l ZAI 13,220,300 9,012,250
Customer Il = 12,046,800 N/A i@
Customer IV 2BV N/A FEH 7,360,000
62,233,484 43,531,705
Note: Revenue from Customer Il amounted to HK$1,968,750 and did not exceed M BEzE—_T—t&ERA=T—BILEE"
10% of total revenue during the year ended 31 May 2017. Revenue from L= ﬁ;a”mf]qg(ﬁn;gﬂ 968,750 7T+ B
Customer IV amounted to HK$1,976,600 and did not exceed 10% of total BEWFENI0% BE—ZT— N\EFA
revenue during the year ended 31 May 2018. T+ —BLHEE KEEENVHKE B
1,976,600 7T + BB A8 I 5 K9 10% ©
6 Revenue and other income 6 WmkHEAMUA
(i) Revenue (i) W=
Year ended 31 May
BEZA=+t—HLEE
2018 2017
—E-N\F = —pks
HK$ HK$
BT & TT
Revenue from visual display solution services 18 15 %8 7= fif & 75 2 AR 76 Uk 25 83,249,189 66,686,774
Equipment rental income REHERA 358,100 133,000
83,607,289 66,819,774
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6 Revenue and other income (Continued) 6 WHERHEMW A @m

(ii) Other income (i) HEalA

Year ended 31 May
BEAA=+t-HLEE

2018 2017
—B-NF —E—+fF
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Handling income FEE 125,657 371,291
7 Other gains, net 7 HftzmFE

Year ended 31 May
BEIA=+—HLEE

2018 2017

—E2-NEF SZ—tF

HKS$ HK$

BT T

Net exchange gains BE 5 W a5 58 173,071 146,625
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Expenses by nature

(Continued)

8 BMHIINEX

Year ended 31 May
BETA=+—HLEE

2018 2017
—E-N\E =E3—dpts
HK$ HK$
BT AT
Auditor’s remuneration 1% B Em 2 BN 1,250,000 1,100,000
Consultancy and technician fees ua B R EME 304,700 654,000
Cost of equipment and spare parts R KB 1 AR 1,312,207 1,028,556
Depreciation of property, plant and ME WEREEITE
equipment (Note 14) (FF5E14) 15,316,596 11,484,774
Employee benefit expenses (Note 9) B THEMMAZ () 19,230,518 12,597,843
Equipment rental charges HBHER 1,830,559 1,371,800
Freight and logistics expenses BEEBNORE 3,794,831 3,317,814
Legal and professional expenses FRRBEEER 2,175,436 221,533
Sub-contracting charges NBE 5,455,145 6,770,460
Travelling expenses ZIRE 1,131,901 604,911
Operating lease rentals in respect of HEMENKLHERS
rental premises 2,182,585 1,819,070
Professional service fees in respect of EREE TN EERESE
listing preparation — 17,597,478
Others Hib 5,619,410 4,044,069
Total cost of services and administrative REKANITHAS %58
expenses 59,603,888 62,612,308
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9 EE®AFEX

9 Employee benefit expenses

Year ended 31 May
BETA=+—HLEE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Wages, salaries and allowances, excluding IE HFEekEM(TEE

directors’ emoluments EEML) 14,665,648 9,515,590
Directors’ emoluments (Note 34) EE5M 4 (ftzE34) 3,119,416 1,472,600

Pension costs — contributions to defined BREER— MR T HKETE
contribution plans (Note) D) 1,445,454 1,609,653
19,230,518 12,597,843

Note:

The Group has arranged for its employees to join the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”), a defined contribution scheme managed by an
independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme, In Technical Productions Limited (the
employer) and its employees make monthly contributions to the scheme generally at 5%
of the employees’ earnings as defined under the Mandatory Provident Fund legislation.
The monthly contributions of each of the employer and the employees are subject to a
maximum contribution of HK$1,500 per month and thereafter contributions are
voluntary. The Group has no further obligations for post-retirement benefits beyond
the contributions.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC, the Group contributes to state-
administered retirement plans for employees in the PRC. For the PRC, the employees
contribute up to 8% of their basic salaries, while the Group contributes approximately
17% to 22% of such salaries. The Group has no further obligations for the actual
payment of pensions or post-retirement benefits beyond these contributions. The state-
administrated retirement plans are responsible for the entire pension obligations
payable to the retired employees.

There are no forfeited contributions to defined contribution plans for the years ended
31 May 2018 and 2017. As at 31 May 2018 and 2017, there are HK$375,215 and
HK$734,750 contributions payable to the defined contribution plans respectively.

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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9 Employee benefit expenses (Continued) 9 EERFEX@®
(a) Five highest paid individuals () ABEEEEFEMAL
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in AEBREZE-_ZTZ—/\FHA
the Group for each of the years ended 31 May 2018 include S+ HIEERENREE S
two directors (2017: one director). The emoluments payable EEMATBEREES(ZZ
to the five highest paid individuals are as follows: —+F: —ZEFR) -EBNREZKR
SEHEMALOMESHOT

Year ended 31 May
BETZA=+t—-BLFEE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Salaries, other allowances and benefits He o HER REF 4,882,441 2,999,050
Pension costs — contributions to defined  EKE BB — MR E XK
contribution plans sHEIE K 89,975 77,042
4,972,416 3,076,092
The emoluments fell within the following bands: B4 AT & E :
Number of individuals
BEAH
Year ended 31 May
BELZA=+t—BLEE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—iF
Emolument bands = B &8 [
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = % 1,000,000 7T 2 4
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 L &=
1,500,000% 7T 3 1
5 5
During the years ended 31 May 2018 and 2017, no RBEE - T—N\ER-_ZT—+4F
emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors ERA=+—HILEE XEEH
or other members of the five highest paid individuals as an ERAAEAMEER AL RS EHFINA
inducement to join, upon joining the Group, leave the Group +hMEMKES NS A
or as compensation for loss of office. Wl EMARER  IMAXREEFH
% HMAASEENEBHIELRE

Beh(E
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10 Finance costs, net 10 BB AEFE

Year ended 31 May
BETA=+—HLEE

2018 2017

ZE-N\F —T—tF

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Bank interest income AT A B UA 375,879 3,966

Interest on bank borrowings RITIEKFI B (751,196) (1,001,367)
Finance charges on obligations under finance FEAEAENFREE H

leases (50,333) (24,842)

Imputed interest on payables for equipment R EZEER R (993,140) (385,995)

Imputed interest on shareholder’s loan [RERE R 2 HEF L

(Note 21) (Bt &E21) (381,872) (381,872)

Finance costs B 765 B AR (2,176,541) (1,794,076)

Finance costs, net B T B AR VR BR (1,800,662) (1,790,110)
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11 Income tax expense 11 FEHAEX

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided for at the rate of 16.5% EEMNEFHIKEEE_"ZE—NER_Z

on the estimated assessable profit for the years ended 31 May 2018 —t+tERA=+—HIEEE®HE

and 2017. The companies of the Group established in the PRC are FEFR B % T LA B T 16.5% =T 18 £ 44 -

subject to the PRC enterprise income tax at the rate of 25% for the EFREFZITZARAEFRATREE_-_F

years ended 31 May 2018 and 2017. —NER-_ZE—+ER/A=+—HIt
FRIBR25% 2 BB EREHB X
B -

Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the Hibh A ER R SN IE NI AE

applicable rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the BEREMER FZFERRITHNERH

Group operates, based on existing legislation, interpretations and R.IBEEHEAEELEE 2ELEM

practices in respect thereof. o

The amounts of taxation charged to profit or loss represent: BREZNGRETHIBES%EE

Year ended 31 May
BELA=+t—HLEE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+tF
HK$ HK$
BT BT

Current income tax: BNEAFT1S B -
Hong Kong profits tax %;’,% RS 2,661,828 756,691
Deferred income tax (Note 24) iR AE PR 15 A (P 5224) 1,912,017 2,841,124
4,573,845 3,597,815
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11 Income tax expense (Continued) 11 FEHEIw@W
The taxation on the profit before income tax differs from the MAEEBRATSEAMNNTHEEBEAS RN ANABS
theoretical amount that would arise using the taxation rate of Hong BN ERHEMEERESRE M NAR:

Kong as follows:

Year ended 31 May
BERA=t—-BHLEE

2018 2017
—E-NF —E—tF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Profit before income tax R BT 15 %% B i Al 22,501,467 2,935,272
Calculated at a taxation rate of 16.5% R E165%TH 3,712,742 484,320
Effect of different tax rates for different TR B R 7[R R 52 2
countries 185,232 25275
Income not subject to taxation 578 80 75 WA (49,561) (5,605)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes R 251,556 3,058,086
Tax losses not recognised REERTIAE 18 958,571 599,044
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses & Fi 5t Al 7k #E 72 %1 18 &5 18 (319,695) (563,305)
Tax concession (Note) T IR R R (B 5E) (165,000) —
Taxation charge HIEEH 4,573,845 3,597,815
Note: Pursuant to the enactment of two-tiered profit tax rates by the Inland Revenue W REBRBR/IRBRNBE T -NF/
Department (“IRD”) from the year of assessment 2018/19 onwards, the —NEFNEFERME) ARG TS
Group's first HK$2 million of assessable profits under Hong Kong profits tax AREBE—F-/\FAA=+—HAL
during the year ended 31 May 2018 is subject to a tax rate of 8.25%. The FEZEHBBNSHE T ERB R M2
Group’s remaining assessable profits above HK$2 million will continue to be BEBTEMES 2% T E - AEBKBT
subject to a tax rate of 16.5%. ERB AN R 2E BB TR EE KRB =

16.5% &1 8. ©
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13

(4

Earnings/(loss) per share

Basic earnings/(loss) per share is calculated by dividing the profit/(loss)
attributable to equity holders of the Company by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the years ended
31 May 2018 and 2017. The weighted average number of ordinary
shares used for such purpose has been retrospectively adjusted for
the effects of the issued shares in connection with the capitalisation
of shares which took place on 14 June 2017 as set out in Note 17.

12

FREF (BE)

FREARN(BE) DERBEZ
L NE R R e = —
BIEFE  NRBRERAE ARBGR
R/ (BR)BRAEBITEBRMET
B HEE o EBRINE TS EC K
HUTAE Tt FRNATEARNG
EXRHBERTRO ZFE ML ERRE
BHHE -

Year ended 31 May
BELZA=+—-BLFEE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+tF
Profit/(loss) attributable to owners of RARBEAR AEMLRF,
the Company (HK$) (EB#8) (BT 17,919,344 (443,192)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares & %17 & i I hn4E £ 19 &
in issue 792,876,712 600,000,000
Basic earnings/(loss) per share (HK cents) FREARNEF(EE) GBI) 2.26 (0.07)
As there were no diluted potential ordinary shares outstanding HRAREBEE—_ZE—N\ER_ZT—+F

during the years ended 31 May 2018 and 2017, diluted earnings
per share is the same as basic earnings per share.

Non-controlling interests

The total comprehensive income and loss for the years ended 31
May 2018 and 2017 attributable to non-controlling interests
amount to HK$12,742 and HK$224,181, respectively, which are
attributable to two individual shareholders of Shenzhen Shiji
Tiansheng Technology Limited (“SSTTL”). SSTTL mainly incurred
operating expenses of approximately HK$2,263,439 and
HK$999,256 for the years ended 31 May 2018 and 2017, and it did
not contribute significant revenue, total assets and total liabilities to
the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

14 Property, plant and equipment

4 A

N

14 ME - BERFZE

ST RERMT(E)

Visual Furniture
display  and other Motor Leasehold
equipment equipment vehicles improvements Total
REER HER HEWME
®RiE HttRE AE #1& st
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
T BT BT BT BT
At cost: RS
At 1 June 2016 A =2 =75 4E
~H—H 83,613,443 1,021,207 955,247 1,135,722 815,725,626
Additions NE 36,367,953 98,745 — — 36,466,698
Exchange difference  [&E 4 Z%& (69,763) (428) — (2,354) (72,545)
At 31 May 2017 RZE—tF
5 E = — 8 119,911,633 Uil 11€), 524 955,247 1,188,875 1123 119,779
Additions PN=T 30,775,383 200,839 972,215 3689328 BPRIVES 6O,
Exchange difference  [& X = 58 150,739 2,620 — 4,125 157,484
At 31 May 2018 RZE—N\F
AA=+—8H 150,837,755 1,322,983 1,927,462 1,506,432 155,594,632
Accumulated EFHER
depreciation and WA :
impairment:
At 1 June 2016 AT —REF
NH—H 44,956,794 822,663 381,616 781,036 46,942,109
Charge for the year FAZH 10,777,949 97,211 296,582 313,032 11,484,774
Exchange difference  [& i, = %8 (14,105) (79) — (311) (14,495)
At 31 May 2017 RZT—+F
AA=+—H 55,720,638 919), 715 678,198 1,093,757 58,412,388
Charge for the year FAZH 14,791,135 118,894 369,822 36,/45HISESHIGES O 6
Exchange difference [ 3 = %8 45,182 505 — 1,852 47,539
At 31 May 2018 RZZE—N\F
AA=+—H 70,556,955 1,039,194 1,048,020 1,132,354 % YSWw68523
Net book value: BRTEVHME -
At 31 May 2018 R-T—N\F
HFA=+—H 80,280,800 283,789 879,442 374,078 81,818,109
At 31 May 2017 RITE—LF
Gal)5 = = 64,190,995 199,729 277,049 39,618 64,707,391
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14 Property, plant and equipment (Continued) 14 ¥ BERRZE@
The carrying amounts of motor vehicles held under hire purchase A 23 =SS S — Sk =S
contracts at 31 May 2018 and 2017 were HK$69,262 and =t+—H BEBEHBESNEENARE
HK$277,049, respectively. 7 BR B 5 5l £ 69,262 7% 7T &% 277,049
5 I

Year ended 31 May
BEAA=+—BHLFE

2018 2017

—E-N\EF —E—+tF

HK$ HK$

BT & TT

Cost of services AR 75 B AR 14,791,135 10,777,949

Administrative expenses THRAX 525,461 706,825

Depreciation charge for the year FAMEEHR 15,316,596 11,484,774

15 Trade and other receivables, prepayments 15 EZ R EMEWFIE - 78+
and deposits HERIRS

As at As at

31 May 2018 31 May 2017
RZBE-NE RZZE—LF
EFA=+—H HA=+—H

HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Total BEt
Trade receivables B 5 MW IE 8,630,466 5,790,537
Deferred listing expenses FEIE A — 4,905,376
Deposits for purchase of equipment BERERS 184,004 233,246
Deposits for equipment rental RELEIES 10,039,066 6,403,402
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 8 318 « 2 & & H fh fE Uk
KIE 1,780,432 694,934
20,633,968 18,027,495
Less: non-current portion B FERNHAEL &
Deposits for purchase of equipment BEELHERS (184,004) (233,246)
Current portion B ER & 5> 20,449,964 17,794,249
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

15 Trade and other receivables, prepayments

and deposits (Continued)

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables mainly include rental
and utility deposits, advance to staff.

The deferred listing expenses were incurred in connection with the
issuance of new shares under the share offer as described in Note
17 and were deducted from equity upon the completion of the
share offer.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the year end date is the
carrying amount of each class of receivables and deposits
mentioned above. The Group does not hold any collateral as
security.

The Group's trade receivables are settled by cash on delivery or
credit period of around 30 to 90 days after provision of services. As
at 31 May 2018 and 2017, an ageing analysis of the trade
receivables based on invoice date is as follows:

4= A B 7%

N

% A ()

15 EFREMEBRRIER - BY

RERZEE @

BNRE REeRAEMERRETE
BREEERCARBES RNETR
e

EREETEREMFE17MERNDEE
TR T BT B 40 A8 B8 3 8 1 2 A AR £
BERUEKREPOR-

REEHERAMNEAREERARAS L
AEFEERWKBARZEHREE - A
%@ﬁﬁﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁﬁ%#ﬁﬁ°

AR BN E P EKHIAE X HH SRR
{8 R 75 % 4930 F 90 X #02 F H3 A LA IR
SHE R-F-NFR-B—LF
EA=+-R ERERASHES
USRI R B D AT 40T

As at As at

31 May 2018 31 May 2017

RZE-—N\F RZZT—LtF

FA=+—8B HEA=+—H

HKS$ HK$

BT 75 TT

0-30 days 0E 30K 2,887,666 1,903,111
31-60 days 312 60K 1,551,000 1,788,646
61-90 days 61290k 3,064,300 FS5782:20
Over 90 days B0k 1,127,500 741,500
8,630,466 5,790,537

As at 31 May 2018 and 2017, trade receivables of HK$1,127,500 0= ¢ E-_ZT—+EFHA

and HK$741,500, respectively, were past due but not impaired.
These relates to a number of independent customers for whom
there is no recent history of default.

The credit quality of trade and other receivables and deposits that
are neither past due nor impaired has been assessed by reference to
historical information about counterparty default rates. The existing
counterparties do not have significant defaults in the past.

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited
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15 Trade and other receivables, prepayments 15 ESRHEMBEBWKRIE: BN
and deposits (Continued) FRERIRE @
The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables approximate o REMERFEBNEREHREAN
their fair values. FEEE -
The carrying amounts of the Group's trade and other receivables, AREBZEFRNEMERRIE - BNR
prepayments and deposits are denominated in the following BRIESHERBENTNIE®EE
currencies:
As at As at
31 May 2018 31 May 2017
R=ZZB-NF RZTE—+F
EA=+—B HA=+—H
HK$ HK$
BT T
RMB AR 1,586,707 1,951,809
HK$ BT 9,007,612 9,672,084
uss$ X 10,039,066 6,403,602
MOP dukd 583 —
20,633,968 18,027,495
16 Cash and bank balances 16 REREBITERS
(a) Short-term bank deposits (@) EHETER
As at As at

31 May 2018 31 May 2017
RZE-—NFE RZZE—tF
EFA=+—H HA=+—8H

HK$ HK$
BT BT
Term deposits with initial terms REEBRE={E A&
of over three months TE HITE 3K 20,700,000 —
Pledged short-term bank deposits (Note 25) 2 4% #48 HA$R 1712 5% (M5 25) 3,009,963 2,994,836
23,709,963 2,994,836
As at 31 May 2018, the weighted average effective interest R—ZE—NER/A=+—H &A&£H
rate of the Group's short-term bank deposits was 1.76% to 50 BASR 17 17 =k 2 N #E $ i’j S
1.90% (2017: 1.90%). NFER176%F1.90% (=T — Lt F:
1.90%) °
Short-term bank deposits were denominated in HK$. EHIR TR IR T E -
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16 WERBITE @
b) RERBEELEEY

16 Cash and bank balances (continued)

(b) Cash and cash equivalents

As at As at

31 May 2018 31 May 2017

RZBE-NF RZ=ZZT—t&F

A=+—-H HA=+—H

HK$ HK$

& T BT

Cash at banks R1THE % 16,454,653 17,008,419
Time deposit with initial terms of REIBA DR =AY

less than three months TEHFEXR 6,682,369 —

23,137,022 17,008,419

Maximum exposure to credit risk EEE M 2 & A& 23,137,022 17,008,419

Cash and cash equivalents were denominated in following

ReRBACEFEYHRATER

currencies: H1E :
As at As at
31 May 2018 31 May 2017
R-ZB-N\F R=F—t#
EFA=+—-8B ®HA=+—H
HK$ HK$
B T BT
HK$ BT 18,682,694 9,605,686
RMB AR 4,298,798 7,402,714
MOP SE P 155,511 —
SGD b0 T 12 12
us$ eI 7 7
23,137,022 17,008,419

Cash at banks earned interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. The Group’s cash and cash equivalents
denominated in RMB were deposited with banks in Hong
Kong and the PRC. The conversion of the RMB-denominated
balances into foreign currencies and the remittance of funds
out of the PRC is subject to the rules and regulations of
foreign exchange control promulgated by the Government of

the People’s Republic of China.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e I HRERNEE(8)

17 Share capital and share premium 17 BREARBRGBEE
Number of  Nominal value
ordinary of ordinary
shares shares
LiBEREE LEREE
HK$
BIT
Authorised: JERE
At 4 November 2016 (date of incorporation) R—ZTE—XR"F+—HAWNA
(sEfR A SZ B 89) 30,000,000 300,000
Increase in authorised shares & TE R% {7 18 hn 2,970,000,000 29,700,000
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each as at RZE—+tFRHA=+—H
31 May 2017, 1 June 2017 and 31 May 2018 CZE—EFERNA—BRK
—E—-N\ERA=+—H
FREELEILZ
&R 3,000,000,000 30,000,000

Number of Nominal value

ordinary of ordinary
shares shares Share premium
ZEREAE ERREE RGEE
HK$ HK$
BIT BT
Issued and fully paid: EBETRHAR:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each at RZT—R"F+—HAW@A
4 November 2016 (date of incorporation) (I BE) R=F
and 31 May 2017 —tFRA=1+—HZ®
AR E{E0.017% T2 EilAk 1 — —
Shares issued pursuant to the RIZE AL EBEITEITRG
Capitalisation Issue (Note 21) (B 3E21) 599,999,999 6,000,000 6,000,000
Shares issued pursuant to the share REMEBBERNEZEESETT
offer upon the Listing (Note (a)) B& 15 (Fff 5% (a)) 200,000,000 2,000,000 58,000,000
Share issuance costs IR 17 3 17 B AR = = (7,503,376)
At 31 May 2018 i ZER =M\ =50 EiS e (5 800,000,000 8,000,000 56,496,624
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A ISR (E)

17 BRAEARRGEE @

(@) Share capital (a) K&

17 Share capital and share premium (Continued)

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 4
November 2016 as a limited liability company with an
authorised share capital of HK$300,000 divided into
30,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each. On the same
date, one ordinary share of HK$0.01 was issued at par to
Next Vision Management Limited (“Next Vision”), the
immediate holding company of the Company.

On 19 May 2017, the authorised share capital of the
Company was changed to HK$30,000,000 by the creation of
an additional 2,970,000,000 shares with a par value of
HK$0.01 each.

On 14 June 2017, the Group capitalised the shareholder’s
loan with an amount of HK$12,000,000 owed by In Technical
Productions Limited (“ITP (HK)”), a subsidiary of the
Company, to Next Vision by issuing 599,999,999 new shares
of the Company, credited as fully paid, to Next Vision (the
“Capitalisation Issue”).

On 14 June 2017, the Company’s shares were listed on GEM
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The Company
issued a total of 200,000,000 shares at a price of HK$0.3 per
share during the new share offer for a total proceeds (before
related fees and expenses) of HK$60,000,000.

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited

RAARIR—_E—AF+—AW@A
RASHEFMKXLIAEERE
£ R A HIEE IR A 4300,000
7 7T+ 9 /30,000,000 % & i& ®
BOOMB T EAK - RER -
—R0.018 T & @RI EE &
77 AR QR H# %I D & Next
Vision Management Limited ([ Next
Vision ) °

i = 58— e sEaat = el [E] ¢ 2N 7
A) Z & TE i% K ¥ 2 430,000,000
& T 0 75k A ¥ 1% 2,970,000,000
B = A% E{E0.01 78 T B D °

S = e aesalE) - [ (5] ¢
K £ & B 38 A Next Vision Z 17
599,999,999 % A BRI % & & 2
RAARHFBEGD BARQF—H
B & A FIn Technical Productions
Limited ([1TP (HK) 1) 45 & Next Vision
212,000,000 7T 2 IR R & 51 &
FTERN(EREIT] -

R-ZE—+FNA+HEB AR
ARONREBHERIMER
AAEIGEM ET e KRR RIE #ETA
+£200,000,000 % % 17 + & (B K
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A ISR (B

17 Share capital and share premium (continued) 17 RARKRGEE @
(b) Share option scheme (b) AR AESHE
The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) ARARERE—TEEREZ([%
which became effective on 19 May 2017. Eligible participants =t 21 ) NZEE—++FH A+ jL
of the Scheme include the Group's directors and employees, HREM - ZiTdlWEEK2H
etc. During the year ended 31 May 2018, no options were EREAEEEEREES - &
granted. EZEZ - N\FRA=+—H1
FE AR A ER D ERER
-
18 Capital reserves 18 BEXRFEE
The Company was incorporated on 4 November 2016 and the AR R —ZE—XRF+—AWmEBE=
group reorganisation in connection with the Listing was completed i AvAE ﬁ BEmzEBELAR_F
on 24 November 2016. The capital reserve as at 31 May 2018 and —RE+—A-+MWHAEEK R _F
2017 primarily represented the aggregate amount of share capital —NEER_FE—ttFRAA=Z+—HH
of the companies now comprising the Group after elimination of BAHETITEEAEHREETNAA
the inter-company investment costs. B AR 7N 42 BB (S ¥9 35 A A 38 & AR
&) -
The movement of capital reserve of the Group during the year B E - —qe = 5 = - — B e 4E
ended 31 May 2017 mainly represented the difference between the B AEBEAFEEEH ETERERE
fair value of the shareholder’s loan and the amount received on 30 ERXRRNALBEEMFF2IFAE T — X
November 2016 as set out in Note 21. F+—HA=+tHFESHENER
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AN

N

A MR oL ()

19 Obligations under finance leases 19 MEHEERE
The future minimum lease payments, after taking into account the RERIZBEREZEBRR  ARKEKHE
repayable on demand clause, are as follows: EMRET :
As at As at
31 May 2018 31 May 2017
RZB-N\F RZZT—+F
EFA=+—-B HZEA=TH
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Gross finance lease liabilities MENEEEETE
No later than one year TER—F 117,250 273,270
Later than one year and no later than five years — £ 14 & TNE R 1 — 326,250
117,250 5819, 520
Future finance charges on finance leases BMEHENARBEER (8,202) (69,295)
Present value of finance lease liabilities BEHEAENRE 109,048 530,225
As at As at
31 May 2018 31 May 2017
R=ZZB-NF RZIZE—tF
FA=+—-H8 HAA=+—H
HK$ HKS$
BT BT
The present value of finance lease liabilities are EEHE B EMIREMN T ¢
as follows:
No later than one year TER—F 109,048 240,225
Later than one year and no later than five years —F1& & NER R F — 290,000
109,048 53082.2.5
These obligations under finance leases are mainly secured by the TR ETHERETERAEEN S

Group’s motor vehicles. The average lease term were 4.5 years and
4 years as at 31 May 2018 and 2017, respectively. Interest rates
were fixed at the contract dates. All leases were on a fixed
repayment basis with no contingent rental payments.

Obligations under finance leases were denominated in HK$.
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e I HRERNEE(8)

20 Other payables and accrued liabilities 20 HttENREREFEE

As at As at
31 May 2018 31 May 2017
R-B-N\F R-FT—+F
AA=+—H HAA=+—H

HK$ HK$
BT AT
Total BET
Payables for equipment S FE N A 8,318,217 17,533,770
Receipts in advance TE U R IB 5,654,688 1,391,483
Payables for professional service fees in respect |- T £ ff5 v 5 % R 7% & FE 1+
of Listing preparation A — 12,017,551
Other accruals and payables Hib et 8 A RERNKIE 6,505,340 5,252,383
20,478,245 36,195,187
Less: non-current portion B JERNEREE o
Payables for equipment % 8 FE SRR (195,000) (8,220,053)
Current portion B ER &6 5 20,283,245 27,975,134
During the year ended 31 May 2017, the Group acquired certain REZ-_E—+tFRA=1+—HIEF
visual display equipment amounted to US$3,000,000 (equivalent to g - 7 % & A 3,000,000 JT (48 & B
HK$23,310,000) and settled a balance of US$1,230,000 (equivalent 23,310,000/ ) B E S TR EBE R
to HK$9,561,569) in cash. During the year ended 31 May 2018, the HfE - W LAIR £ 48 481,230,000
balance of US$890,000 (equivalent to HK$6,889,895) was settled JC (8 & $29,561,5698 L) e REL E —
in cash and the remaining balance of US$880,000 (equivalent to E—NERA=T—BHILEE ' &&
HK$6,858,536) was settled with deposits received from a customer. 890,000 JT (#H & 116,889,895 7T )
During the year ended 31 May 2018, the imputed interest arising IS ER MR | 4 $: 880,000 7T
from the discounting of these aforementioned payables amounted (%8 & 76,858,536 78 7T ) Al LA YL B — &
to HK$993,140 (2017: HK$385,995) as set out in Note 10. BEEHNRESEN -BEE-_ZE—N\FH

A=+—BL&E R Ll EMNR
HES ZHEMNE AH993,1408 T (=
T — 44 :385,995/8 7t) (M 5E10) o
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ire MR MR ()

20 Other payables and accrued liabilities (Continued) 20 Hitt EN R ERE B &

As at 31 May 2018 and 2017, the Group’s ageing analysis of the
payables for equipment based on invoice date is as follows:

()

R-F—NEFR-F—

. SR

=t—H AEBEEREFRAHPHR
BREMNRERERDTAT :

As at As at

31 May 2018 31 May 2017

RZE-—NFE RZT—tHF

HFA=+—-H HA=+—H

HKS$ HK$

BT BT

0-30 days 0E30K — 60,169
31-60 days 31260K — 61,844
61-90 days 61290k — 231,912
Over 90 days HBiBI0K 8,318,217 17,179,845
8,318,217 17,5383, 7710

The carrying amounts of the Group’s payables for equipment were

AEBREBRMNKENREENL TS

denominated in the following currencies: E M
As at As at
31 May 2018 31 May 2017
R-ZB-NF R-FT—tHF
EA=+—-8B EHA=+—H
HK$ HK$
BT BT
RMB AR 4,917,417 4,610,079
HK$ BT — 168,400
uss$ = 3,400,800 12,755,291
8,318,217 17,5813, 770
The carrying amounts of all short-term payables and accrued AT EREENTBELESE {E Hy

liabilities approximated their fair values due to their short maturities.

HIRA - MEREEREAFERS

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited
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(Continued)

shareholder with principal amount of HK$14,650,000. The loan
was unsecured, interest-free and the shareholder confirmed that it
would not demand for repayment within one year from the date of
issuance of the promissory note. On the date of issuance, the
Group credited an amount of HK$763,744 to capital reserve which
represented the difference between the fair value of the
shareholder’s loan and the amount received.

During the years ended 31 May 2018 and 2017, the Group
recognised imputed interest amounting to HK$381,872 and
HK$381,872, respectively, in respect of the aforementioned
shareholder’s loan.

On 14 June 2017, the Group capitalised the shareholder’s loan with
an amount of HK$12,000,000 owed by ITP (HK) to Next Vision by
issuing 599,999,999 new shares of the Company, credited as fully
paid, to Next Vision. The remaining balance of approximately
HK$2,650,000 was repaid in cash during the year ended 31 May
2018.

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018

21 Shareholder’s loan 21 BRRER
As at As at
31 May 2018 31 May 2017
RZB-—N\F RZIZE—LF
AA=+—-H HA=+—H
HK$ HK$
BT AT
Loan from a shareholder RE—BBREHER — 14,268,128
On 30 November 2016, the Group issued a promissory note to its N 25— 7 = s = R s S

@ﬁﬁ%%%ﬁ“ﬁé%ﬁ?’%m&oooo
/muE’J%KRT%F RAEEERR &

HW?%EET@%%H%Rﬁ
ﬁ%a,ﬁﬂﬂﬁ FRERER - RET
B - A5BEREAKEBEEL S
763,744 L BIREE R A FEERE
WHE =% -

RBEEZZTE—NFER=-ZFE—+tFHA
—+—BLEFE AKEEREHL
MR ER 2 HEF B D R A381,872
BT 12 381,872 7T ©

RZZE—tFA+TEHE ARFE
% B [\ Next Vision 2 77599,999,999 i%
ARINAEBGRZARAFRNG &
ITP (HK) & /R Next Vision 2 12,000,000
BITREERBERTER - R TEHD
2,650,000 TRBE_Z— \FH A
Tt RLEFEEURESEE-
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4 A

N

A MR M ot (48

22 Bank borrowings 22 RITER
As at 31 May 2018 and 2017, bank borrowings were repayable as R—_E—NEER_ZF—+tF5HA
follows: =+—H EAEENRITERET :
As at As at
31 May 2018 31 May 2017
R=ZZB-NF RZZE—LtF
EFA=+—-B HZEA=TH
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Bank loans, secured: RITER  GHEMA:
Balances repayable within one year classified as 78 — ¢ NEERIE 285
current liabilities mEAE E‘] 45 4 3,599,566 6,598,390
Balance repayable after one year, with clause B —F1& Eﬁmlﬁ BER
of repayable on demand classified as current  ZBREZEKR 2 EARBE
liabilities (EGEER 7,398,206 12,288,495
10,997,772 18,886,885
The bank loans bore interest ranging from 5.5% to 5.8% per N ERTEFREEZE-_ZE—N\NERA

annum for the year ended 31 May 2018 (2017: 4.0% to 7.0%).

As at 31 May 2018 and 2017, the fair value of current bank
borrowings approximated their carrying amount as the impact of
discounting is not significant.

= = HIEFE 2 F 5 5 Seeises =

58%(—Z—+F :40%=27.0%) °
RZE-—NERZZFE—CFHA
=+—H HRBBENFEFIA B

HBETERNAFEELREENR

Eo

—E2-N\FEH 143
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iR e B IS MR MY R

(4

22 Bank borrowings (Continued) 22 RITER @
As at 31 May 2018 and 2017, the Group’s bank borrowings based R =B =N\E R =2 =% m 5
on the scheduled repayment dates as set out in the loan =+—8B ' AXEEET 1ﬁ KA T
agreements and ignoring the effect of any repayment on demand HRES(REEZX G a S8
clause were repayable as follows: KBAE - AR AR ESKE IR
28

As at As at
31 May 2018 31 May 2017
RZBE—NE RZZ—tF
EFA=+—HB HEA=+—H
HK$ HK$
BT AT
Within 1 year 1FE R 3,599,566 6,598,390
Between 1 and 2 years 1826F 3,807,856 4,606,876
Between 2 and 5 years 2E54 3,590,350 7,681,619
10,997,772 18,886,885

The bank borrowings were denominated in HK$. SRITIE R A TTEHE -
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ire MR MR ()

23 Balances with related parties 23 BEEBAENER
Maximum Maximum
amount amount
outstanding outstanding
during the during the
year ended year ended
31 May 31 May Asat31May Asat31 May
2018 2017 2018 2017
Bz BHE

—E-NE ZT—tF
AA=+—8B BAA=+—H

LEFEW IEFER i A
BS =) —E-N\F 7 — s
KEESHE REEE£E AA=+t—H AA=1+—H
HK$ HK$ HKS$ HK$
BT T BT BT
Amount due B — B EEHIE
from a director — 16,825,692 — —
Amount due from the FEW B 5 A A
immediate holding FKIA
company 300,940 45,440 300,940 45,440
As at 31 May 2017, amount due from a director, Mr. Yeung Ho RZZTE—tFRA=Z+—H BKE
Ting Dennis, was unsecured, interest-free, repayable on demand $ BHEaEbE s FRBAEERE . &
and denominated in HK$. This balance was settled during the year R EREERBUBITEE &
ended 31 May 2017. ﬁ%ﬂﬂ%ét?t_f g | = qF = [E
IFFEHEE -
As at 31 May 2018 and 2017, The amount due from the immediate R NEFEE_=F—tFFHH
holding company was unsecured, interest-free, repayable on == EI e W H B H&/A AIRIE A
demand and denominated in HK$. ERH 2B REREZBAEUAET
R
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ire M HmaR M EE (8

24 Deferred taxation 24 ERERIE
The deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a 17 E K X 0] ok S B 1T B9 RE R 88 Al
legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current HFEEEHAEARIE & G\ HE
tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the A B & R E BT A5 F 0% N [ — B B i 8
same fiscal authority. The net amounts are as follows: B EEHEEERABEBE TLAKE-
SFEIE

As at As at
31 May 2018 31 May 2017
RZBE—NE RZZ—tF
EA=+—-HB ®HA=+—H

HK$ HK$
BT AT
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIEARG
— to be settled after more than twelve months — 8@+ — @ A& & & 6,359,924 4,504,095
— to be settled within twelve months —mRt+t-@AREE 1,783,903 1,727,715
8,143,827 6,231,810
The movement on deferred tax liabilities is as follows: EEREAENEESOT :
Deferred tax liabilities — accelerated tax depreciation BERBEE —INEHERE
Year ended 31 May
BEEA=1+T—HLEE
2018 2017
—E-NE ==
HK$ HK$
BT T
At beginning of the year 4 6,231,810 3,390,686
Charged to profit or loss (Note 11) BBk (BFsE11) 1,912,017 2,841,124
At end of the year F R 8,143,827 6,231,810
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A ISR (E)

24 Deferred taxation (Continued)

25

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried-
forward to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit
through the future taxable profits is probable. As at 31 May 2018,
the Group did not recognise deferred income tax assets of
approximately HK$1,492,587 (2017: HK$853,710) in respect of
accumulated tax losses of the PRC subsidiaries amounting to
approximately HK$5,970,348 (2017: HK$3,414,841) that can be
carried forward against future taxable income. The tax losses of
these PRC subsidiaries will expire within 5 years.

Banking facilities

As at 31 May 2018 and 2017, the Group had total banking facilities
of approximately HK$ 11,798,000 and HK$20,287,000, respectively,
of which approximately HK$10,998,000 and HK$18,887,000 were
utilised. The Group’s banking facilities were secured by the
following:

() Unlimited personal guarantee executed by a director of the
Company, Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis as at 31 May 2017;

(i) The issue of a guarantee relating to the working capital loans
by the government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region to the extent of HK$6,500,000 as at 31 May 2017,

(i) Guarantee given by the Hong Kong Mortgage Corporation
Limited under SME Financing Guarantee Scheme amounted
to HK$3,840,000 as at 31 May 2017,

(iv)  Personal property of a director, Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis as
at 31 May 2017,

(v)  Pledged short-term bank deposits of HK$3,009,963 and
HK$2,994,836 as at 31 May 2018 and 2017; and

(vi)  Corporate guarantee by the Company.

24

25
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IE 3 B 18 (@)

ARG EEMmMERNELTHSH
EE ERRBBAREZRHRINBE
RZERBINRIFEEAENBRTE
o A == \&= 50 B =57 8 7 a8
EBETARPEMBRARZ B2FHE
&5 18 495,970,348 (=& —  F :
34148MB L) RALEE RKE
R A 2 IR E TR A B EE 491,492,587
BIL(ZZF—t 4 8537108 T) ° %
EhENBRARZHEBESRAF
ASNED

RITEME

e = 25— A\ 2 s aRaley - 25 35 B
=+ B - A&EBHRELERT
g & #911,798,0007 7T 520,287,000
B o H B 410,998,000 T &
18,887,000/ L E E B FH - AN & B IR
TRMEMRNTSEER:

) ARAEFEHEERER-F
—tFRAA=T—BRUNER
AR

iy BEFNTHEREEAREEES
ERFEHNER RZT—+F
H A =-+—H LR %6,500,000%
IE ©

(i) BAEBEFERIFRIEF N
B ERTERENER
R-_ZTE—+HERA=+—HE&HE
/%3,840,0005%8 T :

vy R=—ZT—+tFRA=+—"H =&
BBEEEENBANE

vy RZE—NEFR-_ZFT—LtFAHA
=+—H BEEBEHRITIFTXK
#$3,009,963%8 JT } 2,994,836
JL K

(vi) ARBZRBHER-
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Banking facilities (Continued)

On 14 June 2017, after the repayment of certain outstanding
borrowings, all securities and guarantees provided by Mr. Yeung Ho
Ting Dennis on the Group’s remaining borrowings were released
and replaced by corporate guarantees of the Company. Guarantee
relating to working capital loans by government of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region and under SME Financing Guarantee
Scheme (Note (i) and (iii)) were released before the Listing.

Subsidiaries
Particulars of the subsidiaries held by the Group for each of the

years ended 31 May 2018 and 2017 are as follows:

Particulars of

idated Financial Statements (Continued)

25 RITEE @)

R-F—tFANATHBE BEEER
ETREEBRR HBEELEEHN
SEFSRERRENTEZESF RER
BRI HAARANARERRA -
FEERMNITHRERRFMFNEXRRE
ERE (MEMRG)HEEESE
RERD R ETATERER

26 B2 H
AEERBE_FT-N\FER-_FT—+
FRAA=+—ALFEEFHAQH
BEARAMEBEQNT :

issued and Percentage of

Place and date of paid up equity held as at
Name incorporation capital 31 May Principal activities

AR L it B R ERITRH REA=+—H
£ =Rt RRAEFE FEERE DL TEEH

2018 2017
—E-N\FE —T—LF
Directly held
HEERF
In Technical Productions (B.V.I1.) The BVI, us$100 100% 100%  Investment holding in
Limited (“ITP (BVI)") 9 November 2016 Hong Kong
In Technical Productions (B.V.l.) RBREZHE - 1003 7T REBREZER
Limited ([1TP (BVI)) —E-RET-ANA

Indirectly held
BEREE
ITP (HK) Hong Kong, HK$10,000 100% 100% Provision of video display

10 March 2009 solution services for concerts

and events in Hong Kong,
Macau, the PRC and Taiwan

ITP (HK) BE 10,0007 7T REE R HERREDN

—ERNF=ATH ERE RS BRERGE
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ire s maR M (B

26 Subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of

26 [t 2 7 @)

issued and Percentage of
Place and date of paid up equity held as at
Name incorporation capital 31 May Principal activities
SR L it B % BRTRH REA=+—H
£ B BERAFE FERERE DL TEEH
2018 2017
—E-N\F —tF
Shiji Tiansheng Cultural The PRC, RMB3,500,000 100% 100%  Provision of video display
Communication (Shenzhen) 4 July 2012 solution services for concerts
Limited* (42 KRB XL (B and events in the PRC
BEORINBRAR)
R REXEBREORINE RE - AR RPBEREES KR M
NG “T—_%+AMA  3,500,0007T RGBT R R IR
Shanghai Yingtegao Stage The PRC, RMB 1,000,000 100% 100% Provision of stage design and
Arts Limited* (E/85 S 14 October 2014 equipment installation services
BREMBRATF) in the PRC
FBEREEAEN HE - AR TEFR B R 52 & R At Rk
BRAA “Z-WE+A+EAE  1,000,0007T 25 R
Shenzhen Shiji Tiansheng The PRC, RMB500,000 70% 70% Import and export and wholesale
Technology Limited* 11 July 2013 of video equipment and parts
(RYIm L RERR and related support services in
BRAT) the PRC
RYIT 42 R AR R - AR TEFR B O R ORI R
BRAT —E—=F+A+—H 5000007 B T B 1 A R AR B
R IR 75
InTechPro Macau Limited Macau, MOP500,000 100% — Provision of video display
(HEERM—ABRAE]) 27 November 2017 solution services for concerts
and events in Macau
RESERMA—ABRAR R SR P ARPFEERE REB IR
—E—+F+—8 500,0007T BEETBRRT RIR
—++A
2 The English names of certain subsidiaries referred to above represent the best

effort by management of the Company in translating their Chinese names as
they do not have official English names.
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idated Financial Statements (Continued)

Note to the consolidated statement of cash 27 GREBRERERKRHE
flows
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from cash flows from financing BREEHAEREREELA ZBEY
activities: BRNE
Obligations
under
Shareholder’s finance
Loan leases Borrowings
mERE
iy ﬁ E TA 7 F {ﬁ TFA
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT 7T 7T
At 1 June 2017 R-ZZE—+FA—H 14,268,128 530,225 18,886,885
Cash flow REmE
— Repayment of bank borrowings —(EBERITER — —  (7,889,113)
— Repayment of capital element of —EEREMEEAT D
the finance leases — (486,457) —
— Repayment of a shareholder’s loan —EBERREER (2,650,000) — —
Other non-cash movements HEMIERSEH
— Imputed interest of shareholder’s —RERNERIRRE K
loan incurred before capitalisation EEZHERE
(Note 10 & 21) (MsE10%21) 381,872 — —
— Capitalisation of shareholder’s —REREREANL
loan (Note 21) (M3E21) (12,000,000) — —
— Inception of finance leases — AV EmEMEE — 65,280 —
At 31 May 2018 R=ZZ—-NFAA
=+—H — 109,048 10,997,772
Commitments 28 R
(a) Capital commitments (a) BEAREIE
Capital expenditure contracted for but not yet incurred as at N ZE—NEER-_FT—+FHA

31 May 2018 and 2017 were as follows:

=+—BHEFHNERKELENE
AT

As at As at

31 May 2018 31 May 2017

RZE-N\F RZZE—LHF

HEA=+—RA =i H

HK$ HK$

BT & TT

Property, plant and equipment ME - BE RKRE 1,074,004 255, 521
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

28 Commitments (Continued)

(b) Operating lease commitments — Group as
lessee

As at 31 May 2018 and 2017, the Group had total future
aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases in respect of office premises as follows:

ire MR MR ()

28 & IE @)
(b) ReHERE—LEEHA
AFE A
RIE—NER-E—+FHA

=t—B AEESHXABOT
iR A E AR A BUEE R A

%ﬂ% BETARZRERS HAE
As at As at
31 May 2018 31 May 2017
R=ZZB-NF RZIZE—+tF
BA=+—H HAH=+—H
HK$ HK$
BT BT
No later than one year TER—F 2,180,420 1,802,514
Later than one year and no later than five ~— —FE R TNERASF
years 2,690,456 1,312,285
4,870,876 3,114,799
As at 31 May 2018 and 2017, the Group had total future R—FE—_NER_ZT—+tEFFHAH
aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable =+ —H AXEEREEBAREBRT
operating leases in respect of visual display equipment as AT RIS A LA
follows: RREEHEERBAT :
As at As at
31 May 2018 31 May 2017
R=ZZB-NE RIT—+LF
EA=+—-8B HA=+—H
HK$ HK$
BT & TT
No later than one year THB—F 1,874,707 245,700
Later than one year and no later BE—FETEBBERSF
than five years 246,464 -
2,121,171 245,700
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A ISR (B

29 Related party transactions 29 BBARS
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, NM— e E s REEEds R —F
directly or indirectly, to control the other party, has joint control HEEHE S-SR EETBREE
over the party or exercises significant influence over the other party ;}& SHEINE A Z g 5 R AEB
in making financial and operation decisions. Parties are also BtofNERHRES  MEAEEH
considered to be related if they are subject to common control. B o
The ultimate controlling individual of the companies now BHE_—_ZEZ—NEr_Z—+EFRHA
comprising the Group is Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis for the years =+—BItEE ztx%@iﬁb BEETA
ended 31 May 2018 and 2017. B RIS A BB EE S A
(a) Key management compensation @) TEEZEASHH
Key management includes directors and other key TEEEBAEBREAEENES
management of the Group. The compensation paid or REMEEZEEEAE - BEER
payable to key management for employee services is shown BmENSENETEERE AR
below: 5 R0 T ¢

Year ended 31 May
BEIAZ=t-HLEE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tF
HK$ HK$
B 7T BT
Salaries, other allowances and benefits e EaEakRER 5,252,328 3,007,105
Contributions to defined contribution plans 8 & & £ 2 5+ 2] 4 2% 203,555 183,866
5,455,883 3,190,971
(b) Transactions (b) X5

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial B4 A B 7S Rk H At b 5 BT I
statements, during the year ended 31 May 2018, the BEN REBE-_ZE—NERA
following transactions was carried out with a related party at =+Fr—HIEEE : T3z 3 58
terms mutually agreed by both parties: BE AT ERBEZIE

T -

Year ended 31 May
BEIA=+—HLEE

2018 2017
—E-N\EF —E—+t%F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Purchase of fixed asset from RGEEEAESE
Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis BE&E 972,215 —
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

30 Financial instruments by categories

ire s maR M (B

30 REAEASTHEMTA

Loans and receivables

BERRERRIE
HK$
BT
Assets as per consolidated statement BEMBRRERFINEE
of financial position
As at 31 May 2018 R-—ZB-N\FHAA=+-8H
Trade receivables & 5 e W KIE 8,630,466
Deposits and other receivables Ze K& H fih fE Y FRIB 11,424,544
Cash and bank balances ] RIRITHEER 46,846,985
Total et 66,901,995
As at 31 May 2017 RZE—+FRA=+—8H
Trade receivables B 5 WA 5,790,537
Deposits and other receivables & Kk H bW GRIA 6,905,098
Cash and bank balances e RIRITAER 20,003,255
Total #Et 32,698,890
Other financial liabilities
at amortised cost
REHE A 2
Hih A E
HK$
BT
Liabilities as per consolidated statement SE&HBMRARFAIER
of financial position
As at 31 May 2018 RZ2-—N\FHA=+—8H
Bank borrowings RITIE R 10,997,772
Other payables H h J& 1~ ;B 13,641,574
Obligations under finance leases BEMREAE 109,048
Total BEt 24,748,394
As at 31 May 2017 RZE—+FERHRA=+—H
Bank borrowings H|ITIE R 18,886,885
Other payables H b fE A~ A 34,803,704
Obligations under finance leases e E A E 530,225
Shareholder’s loan f% R E R 14,268,128
Total @t 68,488,942
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(Continued)

ire s R T AT ()

31 Contingencies 31 HRAE
The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31 May 2018 R = s =\ ER R SRy — e = 5 D
and 2017. =t—B AEEYEERLAEE-
32 Dividend 32 RE

ARARBE-B-N\FR-B—tF
AAZ+-BUEFEYBIMRER

% B o

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company during the
years ended 31 May 2018 and 2017.

33 Statement of financial position of the 33 &2 ABMBEMRRT
Company
As at As at
31 May 2018 31 May 2017
R=ZZB-—NF RZZTE—tF
EFA=+—-H HA=+—H
Note HK$ HK$
Bt 5 BT BT
ASSETS BE
Non-current asset ERBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—HEHEARIKRE 44,709,149 32,709,149
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments and other receivables A A~ R I8 K H At g U
HIB (a) 433,404 4,905,376
Amount due from a subsidiary JE W Bt /BB A R RIE 11,159,385 =
Amount due from the immediate holding FE U B B AR A Al 3 IE
company —_ 45,440
Term deposits with initial terms of over FREIEA A @ =& A &
three months FHEXR 20,700,000 —
Cash and cash equivalents HERREZEEY 250,713 —
32,543,502 4,950,816
Total assets BEE 77,252,651 37,659,965
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ire MR MR ()

33 Statement of financial position of the 33 AR BKEAARR T @
Company (Continued)
As at As at
31 May 2018 31 May 2017
RZZE—-NE RZZ—LtF
EFA=+—HB HEA=+—H
Note HK$ HK$
Bt 5 BT BT
EQUITY xR
Share capital % 2 17 8,000,000 —
Share premium R% 15 @ & 17 56,496,624 —
Reserves i (b) 12,595,527 14,967,090
Total equity 4R 25 77,092,151 14,967,090
LIABILITIES =R
Current liabilities REAE
Amount due to a subsidiary e — R B AR RIE — 10,668,984
Other payables and accruals H{th J& < 0IE K e qu
=] 160,500 12,023,891
Total liabilities e E 160,500 22,692,875
Total equity and liabilities EEREEARH 77,252,651 37,659,965
The statement of financial position of the Company was approved KRB BEMRILIEZRBEEETEEaN =
by the Board of Director on 22 August 2018 and were signed on its — == I\ JE = Se = B i 0 i e 5
behalf. £
Yeung Ho Ting Dennis Law Wang Chak Waltery
BEE ELE
Director Director
EFE EF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ire M HmaR M EE (8

33 Statement of financial position of the
Company (Continued)

33 XA FBBERRER @

(@) Prepayments and other receivables as at 31 May 2017 (a) —t+tERAB=+—HMEN
represented mainly the deferred listing expenses amounting TEEHEMENRBETERIEL
to HK$4,905,376 which were deducted from equity upon the B2 4,905,37678 7T © % KA
completion of the share offer as described in Note 17. 2 B FE 17 B 9 B 19 35 & SE AR

‘AR T IR -
(b) Movement of reserves (b) REEH
Capital Accumulated
reserve losses Total
BEXFEE R ER mEt
HK$ HK$ HK$
& T & TT T
As at 4 November 2016 (date of 7 =& — /X4
incorporation) +—AmMA (GEfH
B HR) = = 5=
Loss for the period A 1B = (17,742,051) (17,742,051)
Investment in ITP (BVI) pursuant A% iR 1E
to the group reorganisation in £ E HHEBEER
connection with the Listing ITP (BVI) 32,709,141 — 32,709,141
As at 31 May 2017 RZTB—+%F
hAA=+—H 32,709,141 (17,742,051) 14,967,090
Loss for the year FAEE = (2,371,563) (2,371,563)
As at 31 May 2018 R=ZF—NF
FA=+—H 32,709,141 (20,113,614) 12,595,527
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Contlnue )

34 Benefits and interests of directors

(a) Directors’ emoluments

re M mR N

3 EEREARES
() E=HM

The emoluments of the directors of the Company paid/
payable by the Group during the years ended 31 May 2018
and 2017 are set out below:

of (48

AEBHE_ZT—N\FR=
—=-dr4=5 B Ear— E|JJ:$J;§
N/ BN ARRAREZHMNE

AT
Year ended 31 May 2018 BE—_E—_N\EZA=+—AH1
ERE
Salaries,
other Defined
allowances contribution
and Discretionary pension
Fee benefits bonuses costs Total
-
Hfth 2 /L RAEMR
ue E@EA BB BEELEH ot
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
Name a3 BT BT BT BT BT
Executive directors: #1TESE :
Mr. Yeung Ho Ting 150 3 e A
Dennis (Chief (7T #E %)
Executive Officer) — 1,399,920 — 18,000 1,417,920
Mr. Tam Chun Yu BEFLEE
(Note i) (M E D) — 573,000 409,996 18,000 1,000,996
Non-executive EHITES:
director:
Mr. Law Wang Chak 28 28 % &
Waltery (Note i) (FF=ED 180,000 — — — 180,000
Independent non- B FEH T
executive =
directors:
Mr. Li Kai Sing TR E
(Note ii) (B 5 ii) 173,500 — — — 173,500
Mr. Ma Tsz Chun BR&TE
(Note ii) (Mt Eii) 173,500 — — — 173,500
Ms. Loh Lai Ping, ERY LT
Phillis (Note ii) (B =E i) 173,500 — — — 173,500
700,500 1,972,920 409,996 36,000 3,119,416
Notes: Bt 3% -
(i) These directors have been appointed on 10 November 2016. (i) SEEEEN_—_T—NE+— A+
BERT-
(ii) These directors have been appointed on 19 May 2017. (i pEEEEN—T—tERA+N
BERE-
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(Continued)

ire s R T AT ()

34 Benefits and interests of directors (Continued) 3 EETARERS @

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (a) ESHM @)
Year ended 31 May 2017 BE-_ZE—t&ERA=1+—AHL
FE
Salaries,
other Defined
allowances contribution
and  Discretionary pension
Fee benefits bonuses costs Total
e
Hofh AL FE R
we 48 F ML EEX2EH BET
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
Name %% BT BT BT BT BT

Executive directors: #H{TEZE :
Mr. Yeung Ho Ting #5356 4

Dennis (Chief (7T A8 %)

Executive Officer) — 1,000,000 — 18,000 1,018,000
Mr. Tam Chun Yu BEEFTEAL

(Note i) GED — 378,600 = 9,000 387,600
Non-executive FEHITES:

director:
Mr. Law Wang Chak 2 7 2 % &

Waltery (Note i) (B 7DD 67,000 = =) TV 67,000

Independent non- 38 3 E#H 1T

executive EFE:
directors:
Mr. Li Kai Sing FRURSE A
(Note ii) igzan) x = =3 B 5.
Mr. Ma Tsz Chun BRE&TE
(Note ii) (Bt =) = = - 8 e
Ms. Loh Lai Ping, ERYL L
Phillis (Note ii) (Bt i) v — 5 5 o
67,000 1,378,600 — 27,000 1,472,600
Notes: it sT -
(i) These directors have been appointed on 10 November 2016. (i) ZEEEER-_ZTE—XRE+—A+t+
HEEZE-
(ii) These directors have been appointed on 19 May 2017. (ii) ZEEEER-_ZE—+tFERA+AN
HEEZE-
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34 Benefits and interests of directors (Continued)

(b)

(9]

(d)

(e)

()

(9)

Directors’ retirement benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any retirement
benefits during the year (2017: Nil).

Directors’ termination benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any termination
benefits during the year (2017: Nil).

Directors’ waived emoluments

None of the directors waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments during the year (2017: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

During the year, the Company did not pay consideration to
any third parties for making available directors’ services (2017:
Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and
other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and connected
entities with such directors

There are no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour
of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and connected
entities with such directors during the year (2017: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Company’s business to which the Company
was a party and in which a director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year (2017: Nil).

4= A

N

B % R B w ()

3 EETARERS @

(b)

(9]

(d)

(e)

(f)

(9)

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited

EERKER
FABEE SRS R RBEM
BAREN(ZF—LF:8)-
ESRLEER
FAMEEFE WD A KRB EM
RIEBN(ZT—LF:8)-
EEREME

FALBEEHELARBENEE
AME(—F—tF:8)-

RERHESRBEMAE T
B=Hz2RE

RER ARABHMEAEEZR
BREFRME=TXHRE(ZF
gL e

BFRAULES ZEESEZ
“Fﬂ%l&ﬁ@%%%
EHACER EEREK
HitbX 5 2 &R

FAMEEEUNES RSES
ZEERHLERBEERAR
mAZER EEFRREMR S
(ZE—tEF:EFE)-

7

EERNRE REHEN
FHHEKXRZ

RERKENEMER AR 7
YESLEANREEAESEE
MEEARZMBEBAARZE
BZEARS RHREHNEE
ZE—tEF:E)o
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Financial Summary

MBERE

Result E4

For the year ended 31 May
BETA=+—BLFE

2015 2016 2017 2018
—hHE —EB—FRFE —ZE—L+F ZZE-N\EF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FAET FET
Revenue I 2= 26,822 40,805 66,820 83,607
Cost of services AR 7% i A5 (16,381) (22,842) (32,908) (41,463)
Gross profit EF 10,441 17,963 33,912 42,144
Profit/(loss) for the year FPER(EE) 1,093 6,928 (663) 17,928
Assets and Liabilities EERERE
As at 31 May
REA=+—H
2015 2016 2017 2018
ZE—RF ZE—XRFE ZZE—+tF ZE-N\HF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT FAT FET
Non-current assets ERBEE 36,429 40,562 64,941 82,002
Current assets MENAE 17,601 15,857 37,843 67,598
Non-current liabilities EREBAE 2,702 3,801 29,010 8,339
Current liabilities mEBAaE 33,907 28,195 49,161 34,115
Net current (liabilities)/assets E(BE)BE
HEE (16,306) (12,338) (11,318) 33,483
Net assets BEFE 17,421 24,423 24,613 107,146

The summary above does not form part of the audited consolidated i E SR ECERGEALEEAEBERLZ
financial statements. — =S .

No financial statements of the Group for the years ended 31 May 2014  E_ZE—NERA=+—HILEE &
has been published. NSRS o

The financial information for the years ended 31 May 2015 and 2016 #HE - ZT—FFER T —FHA=+—
were extracted from the Prospectus of the Company dated 31 May 2017. g |+ 4F r; ZHBEER A AN T B E
Such summary was prepared as if the current structure of the Grouphad A-—ZT —+&ER A=+ —8 7 B =L -
been in existence throughout these financial years and is presented on /fF&IZ £ B RRAEE B ITEEAE
the basis as set out in note 2 to the audited consolidated financial (2% ZBHEEHEFLE  TRERKEZLE

statements. & BTSRRI 5E 2 BT 8 2 LA B 3R -
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